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Message from the Board Chair

Randy Grimsrud, Chair
On behalf of the 
Board of Directors

In 2011, we continued to grow with Saskatchewan. That 
meant investing in and enhancing our delivery channels 
and services. It was a busy year for the leadership team and 

the employees at Conexus Credit Union as they embarked on a 
journey to expand our branch network opening a second branch 
in Saskatoon in 2012. A restructure to our investment services 
and the creation of Conexus Wealth Management have proven 
successful and we have seen this area of our business grow and 
expand. 

We also took the opportunity to sell the real estate arm of our 
business. With the needs of Saskatchewan growing along with the 
needs of our members, it was time to take action to build for the 
future. The sale of the real estate business line provided Conexus 
with the opportunity to focus on our core business in order to 
better meet our members’ expanding financial needs.

Serving our members well has always meant serving their 
communities and sharing our success. It remains a priority to 
share our time and resources. Throughout 2011, we continued to 
build communities through our Community Investment Program 
supporting initiatives like Junior Achievement in Saskatoon, 
Habitat for Humanity in Regina, Mosaic Place in Moose Jaw 
and so many other initiatives in our communities throughout 
the province. In addition, our employees volunteered their time 

to serve and support our communities. Through our Member 
Equity Program we are pleased to share our success and allocate 
a patronage return of $2.74 million, for a total of $38.37 million 
since 2003. 

In October, the board welcomed Eric Dillon as our new CEO. With 
an extensive career in the credit union and co-operative system, 
Eric is a great fit. While he is firmly grounded in the co-operative 
values that are so important at Conexus Credit Union, he also 
brings a fresh new perspective to carry us into the future. 

2012 is our 75th anniversary year and the International Year of Co-
operatives. As we look to the future, we are especially inspired to 
build on our success in 2011 and look forward to working for and 
with our members as we continue our journey to build our credit 
union and our province.

Serving our members well 
has always  meant serving 
our communities and 

sharing with their success.
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Message from the CEO

In October of 2011, I joined Conexus Credit Union as the 
chief executive officer. It was a defining moment in my more 
than 20 year career within the credit union and co-operative 

systems. I was honoured to join a team that is so focused 
on building a credit union for our members and for future 
generations of members. 

Some would say that success can be defined strictly in terms of 
financial strength. At Conexus Credit Union it is so much more 
than that. We are most successful when we make a difference 
in the lives of our members and the communities that we serve. 
Throughout 2011, our commitment and focus on serving our 
members and communities helped us achieve some notable 
milestones.

From La Ronge in the north to Coronach in the south, and all our 
communities in between, we are a significant local presence. Our 
employees contributed more than 33,500 hours of their own time 
to support community initiatives where they live, work and play. 
Through our Community Investment Program we continued to 
build communities throughout the province by donating more 
than $2.0 million to local initiatives. 

With our eye on expanding service to our members in Saskatoon, 
we announced the addition of the 8th and Preston Branch. 
Enhancements to Online Banking and the addition of mobile 
mortgage specialists in Regina and coming soon to Saskatoon, 

were all about providing more convenience and more access for 
our members.

Our employees are amazing and, this past June, it was great to 
find out that they believe the same thing about Conexus Credit 
Union. Based on an annual employee survey, Conexus Credit 
Union was named one of the 50 Best Employers in Canada for 
the seventh year in a row. Having an engaged team of expert 
financial advisors allows us to continually deliver trust based 
advice which is focused on relationships with our members.  

Looking ahead, it’s a special year at Conexus Credit Union. 2012 
commemorates our 75th anniversary and the International Year 
of Co-operatives. As we proudly celebrate our past, we also look 
to the future as we continue to build Conexus Credit Union for 
you and the next generation of credit union members.

Thank you for your support of Conexus Credit Union 
throughout 2011. We look forward to continuing to serve you in 
2012 and beyond.

Eric Dillon 
Chief Executive Officer
Conexus Credit Union

We proudly 
celebrate our 
past and look to 

the future as we continue 
to build Conexus Credit 
Union for you and the 
next generation of credit 
union members.
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Conexus Executive Team
(as at December 31, 2011)

Jacques DeCorby
Executive Vice - 
President, Marketing &
Communications - 
Interim

Delia Ermel
Executive Vice - 
President, Human 
Resources - Interim

Chad Boyko
Executive Vice - 
President, 
Governance/ERM

Darren Stoppler
Chief Operating 
Officer

Ken Shaw
Chief Financial 
Officer

Eric Dillon
Chief Executive 
Officer



 6     Annual Report  •  2011

Who We Are
 
We are a full service financial institution - offering clients a complete range of financial solutions including credit union banking ser-
vices, financial and estate planning and investments. Through our subsidiaries – CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd. and Conexus 
Insurance Ltd., we can also provide mortgage brokerage services as well as personal and general insurance.

Conexus Credit Union
Conexus Credit Union is Canada’s sixth largest and Saskatchewan’s largest credit union. We offer 
personalized banking services for individuals, businesses and agriculture. Our staff are located at 47 
branches across the province for your convenience. Our CU Dealer Finance Corp. also offers financing 
for vehicle and leisure craft purchases. 

Service Options
As your life changes and evolves, so do your banking needs. At Conexus Credit Union, our members 
enjoy access to their accounts through a variety of delivery channels. If you don’t have time to visit one 
of our branches, Online Banking provides you access to your accounts any day at any time wherever 
you have secure computer access. Mobile Banking and Text Banking allow you access to your account 
by using your smart phone or mobile phone. We also offer telephone banking through our Voice 
Response service by calling 1-800-567-0101. There is also the option of conducting your transactions by 
phone and talking to someone you trust right here in Saskatchewan with our TeleService relationship 
managers. They’re ready to serve you through extended hours Monday to Saturday at 1-800-667-7477.  
In addition, our ATM network is available around the world.

Conexus Wealth Management
Your financial dreams are important. Whether you’re looking to save for retirement, your child’s 
education, or paying off your mortgage, Conexus Credit Union can help you attain those dreams. In 
2011, our wealth management team continued to offer expert advice in the areas of investments, estate 
planning, retirement saving, education planning and business succession. Their goal is to make your 
money work harder for you.

CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd.
Finding the right mortgage can be stressful and time-consuming. CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct 
Ltd. has a team of mortgage professionals at five locations in Saskatchewan to help make the dream 
of owning your own home become a reality. CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd. is committed to 
finding the best available financing.  

Conexus Insurance Ltd.
Conexus Insurance Ltd. will help ensure you have the right coverage to suit your needs. Serving 
you from seven locations across the province, Conexus Insurance can help you with home, vehicle, 
agriculture or commercial policies. For your convenience, Conexus Insurance also offers SGI online 
services. 

Conexus Credit Union has reason to celebrate in 2012. The year marks 
our 75th anniversary and it has also been declared International Year 
of Co-operatives.
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Measuring Our Performance
At Conexus Credit Union we use a balanced scorecard to measure corporate performance. It’s like a report card that tracks our success 
in four strategic perspectives: member, customer and community value; internal and operational effectiveness; employee and employer 
of choice; and financially strong. The balanced scorecard monitors our progress toward achieving our goals.

The balanced scorecard also ensures that our business practices align with the strategy outlined in our corporate plan. It provides the 
framework to put our business strategy into action.  

The balanced scorecard is shared with employees who all have a stake in delivering the strategy.  The following table gives an overview 
of our 2011 report card including the strategic objectives outlined by the board and executive and performance results gathered at the 
conclusion of the year.

* Credit union only 

The 2011 balanced scorecard performance measures show strong results in several areas. Areas where we met or exceeded our targets 
were: provider of choice, volunteer hours, positive image results, efficiency and productivity, employee turnover, average absenteeism 
hours, training and development credit hours and employee engagement. Through solid financial performance in 2011, we achieved 
the target for assets under management and exceeded the target for the liquidity measure. The results for return on assets before 
allocations and risk weighted capital adequacy were below target. Though these targets were not achieved, the overall financial 
performance for the organization was strong. Improvements in these areas are expected in 2012. We were slightly under target for 
service satisfaction. The 2012 corporate plan includes a number of initiatives related to this strategic perspective.

Performance MeasuresStrategic Objectives

Employee 
and 
Employer of 
Choice

Financially 
Strong

Member, 
Customer 
and 
Community 
Value

Internal and 
Operational 
Effectiveness

Provide service excellence

Participate in community

Exhibit social responsibility

Employ a highly motivated, engaged  
workforce focused on member service

Actual Target

Provider of choice survey results 86% 85%

Service satisfaction survey results 84% 85%

Volunteer hours 33,531 hrs 30,000 hrs

Positive image survey results 90% 85%

Actual Target

Efficiency ratio* 66.83% 71.10%

Productivity ratio* $8.63 M $8.56 M

Actual Target

Employee turnover 7.01% 9.00%

Average absenteeism 28.78 hrs 35 hrs

Development hours 32,854 hrs 30,000 hrs

Employee engagement score 82% 75%

Actual Target

Assets under management $4.14 B $4.14 B

Return on assets before allocations 0.62% 0.97%

Risk weighted capital adequacy 11.14% 11.34%

Level 2 liquidity 239% 150%

Achieve greater efficiencies

Demonstrate sound corporate   
governance

Prudently manage growth 

Achieve earnings equal to or better  
than budget

Build capital to support operations,  
enterprise risks and growth

Manage liquidity
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Member Service
By honouring the Conexus values and incorporating 
them into how they perform their jobs, employees 
translate the mission and vision into the day-to-day 

operations at Conexus. 

What This Means To Us
Service 

Excellence
Provincial 

Credit Union
Increased 

Wallet 
Share

Employer 
of Choice

System 
Leader

Brand 
Recognition

Financially 
Stronger

Vision Statement
To be the financial services provider of choice in 
Saskatchewan - trusted, respected and financially 

strong.

Board Direction

Mission

Meet the needs of Members

Values

Honesty 

Trust

Respect

Ethical Conduct 

Accountability 

Integrity 

Empowerment 

Inclusiveness

Professionalism

Our
Principles
Conexus is a 
co-operative 
organization and 
as such subscribes 
to the Co-operative 
Principles of: 

• Voluntary and  
 open membership
• Democratic   
 member control
• Member   
 economic 
 participation
• Autonomy and 
 independence
• Education, training  
 and information 
• Co-operation  
 among  
 co-operatives
• Concern for  
 community
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Strategic Overview 
Planning for the Future 

As they do each year, the board of directors and executive management conducted planning sessions in 2011 to establish the strategic 
direction of Conexus. Strategic intelligence was gathered and presented from both internal and external perspectives. Key risks were 
reviewed and emerging risks identified. 

As a result of the planning sessions, the board confirmed its commitment to service excellence and meeting the needs of members. A 
new vision statement was created to capture and illustrate this commitment (see page 8).

The board has assigned several key initiatives to guide the management team in delivery of the strategic plans for Conexus. 

Service Excellence

Service excellence continues to be our number one priority. We want to ask, listen and ensure that our members have the best service 
experience we can provide. The following initiatives will help us to be more proactive and responsive to our members.

Develop Service Delivery Plan 
In order to become the service provider of choice, we will continue to review our service channels and develop a plan to support our 
long-term vision.
 
Card Products
In 2011, Conexus Credit Union participated in national and prairie initiatives to review the service and approach used within the credit 
union system for credit card and debit card products and services. Recommendations have been made and implementation will begin 
in 2012.

Member Equity Review
The Member Equity Program is a component of our service excellence. This initiative will assess the value proposition of the Member 
Equity Program in the context of member perception and value along with capital qualification.

Segment/Product Review
The goal of this initiative is to ensure that Conexus Credit Union is in the position to provide innovative products and delivery channel 
solutions soon after implementation of new technology. It will employ a market-driven approach to define and prioritize distribution 
strategies for each.

Employer of Choice 

People are important at Conexus. We strive to be an employer of choice and to provide challenges and opportunities that make this 
much more than just a place to work. We want to ensure that we have a long-term approach to attracting, retaining and developing 
talent.

Workforce Planning Model 
We will conduct strategic workforce planning to ensure that the organization has a holistic approach to attracting, retaining and 
developing talent and that supports Conexus being an employer of choice. The workforce planning process analyzes the supply 
and demand of talent. It helps organizations understand the current state and forecasted gaps of talent and complements the talent 
management plan.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Katherine and family, Conexus House recipients

Everyone deserves a decent place to live. At Conexus Credit Union, we are proud to partner with Habitat for 
Humanity Regina to make the dream of homeownership come true for hard-working, low income families. 
Through a $100,000 donation, Conexus is building the Conexus House for a Regina family and contributing to the 
revitalization of our communities. 

10    Corporate Social Responsibility  •  Annual Report  •  2011
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Corporate Social Responsibility 
 
Conexus Credit Union contributes to the well-being of the communities it serves in addition to playing an important financial and 
economic role in our province. The significance of corporate social responsibility (CSR) continues to grow and companies are putting 
increased emphasis on people and the planet, instead of focusing solely on profit. 

Our CSR vision and six pillars continue to govern our commitment to build communities. The six pillars include: Customer Experience; 
Standards of Business Conduct; Employer of Choice; Community Investment; Value in Membership and Environmental Management. 
These six pillars, and all related activities, are reflective of our co-operative principles and the values of Conexus Credit Union.
 
Our Vision for Corporate Social Responsibility 
 
Through our commitment to CSR, Conexus Credit Union will act with integrity to improve the quality of life of our employees, 
members and the communities we serve. We will be competitive with our products and services, striving to be the financial services 
provider of choice. We will take the steps necessary to have a positive impact on our communities and the environment consistent with 
our corporate values.

CSR Pillar #1: Customer Experience 

We strive to continually improve our members’ service experience and invest in initiatives to enhance service delivery. We welcome and listen 
carefully to member feedback.

Build with Conexus
Whether you want to Build Your Community or Build Your Dreams, Conexus Credit Union can 
help. We do it every day and it is an integral part of our brand.

The Conexus brand is highly recognized in the communities we serve because of our ongoing 
commitment to help build communities. It encourages our employees to be proactive in building members’ dreams, futures and wealth. 
Our members associate the brand with high quality products, services and exceptional employees, and it serves as an inspiration to our 
membership, who continually do their part to build Saskatchewan.

Product and Service Enhancements
At Conexus Credit Union, we are always looking for ways to enhance our product offerings and service delivery so that we can evolve 
with the growing needs of our membership.

In 2011, some notable enhancements were introduced to help improve our members’ experience and access to services:
•  Online Forms – With our new online forms, you can feel secure while applying for our products online, in the comfort of your own   
 home. The form is easy to fill out and turnaround time is quick! Visit conexus.ca to apply online for a mortgage, personal loan, line   
 of credit, credit card, term deposit or registered retirement savings plan (RRSP). 
•  Product Selector Tool – It’s easier than ever to find out which of our products will best suit your needs with our new product
 selector tool. It’s simple to use. Visit conexus.ca and answer a few questions about what you’re looking for in a product. Based on   
 your answers, the tool will come up with some recommendations for you. You can then apply online, call TeleService or visit a   
 branch to complete the process.
• Credential® Single Sign-on* – Members who subscribe to Online Banking and are Credential Direct® customers can seamlessly   
 access their Credential Direct account by just using one user name and password. With the single sign-on, once an Online Banking   
 user is successfully authenticated and logged into their account, they can easily transfer to Credential Direct. 
• Mobile Mortgage Specialists – At Conexus Credit Union, we realize that members have busy lives and can’t always make it to a
 branch during regular business hours. That’s where we can help. Our mortgage mobile specialist will come to you! Whether it’s   
 your office, home or a Conexus Credit Union branch, our experts will make it easier and more convenient for you to arrange for a   
 mortgage.
• Mutual Funds via TeleService – Conexus Credit Union has expanded our wealth management offerings to include a Mutual   
 Funds* Investment Specialist (MFIS) in TeleService. This is a convenient option for the investor who likes to conduct business by   
 telephone.
• Top Credit Union Website in Canada – Conexus is seen as a leader and innovator in the financial services industry and our website  
 is another example of our innovation. The Conexus Credit Union website continues to improve and in a recent independent audit of  
 financial institution websites, www.conexus.ca ranked number one among credit unions across the country!

*Credential Direct® is a division of Credential Securities Inc., and operates as a separate business unit. Credential Securi-
ties Inc. is a Member of the Canadian Investor Protection Fund. ®Credential is a registered mark owned by Credential 
Financial Inc. and is used under licence. 
 
*Mutual Funds are offered through Credential Asset Management Inc.
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Member Research
We understand that the needs and opinions of our members are critical to our success. For the past 15 years, we have been engaging 
member feedback through an independently administered research program.  

Conexus Credit Union experiences exceptionally high ratings from our members. We are proud of these sustained ratings over the past 
five years. The first chart below illustrates the high level of service satisfaction among members. The second chart shows that a number 
of respondents consider Conexus Credit Union their service provider of choice.

We review our research program regularly to make adjustments to ensure the information we gather will help us be proactive in 
providing the customer experience that our members deserve. 

Front Porch Interiors Furniture and Design Store 
Owner: Shannon Houff  
Wawota, Saskatchewan and area

“Conexus has a local branch so it’s very 
convenient and the employees share a 
genuine excitement and interest in my 
business.”

Alford Floors & Interiors Ltd.
Owner: Verna Alford
Regina, Saskatchewan

“When you work with organizations like 
Conexus Credit Union, who understand 
what you are trying to achieve, you can 
accomplish great things.” 
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CSR Pillar #2: Standards of Business Conduct

We are a co-operative organization committed to doing business with honesty, integrity and in compliance with legal requirements.

At Conexus Credit Union, our values are central to our corporate culture and ethical business conduct defines our service commitment 
to our members. Treating members fairly is how we do business. To support our service commitment, Conexus has voluntarily 
committed to several codes of conduct designed to protect consumers, including our Market Code. Our Market Code consists of 
business conduct practices that reflect industry standard consumer protection provisions. These practices apply to all products and 
services we offer. In addition, we expect our third party service providers to also maintain high standards of business conduct.

Our Key Commitments to You
•  Professional Standards - We are a co-operative organization that does business consistent with our corporate values. We will 

train employees so they are qualified and capable of providing an exceptional service experience.
•  Disclosure and Transparency - We will provide clear information about products and services to help you make informed 

financial decisions.
•  Privacy of Personal Information - We will treat all personal information as private and confidential, and operate secure and 

reliable banking and payment systems.
•  Fair Sales - We will act fairly and reasonably in all our dealings with you. We will not knowingly take advantage of anyone 

through manipulation, concealment, abuse of privileged information, misrepresentation of facts, unethical activity or use of any 
other unfair sales practice. We recognize the importance of access to basic banking services and will take reasonable measures to 
ensure access to a low-fee banking account.

•  Complaint Handling - We welcome and listen carefully to your feedback. We will try to satisfactorily resolve any concerns or 
problems that may arise.

Positive Image
Our commitment to conducting business with honesty, integrity 
and in compliance with legal requirements reflects  
our corporate values. Research results show that the vast majority 
of members believe we have a positive corporate image. 

 
CSR Pillar #3: Employer of Choice

We are committed to being an employer of choice with leading edge talent 
management programs to attract and retain the best employees. We 
value diversity in the workplace and invest in learning and leadership 
initiatives to manage and develop our employees’ talents.

50 Best Employers in Canada
At Conexus, our ongoing success is based on the excellent work done by dedicated employees. Conexus is committed to creating 
a better place for them to work and continues to evolve our human resources strategy to support fundamental talent management 
initiatives to ensure being an employer of choice remains paramount.

We are focused on the development and well-being of our employees and believe in work-life balance. In 2011, 
Conexus was named one of the 50 Best Employers in Canada for the seventh consecutive year. The results are based 
on an annual employee survey and the following chart shows our engagement scores over the past eight years. 
 
Employees are engaged when they “say, stay and strive”: they speak positively about the organization to others; 
are committed to 
remaining with their 
current employer; and 
are motivated by their 
organization’s leaders, 
managers, culture and 
values to go “above and 
beyond” to contribute 
to business success. The 
annual survey gives 
employee feedback 
based on engagement 
drivers so we can 
identify areas where 
we are strong and 
areas where we need to 
improve.
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Shannon Mellquist 
Sales and Service Manager 
South Albert Branch, Regina

Conexus really 
cares about the 
employees who 

work here and the 
communities where we 
live. They truly are an 
employer of choice.

14    Corporate Social Responsibility  •  Annual Report  •  2011
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Total Rewards Package
In return for our employees’ hard work and enterprising spirits, we provide them with a total rewards program. It’s a full package 
covering the areas of work, culture, benefits, compensation and career mobility. We believe in work-life balance and offer the incentives, 
environment and culture to prove it. Offering a competitive total rewards package is instrumental in supporting our employer of choice 
strategy.

Learning and Development Program
Conexus encourages lifelong learning and believes formal and informal learning and development courses provide a means for 
enhancing employee engagement. The learning and development program at Conexus is designed to assist our employees in accessing 
learning, educational and professional development opportunities for current and future job opportunities at Conexus. The chart below 
illustrates the total development hours that our employees engaged in during the past five years.  

2007 to 2011 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Training Hours (total hours) 38,529 45,126 38,541 33,570 32,854

Employee Advisory Committee
In 2006, an employee feedback mechanism was introduced at Conexus in the form of the Employee Advisory Committee (EAC). 
The EAC is a proactive and innovative advisory body whose primary role is to research, gather feedback and identify opportunities 
and solutions to improve the workplace experience for employees at Conexus. This executive sponsored committee ensures that 
recommendations align with and reflect the organization’s vision, mission and core values. The EAC engages in practices that are 
effective, efficient and ethical with the goal of making Conexus the best possible place to work.

In order to provide a broad range of knowledge, views and experience, the EAC consists of members from a cross-section of 
departments representing Conexus managers and employees. Some of the initiatives that the EAC has established and continues to 
support include: 

• The Reach for the Stars Program – The Reach for the Stars Program was launched in 2006. The program recognizes and 
rewards employees and sales professionals for performance consistent with Conexus values.

•  The Wellness Program – The Conexus Wellness Committee oversees the Wellness Program that encourages employees to 
engage in  a healthy and active lifestyle.

•  The Corporate Charity and Donation of Choice Programs  –The Corporate Charity is a charity that is selected by the EAC   
committee on an annual basis. Funds are raised through events of a corporate nature such as the annual client golf tournament, 
an annual employee hockey pool and branch fundraisers. The Corporate Charity selected by the EAC for 2011 was the Forever 
Friends of Hope Foundation. The amount raised for this worthy cause in 2011 was $20,016.  
 
To ensure local charities around the province benefit from corporate fundraising efforts, the EAC also administers an initiative 
called the Donation of Choice. This initiative gives individual employees the opportunity to choose a local charity to receive 
$25 on their behalf. The employees choose from a pre-selected list of charities located throughout the province. This year the 35 
charities received a total of $16,250.

CSR Pillar #4: Community Investment

We are committed to socially responsible leadership in community development and support organizations whose goals are aligned with our 
community investment strategy and corporate values.
 
Conexus Community Investment Program
Conexus maintains a long-standing commitment to improving the well-
being of our member communities. Our program provides broad support, 
with an aim to influence positive social and economic change in the 
communities we serve.

The Conexus Community Investment Program focused on three key 
priority areas in 2011:

•  Youth Development – Learning and development opportunities 
for youth (up to 19 years of age) in the areas of healthy lifestyle,   
education and leadership.

•  Community Revitalization – Initiatives to improve the vitality of 
our member communities.

• Self-Reliance – Initiatives to reduce the economic vulnerability of  
individuals.

Mosaic Place, Moose Jaw
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In 2011, Conexus invested more than $2 million in community-based, charitable and volunteer organizations and scholarships. Some of 
the organizations and communities that received support include:

A Taste of Saskatchewan Junior Achievement Saskatoon Symphony Orchestra
Best Buddies Blues Band Lanigan Medical Clinic South Country Healthcare Foundation
Birch Hills Skater Park Mosaic Place Special Olympics
Conexus MCC Centre Rainbow Youth Centre Summer Invasion
E. A. Rawlinson Centre for the Arts  
 Youth Access Program

Riverside Mission U-turn Housing

Enchanted Forest Royal Canadian Legion Wakamow Valley
Habitat for Humanity Saskatchewan Chamber of Commerce Waterston Centre
Hospitals of Regina Foundation Saskatchewan Filmpool Co-operative Winter Shines
JibFest Saskatchewan Wheelchair Sports

Volunteering in the Community
At Conexus, our giving isn’t only financial; we also contribute with in-kind and volunteer support. In 2011, Conexus employees 
volunteered more than 33,500 hours of their personal time to support community based initiatives. Over the last five years they have 
contributed more than 178,000 volunteer hours as illustrated in the chart below.

2007 to 2011 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Volunteer Hours (total hours) 35,825 38,092 37,663 33,800 33,531

Research
Our annual research program shows that our members are highly aware of our community support as illustrated in the chart below.

Many companies follow a benchmark of one per cent of pre-tax profits for community investment initiatives. At Conexus Credit Union, 
we significantly and consistently exceed this benchmark and in 2011, we invested 9.8% of pre-tax earnings to community investment.

CSR Pillar #5: Value in Membership 

We are committed to mutually successful financial relationships with our members. We provide opportunities for member feedback, encouraging 
participation in the democratic process.

Member Equity Program
Conexus Credit Union has a long, rich history of providing value to our members. When you purchase a member share you become a 
credit union owner and when we do well, we share our success with you. 

We are pleased to be able to allocate a portion of our annual profits to the members of Conexus Credit Union. The Member Equity 
Program, as it is exists today, was implemented in 2003 and in 2011, our patronage allocation was $2.74 million dollars.

Democratic Process
As a member of Conexus Credit Union, you have a say. Our members are owners and through the democratic process they are involved 
in making choices for the future of our credit union. Whether we are selecting a new board member or weighing in on partnership 
opportunities, your voice will be heard in the decision-making process. 
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CSR Pillar #6: Environmental Management 

We are committed to protecting and conserving the environment through environmental management practices to reduce, reuse and recycle.

Our employee driven green plan remains in existence throughout the organization. Individual branches continue to make 
environmental improvements in their branches through a variety of initiatives. Examples of these initiatives include:

• Recycle programs and procedures in place at most branches for paper, cardboard, toner cartridges, cans and bottles
• Our human resources department uses electronic pay statements, online benefit booklets, an online reporting system, electronic   

time sheets, etc. in an effort to be kinder to the environment
• The introduction of online forms, where members can apply for products in a paperless environment
• Our information and technology services department purchases and installs servers that are Energy Star compliant and are   

classified as ‘green’
  

We have a green team at Conexus whose initial purpose was to engage employees and members while creating awareness of our green 
practices and, while we have made positive strides, we have many more opportunities to improve in this area. 

Conexus remains committed to environmental management practices. We strive to instill environmental responsibility as a corporate 
value within Conexus culture and will encourage Conexus staff to be more environmentally conscious for future generations.

Good Corporate Citizen
Conexus Credit Union asks our membership to assess our reputation as a good corporate citizen on a yearly basis. As indicated by the 
chart below, our members view us favourably in this category.

Rotary River Duck Derby, Saskatoon
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Corporate Governance

Board of Directors 2011 (left to right)

Ed Gebert (Regina)
Randy Grimsrud Chair (Regina)
Glenn Hepp Vice-Chair (Humboldt/Saskatoon)
Norbert Fries (Moose Jaw/Assiniboia)
Laverne Goodsman (Fort Qu’Appelle/Moosomin)
Wayne Kabatoff (Prince Albert)
Loretta Elford (Regina)
Maurice Nekurak (Moose Jaw/Assiniboia)
Gerald Unger (Fort Qu’Appelle/Moosomin)
Don Blocka (Prince Albert)
Ted Knight (Regina)
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Corporate Governance 
Governing Legislation and Regulation 

Conexus is established under legislation of the Province of Saskatchewan, and is regulated by The Credit Union Deposit Guarantee 
Corporation of Saskatchewan (the Corporation). We must comply with The Credit Union Act, 1998; The Credit Union Regulations 1999; 
The Standards of Sound Business Practice; credit union bylaws and policy; and other applicable provincial and federal laws. We provide 
regular reporting to the Corporation and are subject to periodic risk based examinations. 

Approach to Credit Union Governance 

The board is committed to strong credit union governance as we believe this is fundamental for continued success and maintaining 
your trust.

A governance framework is in place to ensure Conexus is managed and operated in a sound and prudent manner. This includes:
• A qualified and independent board with a variety of backgrounds, experience and skills 
• A commitment to ethical leadership consistent with our values and code of conduct
• A set of board governance principles for its own work
• Selection of a chief executive officer to lead the credit union
• Clearly defined roles and a collaborative relationship with executive management 
• Establishment of strategy, performance measures and effective monitoring
• Independent risk and control functions 
• Adequate disclosure of material corporate information to stakeholders

The Governance Committee is responsible for ensuring Conexus maintains high standards of credit union governance. Collaboratively, 
management and the committee monitor the regulatory environment and corporate governance trends. As needed, the committee 
recommends changes to the board and approves governance disclosures to keep stakeholders informed.  

You can find details about our approach to credit union governance and related disclosures on our website at conexus.ca/AboutUs/
BoardofDirectors.

Business Conduct and Ethics 

At Conexus, our values are central to our corporate culture and ethical business conduct defines our service commitment to our 
members. As a co-operative organization, we believe in being socially responsible and doing business with honesty, integrity and in 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.  

A strong and positive tone at the top is set by the board and executive management though a values-based Code of Conduct (our 
Code). Expectations and guidelines for business conduct and ethical decision making are set out in our Code. Annually, directors, 
executive management and every employee renews their commitment to our values by certifying they have read, understood and 
will abide by our Code principles. To support our Code, an external whistleblower reporting mechanism is in place. Through this 
mechanism concerns of actual or suspected improper or unethical conduct can be reported without fear of reprisal or adverse 
employment action for whistleblowing.

Additionally, we have voluntarily committed to a Market Code designed to maintain your confidence and trust in dealing with us. Our 
Market Code consists of business conduct practices that reflect industry standard consumer protection provisions, and these practices 
apply to all products and services we offer. Similarly, we expect our third party service providers to also maintain high standards of 
business conduct.

Board Composition 

The board is comprised of 11 independent directors based on a district governance structure. Terms are three years in duration and 
tenure is limited to three consecutive terms. Collectively, the board is capable to fulfill its role and represents a diverse set of individual 
skills, experience and knowledge.

The Governance Committee is responsible for overseeing the nomination process and election of directors in accordance with 
legislation. Directors are elected by democratic process where members vote in accordance with our bylaws. Voting is by electronic 
ballot with results announced at the Annual General Meeting.  

Full biographies are available on our website.
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Board Responsibilities 

The board is responsible for the stewardship of Conexus and overseeing the operation of the business and supervision of management. 
The board acts in the best interests of Conexus in accordance with The Credit Union Act 1998, Standards of Sound Business Practice and 
other applicable legislation.

In performing its role, the board articulates the mission, vision and values; approves all significant decisions that affect the credit union 
and its subsidiaries; and regularly meets in camera without management present. The responsibilities of the board are fully described 
in its mandate and include:

• Manage its own affairs, such as setting the governance principles, establishing meeting processes and determining the mandate 
and composition of board committees

• Review and approve an organizational structure that ensures an appropriate balance and separation between retail and risk   
management control functions

• Select the chief executive officer, establish performance objectives and evaluate performance and determine compensation
• Review and approve the strategic plan, annual business plan and budgets
• Monitor business risks and management’s progress toward achievement of strategic objectives
• Review and approve the financial statements and regulatory filings, and oversee timely and accurate reporting to members and 

the regulator on the credit union’s performance
• Consider the legitimate business interests of stakeholders and be accountable to the credit union and its members

Board Committees 

Board effectiveness is promoted by well appointed and structured committees. Committee memberships are reviewed annually and 
take into consideration director skills and preferences. Each committee has a mandate outlining its purpose and responsibilities. 
Outside advisors may be engaged at the expense of Conexus. Committees meet regularly throughout the year and provide meeting 
minutes and reports to the board.  

We have five standing committees to assist in fulfilling board responsibilities:
• The Audit and Risk Committee is comprised of five directors and is responsible for oversight of risk management and the   

integrity of operations and financial reporting
• The Community Development Committee is comprised of four directors and is responsible for the Community Investment   

Program
• The Conduct Review Committee is comprised of five directors and is responsible for oversight and review of related party   

transactions
• The Governance Committee is comprised of three directors and is responsible for governance and the election of directors
• The Human Resource and Compensation Committee is comprised of four directors and is responsible for CEO performance 

and oversight of compensation programs and succession planning

Compensation and Attendance 

The Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing director compensation and ensuring it is competitive and appropriate. 
Director compensation includes:

• An annual retainer for board service
• An annual retainer for serving as board chair, board vice-chair, or committee chair 
• A per diem for each board and committee meeting attended
• A per diem for activities attended as a representative of the Conexus Board
• A per diem for time to attend professional development sessions
• Travel costs, as applicable, to cover time and mileage to attend meetings and activities
• Reasonable travel and other out-of-pocket expenses relating to board service   

Conexus has a district governance structure which means directors are elected by geographic region. Given the varying locations of 
residence, travel expenses among individual directors may vary significantly due to the location and frequency of meetings they are 
accountable to attend.  

Directors are expected to attend all board meetings and meetings of committees to which they have been appointed, except for those 
where a conflict of interest precludes attendance. A minimum attendance rate of 66.6% is required, except where the Governance 
Committee determines that special circumstances prevented a director meeting this threshold.   

This year’s board activities required an increased number of board and special committee meetings to conclude the proposed merger 
between Conexus, Innovation and Synergy credit unions; and select a new CEO. 

The table on the next page summarizes compensation and attendance for each director in 2011.
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Compensation Attendance

Director Honorariams
($)

Per Diems
($)

Travel/
Other 

($)

Total
($)

Board 
Meetings

Committee 
Meetings

Randy Grimsrud (Board Chair) 24,400 27,100 6,060 57,560 21 of 21 (100%) Ex Officio 21 (100%)

Glenn Hepp (Board Vice Chair) (1) (4) 16,000 24,875 15,634 56,509 21 of 21 (100%) 20  of  21 (95%) 

Don Blocka (4) (5) 10,000 12,875 8,907 31,782 18 of 21 (86%) 16 of 17 (94%) 

Ed Gebert (2)*(3)* 16,416 15,100 4,087 35,603 20 of 21 (95%) 11 of 11 (100%) 

Gerald Unger (2) (3) 10,000 19,350 15,332 44,682 21 of 21 (100%) 11 of 11 (100%) 

Laverne Goodsman (2) (3) 10,000 14,575 7,558 32,133 21 of 21 (100%) 10 of 11 (91%) 

Loretta Elford (1)*(4) 16,416 20,625 5,276 42,317 21 of 21 (100%) 19 of 19 (100%) 

Maurice Nekurak (1) (5)* 16,833 15,750 12,167 44,750 21 of 21 (100%) 10 of 10 (100%) 

Norbert Fries (4)*(5) 16,416 15,125 6,493 38,034 20 of 21 (95%) 13 of 17 (77%) 

Edward (Ted) Knight (2) (3) 10,000 11,125 2,853 23,978 19 of 21 (90%) 9 of 9 (100%) 

Wayne Kabatoff (2) (3) 10,000 17,000 15,705 42,705 21 of 21 (100%) 11 of 11 (100%) 

Total $ 156,481 $ 193,500 $ 100,072 $ 450,053

(1) Governance Committee

(2)  Conduct Review Committee

(3)  Audit and Risk Committee  

(4) Human Resource and Compensation Committee

(5)  Community Development Committee

*  Chair of the Committee

Compensation

Director Honorariams
($)

Per Diems
($)

Travel/
Other ($)

Total
($)

Randy Grimsrud (Board Chair) - 375 - 375

Glenn Hepp (Board Vice Chair) - 375 - 375

Total - $ 750 - $ 750

The above amounts were paid in addition to Board Service totals

Proposed Merger Committee

Compensation

Director Honorariams
($)

Per Diems
($)

Travel/
Other ($)

Total
($)

Glenn Hepp (Board Vice Chair) - 3,750 3,244 6,994

Gerald Unger - 3,375 1,904 5,279 

Loretta Elford - 3,225 - 3,225

Maurice Nekurak - 3,475 2,337 5,812

Edward (Ted) Knight - 3,225 - 3,225

Total - $ 17,050 $ 7,485 $ 24,535

The above amounts were paid in addition to Board Service totals

CEO Selection Committee

Board Service 2011
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Orientation and Continuing Education 

We believe director education is important for helping directors understand our operations and developing issues affecting our 
business, as well as maintaining and building skills. An orientation program is provided for new directors to familiarize them 
with business operations and expectations of our board members. Directors participate in education sessions tailored to meet 
the development needs and interests of the board, and are provided with a training allowance to encourage individual director 
participation in continuing education opportunities that support personal development goals. Additionally, directors are offered 
opportunities to attend a variety of community, member and employee events throughout the year.

Board Assessments 

The board is committed to effective credit union governance and continuous improvement. Annually, the Governance Committee 
facilitates a board evaluation process to assess the effectiveness of board operations. An external consultant was engaged this year to 
facilitate completion of a detailed questionnaire by board members, which provides for quantitative ratings and qualitative responses 
in key areas of board and committee performance. Results of the evaluation will form the basis of recommendations to the board for 
improving governance practices and opportunities for board development. The Governance Committee monitors progress against 
these plans.

CEO Performance Management 

The Human Resources and Compensation Committee is responsible for developing performance objectives for the CEO, evaluating 
performance and recommending the CEO’s compensation. Emphasis is placed on appropriate balance to incent achievement of short-
term objectives and long-term success. The board determines the form and amount of CEO compensation based on recommendations 
from the committee.  

Co-operative Industry Directorships held by Directors 

The Governance Committee encourages directors to sit on associate co-operative company boards.  

Director Don Blocka serves as a director of Concentra Financial and SaskCentral.

Director Ed Gebert serves as a director of SaskCentral and Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation.

Director Loretta Elford serves as a director of Concentra Financial, SaskCentral, and Credit Union Central of Canada. 

Contacting the Board 

Members and other interested parties may communicate with the board through our Governance Office by writing to:

Email:  contacttheboard@conexus.ca

Mail: Attention: 
  Corporate Secretary
  Conexus Credit Union
  1960 Albert St. (2nd floor)
  Regina, SK S4P 2T4

For further information visit conexus.ca/AboutUs/BoardofDirectors/Contacttheboard.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

This Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is presented to enable readers to assess material changes in the financial 
condition and operating results of Conexus Credit Union (Conexus) for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with prior 
year, planned results and future strategies. This MD&A is prepared in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements 

and related Notes for the year ended December 31, 2011, and should be read together. The MD&A includes information up to February 
24, 2012. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. Amounts for 2010 and 2011 have been primarily 
derived from Conexus’ annual Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).  

Amounts prior to 2010 have been included to illustrate trends where appropriate; these amounts were prepared in accordance with 
Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (CGAAP) and not updated to comply with IFRS. Accordingly, caution should be 
taken in comparing these numbers to those of 2010 and 2011 as the accounting treatment and policies will vary.  
 

Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This MD&A may contain forward-looking statements concerning Conexus’ future strategies. These statements involve uncertainties in 
relation to prevailing economic, legislative, and regulatory conditions at the time of writing. Therefore, actual results may differ from 
the forward-looking statements contained in this discussion. 

Factors That May Affect Future Results
Although Conexus is focused in Saskatchewan, the economic and business conditions in Canada and abroad can impact the trading 
areas of Conexus and its financial position. Global economic conditions can impact Canada and local economies, affecting businesses, 
consumer prices and personal incomes. The prevailing conditions nationally can impact financial markets and the Bank of Canada’s 
monetary policy, causing changes in interest rates and the value of the Canadian dollar. Fluctuations in the capital markets and the 
extent of local competition can impact the market share and price of Conexus’ products and services. All these factors impact the 
environmental conditions in which Conexus operates and, accordingly, affects its performance.
 

Economic Conditions
2011 Economic and Financial Services Conditions  
 
In 2011, the global economy continued to see positive growth, albeit at a slower pace than 2010. The global economy experienced a 
strong emergence in 2010 from the recessionary periods of 2008 and early 2009, with real gross domestic product (GDP) expanding 
5.2%. This strong growth was not sustained into 2011 – as world GDP slowed to 3.7%. Global economic growth was hampered by 
supply chain distributions due to the devastating March tsunami in Japan and the sovereign debt crisis plaguing many European 
nations.  

Economic output from emerging and developing economies decelerated in the later part of 2011. The largest of this group, China, 
experienced a slowdown in response to tightening in monetary policy and slowing external demand, especially from Europe, its most 
important trading partner.  

Economic growth in the United States, Canada’s largest trade partner, is estimated to have slowed to 1.8% in 2011 from 3% in 2010. 
Growth in the first half of the year was much weaker than expected. Adding to weak consumer spending and business investment, 
concerns surfaced of the U.S. debt ceiling, which ultimately led to the historical lowering of the United States credit rating by Standard 
and Poor. By contrast, growth in the second half of 2011 surprised on the upside, as consumers in the United States unexpectedly 
increased spending and business fixed investment stayed strong.
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After mounting a substantial recovery in 2010, the 
Canadian economy slowed in 2011 to an estimated 
2.4% from 3.2% in 2010. The economy was impacted 
by financial market turmoil emanating from Europe’s 
debt crisis, still modest U.S. growth, cooling emerging 
market demand and tempered consumer and business 
confidence. However, there is a clear disparity between 
the resource rich West and Eastern Canada. Resource 
production continued to power growth in Western 
Canada; both Alberta and Saskatchewan’s economic 
prosperity continued to outpace the Canadian average 
throughout 2011. 

By contrast, Saskatchewan managed to sidestep much of the economic and financial conditions concerning many countries. 
Saskatchewan’s economy grew among the fastest in Canada in 2011. Real GDP is estimated to have expanded 3.4%, cooling slightly 
from the 4.0% pace set in 2010 given lower global demand for some commodities and easing of prices relative to 2010. The broader 
resource sector activity remained robust in 2011. Good growing conditions led to increased agriculture production. Potash production 
was up 19% in the first 11 months of the year, and both foreign and domestic investment in this sector remains strong. The oil and gas 
sector is also strong, as exploration activity continued in the Bakken. Investment in exploration and development of Saskatchewan’s 
resources is supporting the labour market and helping drive growth in the domestic economy. The province’s unemployment rate 
averaged just 5% in 2011. Solid job growth supported consumer spending and the housing market. Retail sales growth was at the fastest 
pace in the country, and there were 7.0 thousand new housing starts in the year, up from 6.1 thousand last year.  

Dimmer global growth prospects and the European sovereign debt crisis impacted financial conditions. Yields on government bonds 
in non-European Union developed countries, including Canada, fell dramatically throughout 2011 as investors shifted towards safer 
and more liquid assets. The Bank of Canada held the overnight rate at 1% throughout 2011 citing reasons associated with external 
factors. That said, the Canadian financial system and its institutions have been regarded as the ‘world’s strongest’. This has resulted 
in Canadian businesses and consumers experiencing unhindered access to borrowings at historically low interest throughout 2011. 
However, savers had to contend with low investment rates and concerns of deteriorating global financial conditions. The European 
sovereign debt crisis weighed on Canada’s major stock exchange - the commodity rich TSX dropped 11% in the year.   
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Economic and Financial Outlook for 2012

The outlook for the overall global economy is expected to be somewhat worse off than 2011. Global economic growth is projected to 
be approximately 3% in 2012 versus the expected 3.7% in 2011. Growth in emerging-market economies is projected to moderate but 
remain at a sustainable robust level. Weighing on global growth is the European sovereign debt crisis; and a recession is expected in the 
areas’ economies in 2012. Despite better-than-expected economic conditions in the later part of 2011, the U.S. economy is expected to 
moderate, growing at a slighter better pace than 2011. GDP is expected to be 2% in 2012, up from 1.8% in 2011, impacted by household 
deleveraging and effects from the European debt crisis.  

The Bank of Canada expects modest growth in the Canadian economy in the first half of 2012, after which growth is expected to 
improve (January 2012 Monetary Policy Report). Growth in real GDP is projected to moderate from 2.4% in 2011 to 2.0% in 2012. The 
lower growth prospects are largely due to external factors: uncertainty of global economic and financial conditions having an effect on 
consumer confidence and lowering domestic demand; and weaker global activity which will dampen exports. Accordingly, the Bank of 
Canada is expected to keep interest rates at low levels in 2012 to support growth in economic activity.  

Over the next two years Saskatchewan’s economic growth is expected to exceed the national average and be among the fastest growing 
provinces. Global demand for commodities and investment in Saskatchewan’s primary resource sector has created a favourable fiscal 
and economic backdrop for Saskatchewan. As compared to the past two years, global demand and prices of non-energy commodities 
is expected to somewhat decline in 2013, impacting exports. Despite this, business investment will remain strong in 2012, anchored by 
several multi-billion, multi-year, resource-based projects. Bright employment opportunities and a confident Saskatchewan consumer 
will support the domestic economy. Low unemployment rates and an expanding economy are projected to drive the domestic labour 
market and wage growth. Saskatchewan’s expanding population will underpin the housing market, both in terms of price and starts. 
Retail sales are also expected to continue at a strong pace in 2012. Overall, a strong Saskatchewan economy and low interest rates are 
expected to underpin both business and consumer credit growth in 2012. Deposits held by businesses are expected to moderate as 
funds are invested into operations and expansions; while personal deposits are expected to grow at a similar rate to 2011 as individuals 
continue to be risk adverse in their investment choices.  



Management Discussion and Analysis  •  Annual Report  •  2011      27

Financial management
(In thousands of CDN $) 2011 Actual 2011 Plan 2010 Actual

Growth
Assets 3,816,910 3,849,246 3,566,805
Asset growth 7.01% 7.92% 6.65%
Deposits 3,227,745 3,207,883 3,011,327
Deposit growth 7.19% 6.53% 5.56%
Loans and advances 3,159,491 3,143,428 2,981,887
Loans and advances growth 5.96% 5.42% 9.12%

Credit quality
Delinquency greater than 90 days 0.67% 0.78% 1.79%
Net impaired loans and advances 5,591 24,671 15,290
Allowance for credit losses 6,143 21,091 18,553
Loan impairment charges 7,106 5,675 7,508

Liquidity management
Liquid assets * 534,648 438,243 440,066
Loan to asset ratio 82.78% 81.66% 83.60%
Investment securities ** 480,285 524,174 397,103
Investment securities growth 20.95% 32.00% -15.92%
Operating liquidity ratio 239% 150% 217%

Capital management
Risk-weighted capital 11.14% 11.34% 10.82%
Tier 1 capital ratio 7.60% 7.69% 7.51%
Total capital *** 286,987 287,262 262,331

Profitability and member return
Total comprehensive income for the year 21,049 21,704 23,852
Return on assets (ROA) before patronage 

and income tax 0.62% 0.97% 0.93%
Efficiency ratio 81.38% 75.71% 74.31%
Patronage allocations 2,735 6,270 5,450
*  Liquid assets include cash and cash equivalents, marketable investment securities, liquid investment securites held with Concentra and statutory liquidity investment 

securities at SaskCentral.

**  Includes all investment securities held by Conexus.

*** Total capital of Conexus consists of amounts held in membership shares and member equity accounts  ($23.37 million in 2011);  accumulated other comprehensive 
income ($1.65 million in 2011); and retained earnings ($261.98 million in 2011). This differs from the definition of total capital used by the Credit Union Deposit 
Guarantee Corporation which amounts to $285,404 (2010 - $262,525).

 

Financial Performance to Plan
Each year Conexus develops a corporate plan through a comprehensive budget and planning process.  The following table provides an 
overview of key financial measures compared to plans for 2011.  Actual results for 2010 have also been included for comparison:
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Financial Position Review 
The financial position review provides an analysis of our major balance sheet categories and a review of our deposits, loans and 
advances, liquidity and capital positions. The review is based on the consolidated financial statements and credit union only results 
where appropriate. Consolidated financial statements include the operational results of the credit union as well as the following 
subsidiaries: insurance, a partial year of real estate, mortgage brokerage and holding companies. 

Conexus entered into four sale agreements to sell the assets of Century 21 Conexus Realty Ltd. which provided a full range of real 
estate brokerage services to buyers and sellers. These sales were completed on June 30, 2011 and July 29, 2011 on which dates control 
passed to the acquirers and operations were discontinued. The results of which are reported in the consolidated financial statements as 
discontinued operations. Results below are from continuing operations unless otherwise specified.
 
Overview

‘On-balance sheet’ assets ended 2011 at $3.82 billion compared to $3.57 billion in 2010, representing growth of 7.01%. 

Total funds under management ended 2011 at $4.70 billion up from $4.41 billion in 2010 and achieving total growth of 6.40%. Other 
funds under management, or ‘off-balance sheet’ assets under administration, include: $550.77 million in wealth management, up 
from $548.91 million in 2010 or an increase of 0.34%; and $327.58 million in syndicated loans and advances an increase of 10.25% over 
2010 levels of $297.12 million. The marginal growth in wealth management funds under administration was largely due to market 
conditions.  

The following illustrates the Credit Union’s growth in ‘on-balance sheet’ assets over the past five years.      

 *Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP

 **Amounts have been restated to reflect IFRS transition adjustments

The following illustrates Conexus’ deposit and loans and advances growth over the last five years.  

Deposits
Deposits ended 2011 at $3.23 billion compared to $3.01 billion in 2010, representing growth of 7.19%.  Conexus’ deposits consist of 
deposits from both consumer and commercial members. 

*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP

**Amounts have been restated to reflect IFRS transition adjustments
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Consumer deposits accounted for 66.79% of total deposits in 2011 (2010 - 66.93%), and commercial deposits accounted for 29.95% of 
total deposits (2010 - 30.24%).  

Conexus’ deposits are 100% guaranteed by the regulator of credit unions in Saskatchewan, Credit Union Deposit Guarantee 
Corporation (CUDGC).  
 
Loans and advances (loans)
Loans accounted for 82.78% of total assets, and amounted to $3.16 billion as at December 31, 2011, for an increase of $0.18 billion or 
5.96% over prior year’s balance of $2.98 billion.  

*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP

**Amounts have been restated to reflect IFRS transition adjustments

 
A significant portion of Conexus’ loan portfolio continues to be comprised of stable, low risk consumer mortgages (34.88% of the total 
loan portfolio). Loan allocation to the commercial sector declined slightly from prior year; 36.65% in 2011 compared to 37.07% in 2010. 
Loan allocation to the agriculture sector remained similar to prior year at 9.44%.  
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Credit quality   

Credit quality metrics have improved significantly in the year, and are at five year bests. The sound credit quality has been supported 
by a strong provincial economy and the communities in which Conexus serves.  

Past due loans and advances
Loans and advances are considered past due when a counterparty is contractually in arrears but where payment in full is expected. 
Delinquency greater than 90 days was 0.67% for 2011, a decrease from 1.79% in 2010. This improvement is mainly attributed to one 
commercial loan and advance which was no longer considered past due at December 31, 2011.    

 
 
 
 
*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP 

Net impaired loans and advances
Net impaired loans are loans and advances considered by management to be uncollectible and are net of individual loan allowances. 
It is the amount expected to be realized on the sale of any security on the uncollectible loans and advances. In 2011, net impaired loans 
and advances showed a decrease from prior year of $9.7 million to end the year at $5.6 million (2010 - $15.3 million). As a percentage of 
total loans and advances, net impaired loans and advances decreased from 0.51% in 2010 to end 2011 at 0.18%. 

*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP
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Allowance for credit losses
Conexus monitors its exposure to potential credit losses and maintains both individual and collective loan allowances accordingly. 

Individual allowances are based on management’s estimate of the net realizable value (NRV) of impaired loans and advances. This 
NRV includes any estimated future cash flows from loan payments as well as proceeds from the sale of any security. Total individual 
allowances decreased from $17.28 million in 2010 to $5.28 million at the end of 2011. The decrease is mainly attributable to the removal 
of one large commercial loan allowance.  
  
Collective allowances provide for probable losses that exist in the portfolio that have not been specifically identified as impaired. 
Collective allowances are assessed on six loan portfolio groups. Each group behaves similarly with respect to collectability, loss trigger 
events and credit risk factors. These groups include: commercial mortgage and non-mortgage, consumer mortgage and non-mortgage, 
and agricultural mortgage and non-mortgage. Total collective allowances decreased from $1.28 million in 2010 to $0.87 million in 2011. 

*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP

Loan impairment charges
Once allowances for credit losses and write-offs have been assessed, a loan impairment charge is expensed on the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Loan impairment charges (individual and collective) were $7.11 million in 2011. The loan 
impairment charges as a percentage of total loans and advances decreased from 0.25% in 2010 to 0.22% in 2011.  

*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP
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Liquidity management

Managing liquidity is essential to maintaining the safety and soundness of Conexus, depositor confidence and stability in earnings. 
It is Conexus’ policy to ensure that sufficient liquid assets and funding capacities are available to meet commitments as they become 
due, even under stressed conditions. Conexus’ liquidity management framework is defined and managed within established corporate 
policies and regulatory standards.  

The principles of Conexus’ liquidity management framework are: maintaining a strategy and policies for managing liquidity risk; 
maintaining a stock of liquid assets; measuring and monitoring funding requirements; managing market access to funding sources; 
contingency planning and ensuring internal controls over liquidity risk management processes.

Conexus has an established policy with respect to liquidity, and has a number of processes and practices with respect to the 
management of funding requirements. Specifically, Conexus measures and monitors its available liquidity and performs monthly 
stress scenario modelling to identify sources of potential liquidity strain. Conexus has built and maintains access to numerous funding 
sources.  Conexus’ primary source of funds is consumer deposits in the amount of $2.15 billion in 2011 (2010 - $2.04 billion), which 
represents 66.79% of total deposits in 2011 (2010 - 66.93%). This is followed by commercial deposits in the amount of $964.42 million in 
2011 (2010 - $923.29 million) at 29.95% (2010 - 30.24%).    

In addition to core deposits, Conexus maintains external borrowing facilities from various sources. Conexus has an authorized line of 
credit with Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan (SaskCentral) in the amount of $75 million in Canadian funds and authorized lines of 
credit with Concentra Financial Services Association (Concentra) in the amount of $7 million in U.S. funds and $40 million in Canadian 
Funds. In 2011, Conexus rarely used external borrowing facilities with no outstanding balance at the end of the year (2010 - $1 million). 
SaskCentral is a wholesale financial services co-operative that provides trade association and liquidity management services to its 
member owners – the Saskatchewan credit unions. Concentra is owned by SaskCentral, other provincial centrals and credit union 
partners. It provides wholesale banking services and consulting support to Canadian credit unions.  

The next source of liquidity for Conexus is the securitization of assets for the purpose of generating funds on the capital markets. 
Conexus’ securitization activities include participation in the Canada Mortgage Bond (CMB) program, the sale of mortgage backed 
securities (MBS) and a revolving dealer finance loan pool. Loans and advances are also syndicated with numerous credit unions 
for liquidity purposes. In 2011, Conexus securitized an additional $45.65 million of loans and advances (2010 - $50.28 million) and 
syndicated an additional $101.93 million of loans and advances (2010 - $82.50 million) as part of its ongoing funding strategies.  

Utilizing these various funding sources achieves liquidity diversification.     
 
Liquid assets
Conexus also maintains a cushion of high quality, liquid assets to be drawn upon to meet unforeseen funding requirements.

Liquid assets include cash and cash equivalents, other marketable investment securities, other liquid investment securities held with 
Concentra and statutory liquidity investment securities at SaskCentral. The value of liquid assets increased from $440.07 million 
(12.34% of assets) in 2010 to $534.65 million (14.01% of assets) as at December 31, 2011.  

Saskatchewan credit unions are required by the provincial regulator, CUDGC to maintain 10% of their liabilities on deposit with 
SaskCentral as manager of the Provincial Liquidity Program. Throughout 2011, Conexus held the required amount of investment 
securities with SaskCentral for the purpose of maintaining its obligation to the Provincial Liquidity Program. In addition to the 
statutory liquidity investment securities on deposit with SaskCentral, Conexus maintains a high quality, liquid pool of investment 
securities to satisfy payment obligations and protect against unforeseen liquidity events. The majority of Conexus’ marketable 
investment securities are held with Concentra, Canadian (Schedule 1) Chartered Banks and provincial governments.   
 

 

*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP
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Operating liquidity
Conexus’ liquidity is measured by the operating liquidity ratio. This ratio is calculated as available liquidity and cash inflows divided 
by cash outflows. Available liquidity is defined as investment securities which are immediately available as cash, investment securities 
marketable in an active secondary market, redeemable investment securities held with Concentra and committed credit facilities. In 
2010, the ratio was 217.00%, and in 2011 it was 239.00% which are both well above management’s internal target of 150.00%.  

Capital management

Total capital as a percentage of risk weighted assets and total capital as a percentage of total assets (capital adequacy) is one of our 
primary measures of financial strength. Conexus’ capital management framework is designed to maintain an optimal level of capital. 
Accordingly, capital policies are designed to ensure that:  Conexus meets its regulatory capital requirements; meets its internal 
assessment of required capital; and builds long-term membership value. Conexus retains a portion of its annual earnings in order to 
meet these capital objectives. Once these capital objectives are met, additional earnings are allocated to members through Conexus’ 
Member Equity Program. The Member Equity Program allocates earnings to members’ equity accounts (in the form of membership 
shares) based on usage of services. Member equity accounts are included in the determination of capital adequacy for internal and 
regulatory purposes. 

CUDGC has prescribed capital adequacy measures and minimum capital requirements. The capital adequacy rules issued by CUDGC 
have been based on the Basel II capital standards framework established by the Bank for International Settlements and adopted by 
financial institutions around the globe, including Canadian banks.   

CUDGC prescribes three tests to assess the capital adequacy of credit unions: risk-weighted capital ratio (eligible capital to risk-
weighted assets); tier 1 capital to total asset ratio; tier 2 to tier 1 capital ratio. Tier 1 capital is defined as a credit union’s primary capital 
and comprises the highest quality of capital elements. Tier 1 capital for Conexus includes retained earnings, membership shares 
and member equity accounts, less a deduction of 50% for unconsolidated substantial investments. The risk-weighted capital ratio is 
calculated as the sum of net tier 1 and 2 capital divided by risk-weighted assets. Regulatory standards require credit unions to maintain 
a minimum risk-weighted capital ratio of 8.00%, a minimum tier 1 capital to total assets of 5.00% and tier 2 capital to tier 1 capital of less 
than 100.00%.  

In October 2009, CUDGC issued an advisory indicating that a well capitalized credit union should have risk-weighted capital of 10% 
and a tier 1 capital to total assets ratio of 7% to meet operational requirements, support growth projections, absorb unexpected losses 
and signal financial strength to stakeholders. Credit unions with declining capital below the 10% will be subject to increased regulatory 
monitoring by CUDGC.  

In November 2010, CUDGC issued a new regulatory guideline respecting capital. The guideline requires credit unions to implement an 
internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP). The requirements are based on the internal standards set out in Pillar 2 of Basel 
II. ICAAP is an integrated process that evaluates capital adequacy, and is used to establish capital targets and capital strategies that 
take into consideration the strategic direction and risk appetite of a credit union. Beginning in 2012, CUDGC’s regular review process 
will look for evidence that credit unions have begun to incorporate principles of ICAAP in their governance, planning and capital 
management processes. In 2011, Conexus began the development of a comprehensive ICAAP plan.  

In February 2011, CUDGC issued a statement that they plan to modernize the framework of Standards of Sound Business Practice 
(Standards) for credit unions to better align requirements with Basel III and the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions. 
CUDGC expects the Standards and new capital adequacy requirements to be phased-in with full implementation occurring by 2019. 
The Credit Union monitors changes in regulatory standards and guidelines and adjusts its capital plan and targets accordingly.  

Achieving minimum regulatory capital levels are paramount to Conexus. Minimum board level standards are set well in excess 
of regulatory minimums. Board policy requires the credit union to maintain a minimum risk weighted capital ratio of 11% and a 
minimum tier 1 capital to total asset ratio of 7.25%. This standard setting is the first line of defence to ensure capital levels exceed 
regulatory minimums even in times of significant loss or unplanned growth. Capital planning is integral to Conexus’ business 
planning. Conexus’ business plan must demonstrate its ability to meet board level capital standards. In addition to meeting board 
level standards for capital adequacy, management (as part of the Asset Liability Committee) sets operating objectives for capital levels. 
Conexus manages capital to these operating objectives. Balance sheet operating strategies are designed to ensure these capital levels are 
achieved in addition to achieving other strategies, such as growth and profitability targets.  
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Conexus experienced capital growth in 2011, adding to its sound financial position. In 2011, the total capital of Conexus increased 
by $24.66 million from $262.33 million in 2010 to $286.99 million. Total capital of Conexus consists of: amounts held in membership 
shares and member equity accounts ($23.37 million in 2011); accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) ($1.65 million in 2011); 
and retained earnings ($261.98 million in 2011). The following illustrates the capital composition of Conexus. As the chart illustrates, 
retained earnings remains the key source of capital for Conexus.

*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP

Regulatory Capital
For the year ending 2011, Conexus’ total capital as a percentage of risk weighted assets was 11.14% (2010 - 10.82%), above the regulatory 
minimum of 8% and in excess of the 10% prescribed by the regulator as a level to be considered well capitalized.  

The tier 1 capital to total assets ratio increased in 2011 to 7.60% from 7.51% in 2010, above the 5% regulatory minimum and the 7% 
regulatory standard for being regarded as well capitalized.  

Both ratios were above internal policy minimums established by the Credit Union.  

*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP
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Financial Performance Review 
The financial performance review provides an analysis of our consolidated financial performance and member return. The results 
below are from continuing operations unless otherwise specified.  

Profitability

Total comprehensive income for the year was $21.05 million, a decrease from $23.85 million in prior year. For 2011, our total annualized 
return on assets (ROA) before patronage and income tax was 0.62% compared to 0.93% in 2010.  Profit for the year was negatively 
impacted by a one-time write down for an asset impairment of $16.7 million or 0.44% of assets. This asset impairment relates to the 
discontinued development of banking system software and hardware. 

*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP 

Total comprehensive income is comprised of the following items:

• Net interest income - is total interest income less total interest expenses and patronage allocation while factoring in any loans 
and advances and investment security impairment charges. Net interest income, after loan impairment charges, increased 
$15.65 million between December 31, 2011 and 2010. Expressed as a percentage of total assets, net interest income was 2.78% for 
2011 compared to 2.54% in 2010. 

• Non-interest income - includes account service fees, loan fees, loan insurance fees, ABM fees, insurance commission income, 
dividend income and wealth management income. Consolidated non-interest income from continuing operations decreased to 
$35.69 million in 2011 from $36.17 million in 2010. 

• Non-interest expense - includes various operating costs such as general business, occupancy, organizational, personnel and 
member security. Consolidated non-interest expense from continuing operations increased in dollar value and as a percentage 
of assets from 2.79% of assets or $99.68 million in 2010 to 3.17% of assets or $121.17 million in 2011. Non-interest expenses 
included charges for asset impairment of $16.7 million or 0.44% of assets.  
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Efficiency

The efficiency ratio measures the percentage of income from continuing operations earned that is spent on the operation of the 
business. A low efficiency ratio indicates efficient use of resources. The ratio is calculated as non-interest expenses from continuing 
operations divided by the sum of the following: net interest margin plus non-interest revenue from continuing operations and loan 
impairment charges. 

Conexus continued to make improvements in efficiency in 2011. However, these gains were masked by an asset impairment which will 
not continue to affect future years. In 2011, efficiency was unfavourably impacted as the ratio increased to 81.38% from 74.31% in 2010. 
Excluding the one time charge for an asset impairment, efficiency ratio was 70.14%.

*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP 

Patronage allocations

The board of directors of Conexus declared a patronage allocation equal to 2.00% of personal members’ qualifying interest earned and 
interest paid in 2011  (2010 - 4.00%) to be credited to members’ equity and deposit accounts. The board of directors of Conexus also 
declared a patronage allocation equal to 1.00% of non personal members’ qualifying interest earned and interest paid in 2011 (2010 - 
2.00%) to be credited to members’ equity or deposit accounts. In 2011, Conexus returned $2.74 million of earnings to members through 
the Member Equity Program (2010 - $5.45 million). Members, in accordance with the terms of the Member Equity Program, received 
$1.46 million in the form of cash distributions, and $1.28 million in the form of membership shares (held in their equity accounts).  

*Amounts have not been restated to IFRS and are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP

In addition to patronage allocations, Conexus contributes a significant amount to Saskatchewan communities each year. In 2011, $2.02 
million (2010 - $1.29 million) was returned to communities around the province in the form of contributions to various community 
projects. This amount is included in non-interest expenses under the general business category.  
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Current Accounting Policy Changes
Conversion to International Financial Reporting Standards 

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board announced that Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP) for publicly accountable enterprises would be replaced by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Conexus is specifically scoped into the definition of a publicly accountable enterprise. Conexus 
applied IFRS commencing January 1, 2011 and therefore presented consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS for the 
year ending December 31, 2011 with comparative numbers also in accordance with IFRS for the fiscal year 2010.  
 
Main Differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS
The following key areas of difference have been identified between Canadian GAAP and the treatment under IFRS:

Loan impairment charges
Conexus’ Canadian GAAP practices regarding the specific loan allowance met the criteria for impaired loans and advances under IFRS; 
however, a key difference was that accrued interest on impaired loans and advances was recorded in interest income under IFRS, with 
an offsetting increase in the loan impairment charge.

Conexus’ Canadian GAAP methodology for calculating the general allowance was not allowed under IFRS. A new collective or non-
specific allowance was determined using a different methodology. This methodology utilized delinquency greater than 90 days as 
a loan loss trigger event. Historical write-offs and delinquencies greater than 90 days were also utilized in the determination of the 
collective loan allowance.

Securitization and syndications
All of Conexus’ securitization transactions did not achieve off-balance treatment under IFRS. This is due to the fact that these 
transactions either did not meet the derecognition criteria under IFRS, or instead met the criteria for consolidation under IFRS. 
Conexus’ syndication transactions did achieve off-balance sheet treatment under IFRS the same as Canadian GAAP.

Property, plant and equipment
IFRS required more componentization of property, plant and equipment. Conexus’ Canadian GAAP practices regarding property 
required the addition of more categories, resulting in an acceleration of amortization expense compared to Canadian GAAP.

Conexus obtained residual value appraisals on its significant properties. These appraisals did not result in any restatement of prior 
amortization expenses.

Impairment of assets
IFRS has stringent requirements for assessment of impairment of assets. A detailed checklist for each type of asset has been developed 
and will be used annually to assess impairment of each type of asset. An IFRS impairment assessment was completed for 2011 with no 
impairments identified.

Taxation
A ‘balance sheet’ approach to tax effect accounting is followed under IFRS. This approach recognizes deferred tax balances when there 
is a difference between the carrying value of an asset or liability and its tax base. Small changes in the levels of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities under IFRS occurred.

Regulatory guidance
CUDGC released guidance indicating that regulatory capital rules were to follow IFRS with the exception of certain grandfathering of 
securitization transactions. CUDGC disallowed increases in capital as a result of any opening adjustments for fair values of property, 
plant and equipment.

IFRS changes on transition in 2010 had little impact on the regulatory capital ratios at Conexus, with total eligible capital to risk-
weighted assets decreasing by 0.06% and the Tier 1 capital to total assets decreasing by 0.12%. Conexus continues to exceed CUDGC 
guidance for an adequately capitalized credit union under IFRS.   

IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
Conexus’ adoption of IFRS required the application of IFRS 1 which provides guidance for an entity’s initial adoption of IFRS. IFRS 1 
generally required that an entity apply all IFRS effective at the end of its first IFRS reporting period retrospectively. There are certain 
mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions to this rule. Conexus did not make any significant transition adjustments as a result of 
its selected options.
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Enterprise Risk Management 
Overview 

As a financial institution, Conexus is exposed to a variety of risks. An enterprise-wide risk management (ERM) approach is used for the 
identification, measurement and monitoring of risks. Conexus has implemented an ERM framework and actively manages its risks.

Risk Governance  

Risk governance includes setting the risk appetite and policy, determining an appropriate organizational structure and clearly defining 
authority and responsibility for risk decisions. Following are the groups and committees with authority and responsibility for risk 
decisions within Conexus.

Board of Directors
• Set strategy and high level objectives
• Approve risk policies and set risk appetite
• Know the extent to which effective Enterprise Risk Management has been established within the organization
• Be aware of significant risks and whether management has appropriately responded
• Review and assess the impact of business strategies, opportunities and initiatives on overall risk position

Audit and Risk Committee
• Monitor major risks and recommend acceptable risk levels to the board
• Review the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk management and compliance practices
• Provide oversight of external and internal audit functions

Executive Management
• The chief executive officer is ultimately responsible for Enterprise Risk Management, ensuring all components are in place
• Set objectives, policies and organizational structure, develop the risk philosophy and culture
• Ensure a supportive learning environment exists
• Ensure compliance with the risk appetite

ERM Department
• Act as a centralized co-ordinator to facilitate ERM
• Establish ERM policies, including defining roles and responsibilities and setting goals for implementation
• Promote ERM competence
• Periodically examine and evaluate the effectiveness of the ERM framework, track progress and report on best practices
• Co-ordinate the completion and documentation of Board and Operating policy and procedures
• Co-ordinate the strategic and operational planning process
• Oversee the insurance Risk Management Program  

Senior Management
• Responsible for managing risk related to their unit’s objectives
• Assume responsibility and accountability
• Integrate risk management into their department strategy and management practices
• Identify events, assess risks and effect risk responses 

Internal Audit, Compliance and ERM Departments
• Oversee enterprise-wide management of compliance throughout the organization
• Provide independent and objective assurance of control and soundness of operations to management and the Audit and Risk   
  Committee of the board
• Monitor compliance with policy and procedure and the adequacy of controls

Credit Management Department
• Establish credit policies and oversee credit risk management
• Monitor credit risk profile and risk exposures
• Monitor compliance with credit risk policies
• Approve high risk individual credit applications
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Asset Liability Committee (ALCO)
• Establish market and liquidity risk policies and oversee related programs and practices
• Monitor overall market and liquidity risk profile, key and emerging risk exposures and risk management activities
• Monitor compliance with market and liquidity risk policies
• Establish balance sheet operational strategies with a focus on achieving financial targets, managing market and liquidity risk   
 and optimizing the use of capital

Pricing Committee
• Establish pricing policies and tools
• Ensure policies facilitate appropriate return given the level of risk in individual accounts
• Monitor pricing decisions to ensure compliance to policy

Managers
• Consider risk as part of the decision making process
• Ensure there is appropriate risk management in their areas
• Make recommendations on control activities, monitor their application and report on function

Functional Advisors/Supervisors
• Provide support in shaping effective ERM components
• Ensure policy related advice and guidance is in line with corporate ERM and strategic objectives
• Identify and assess risk and the effectiveness of existing risk management practices
• Help design and implement tools for more effective risk management

All Employees
• Be aware of and pay attention to risk management issues
• Practice risk smart behaviour
• Consider limitations, key risk areas and understand the risks they can and cannot take
• Execute day-to-day activities in accordance with established directives and protocols

Risk identification, measurement and assessment

The ERM framework sets out how risks will be identified assessed and documented. The top risks that could impact Conexus are 
identified, rated, prioritized and mitigation plans are made. These risks are rated on the potential impact that they could have and the 
likelihood that they might occur.

Risks are rated to determine priority. Some have a tolerable risk level and are managed through normal procedures. The ones with a 
slightly higher risk level are watched closely. There are also risks that need to be strongly managed so we give them special attention 
and the board is regularly updated on them. If a risk had an intolerable risk level, an immediate emergency response would be 
required.

Risk monitoring and reporting

Current ERM reporting requirements are specified in board policy. Quarterly reports are provided to the Audit and Risk Committee. 
These reports provide updates on each of the significant risk categories and identify any concerns. In addition, an annual ERM report is 
provided to the full board of directors. This report includes risk details such as a listing of key risks, a risk map, as well as an evaluation 
of the ERM program by the vice-president enterprise risk management and planning. An independent evaluation is also completed by 
internal audit, external audit, and occasionally the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation.

Risk control and mitigation

Management implements policies and procedures to carry out risk responses and mitigation. Controls are used to manage risks. The 
Conexus ERM framework establishes that risk owners are generally responsible for controls. The ERM department reports on the 
adequacy of controls and the internal audit department tests, controls and reports on whether they are functioning as intended.

The executive team takes risks into consideration when creating the corporate plan and balanced scorecard. Key initiatives have been 
put in place to manage risk priorities.

Significant Risk Areas 

In addition to tracking individual key risks, analysis is done on six categories of risk that are significant to Conexus. Within each of 
these categories are various individual risks. 

Risk Assessment:  For each risk area an assessment is done of the inherent risk and the effectiveness of risk management controls. 
Inherent risk is the “raw”risk of the category if controls were not in place. It can be rated as low, moderate, above average or high. The 
effectiveness of risk management controls can be rated as satisfactory, needs improvement or inadequate.  
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A. Strategic Risk 

Strategic risk is the risk that business decisions or plans will be flawed and thus impact our ability to meet objectives. This risk can take 
the form of adverse business decisions, or ineffective or inappropriate business plans. It could also be a failure to respond to changes in 
the competitive environment, member preferences or product obsolescence. Products and services must be competitive and profitable 
and resources must be used appropriately in order for Conexus to be successful.

Key Strategic Risks
Strategic risk is inherent in providing products and services to consumers. The board direction and how it is translated into day-to-day 
activities must be compatible with what the member wants. 
 
The following are key strategic risks that have been identified at Conexus:

• Aging Membership Risk - The risk that an aging membership will impact the intergenerational transfer of wealth and result in  
 a potential loss of members for Conexus
• Competition Risk - The risk that actions of our competitors or new entrants to the market threaten competitive advantage
• Member Satisfaction Risk - The risk that a lack of appropriate focus on members needs and wants threatens our ability to meet  
 or exceed member expectations, resulting in poor member retention
• Technology Innovation Risk - The risk that Conexus is not leveraging or making the investment into advancements in   
 technology to achieve or sustain a competitive advantage in products, services and processes
• Geographic Dispersion Risk - The risk that the concentration of certain aspects of the business causes us to be overly    
 dependent on certain geographic markets
• Product Demand Risk - The risk that a scenario arises in which Conexus cannot meet the product demands of its members and  
 the company loses out on potential revenue 

Strategic Risk Management
Conexus has an ongoing strategic planning cycle, which includes planning sessions for the board and executive management. Strategic 
objectives, performance measures and key initiatives are identified and form part of the balanced scorecard which is communicated to 
all staff and used to measure organizational performance. Risk identification is part of Conexus’ operational planning process, to ensure 
that strategic risk identification is incorporated at all levels within the organization.

Current strategic risk is rated as above average and is little changed from last year. In 2012, strategic risk is expected to decrease given a 
new senior leadership team and a renewed focus on long-term planning.

B. Market Risk

Market risk is the exposure to potential loss from changes in market prices or rates. Losses can occur when values of assets and 
liabilities or revenues are adversely affected by changes in market conditions, such as interest rate or foreign exchange movements. 
At Conexus, market risk primarily arises from movements in interest rates and is caused specifically from timing differences in the re-
pricing of assets and liabilities, both on and off balance sheet.

Key Market Risks
The following key risks have been identified in this category:

• Financial Health/Economic Uncertainty Risk - The risk that economic factors beyond our control will have a negative impact   
 on financial results and/or the ability to achieve objectives
• Access to Capital - The risk of having limited access to diverse sources of capital from which to draw on in a short term   
 situation

Market Risk Management
Effective management of market risk includes documented policies which address roles and responsibilities, delegation of authority 
and limits, risk measurement and reporting, valuation and back testing, hedging policies and exception management.

Some elements of market risk management have been discussed in other parts of this report. Market risk exposure limits have been 
set in Conexus policy and methods of scenario and stress testing are carried out to determine if the limits are exceeded. The corporate 
finance department is responsible for reporting on and monitoring market risk, with oversight by the Asset Liability Committee. 
Corporate finance monitors market risk exposure by measuring the impact of interest rates on the financial position and earnings 
through a number of models and tests given various interest rate scenarios. Results are compared to policy and reported monthly to the 
Asset Liability Committee and quarterly to the board. Interest rate risk management includes the use of derivatives to exchange floating 
rate and fixed rate cash flows. 

Assessment of market risk at Conexus is above average, the same as in 2010. However, the risk trend is now decreasing. The 
implementation of the internal capital adequacy assessment process will improve the already satisfactory risk management in this 
category.
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C. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet obligations, such as liability maturities, deposit withdrawals, or funding loans without 
incurring unacceptable losses. Liquidity risk includes the inability to manage unplanned decreases or changes in funding sources.

Key Liquidity Risks
None of the risks identified in this category were rated in the top 10 for 2011.

Liquidity Risk Management
Conexus uses a variety of sources to fund operating requirements, such as: member deposits, cash and securities, lines of credit and 
corporate borrowings, sale of assets through securitization and syndication and provincial and national statutory liquidity programs. 
Some of these sources of funds are immediate and some require more long-term planning.

The assessment of liquidity risk is above average, the same as in 2010, and is expected to remain the same in 2012. Risk management 
processes are considered satisfactory.

D. Credit Risk

Credit risk is the loss of principal resulting from a borrower’s failure to repay a contractual credit obligation. Credit losses occur when 
the borrower fails to make contractual payments and the realizable value of security is less than the outstanding principle of the credit.

At Conexus, credit risk results primarily from our direct lending activities and to a lesser extent, our holdings of investment securities.

Key Credit Risks
Examples of individual risks identified in this category are; default risk, portfolio concentration risk, inadequate allowance risk and 
policy exceptions risk. 

The following key risk has been identified in this category: 

• The exposure to actual loss as a result of a default (or other failure to perform) by an economic or legal entity with which the   
 company does business causes a loss of revenue for the company

Credit Risk Management
Improvements have been made in credit risk management in 2011. The quarterly credit management reports are providing credit 
risk information in one report. In addition, better portfolio management has occurred. Portfolio management entails using a variety 
of strategies to achieve a target portfolio. The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) sets operating targets for loan growth and mix 
and recommends strategies to achieve these targets. A variety of appropriate strategies are used to achieve appropriate credit risk 
diversification and exposure including special pricing on specific loans, syndication and securitization. 

Compared to 2010 results, there has been a shift in the agriculture and commercial loan portfolio with an overall decrease in the credit 
risk rating.
 
The assessment of credit risk is above average, unchanged from the previous year. However, some of the metrics being tracked are 
showing decreasing risk trends. Credit risk is expected to remain above average in 2012 even with continued improvement in risk 
management practices.  

E. Legal & Regulatory Risk

Legal and Regulatory risk is the risk arising from potential violations of, or nonconformance with laws, rules, regulations, prescribed 
practices or ethical standards. 

Key Legal &Regulatory Risks
As a financial institution Conexus operates in a heavily regulated environment.  

As a business operating within Saskatchewan, we are also subject to all provincial and federal legislation applicable to our operations, 
such as labour and anti-money laundering laws. 

None of the risks identified in this category have been assessed as key risks. 

Legal & Regulatory Risk Management
Policy and procedures, along with awareness, aid in complying with laws and regulations. A corporate compliance department is in 
place at Conexus that maintains risk oversight and co-ordinates reporting to the board. Operational compliance employees are in place 
in some specialized areas of Conexus.
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All specialized departments, (wealth management, credit, finance and retail) are knowledgeable in the specific regulations applicable to 
their areas, and where required, third party expertise is consulted to ensure sound decision making.
 
Employees are responsible for compliance within their scope of responsibilities. Mandatory training for regulatory requirements is in 
place. 

Potential legislative changes currently being watched include the following: Privacy Act Amendments, Anti-Spam Fighting Internet 
and Wireless Spam Act (FISA), Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA), Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist 
Financing Regulations Amendments. Effective dates and operational impacts are unknown at this time.  

The risk of Conexus being non-compliant with its legal and regulatory requirements or materially failing to meet regulator expectations 
for the appropriate management of compliance risk remains materially unchanged from last year. 
 
Risk management practices are considered satisfactory.  

F. Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or external events. 
Exposures to this risk arise from deficiencies in internal controls, technology failures, human error, employee integrity or natural 
disasters. 

Key Operational Risks
At Conexus, operational risk exists in all products and services and our delivery of them, including supporting back office processes 
and systems.

Conexus categorizes its operating risk into three main areas; people, systems, and processes. People, refers to our human resources 
and includes risks such as the ability to attract and retain appropriate talent. Systems, addresses technology and our reliance on it, 
encompassing such risks as a security breach or failure of a critical system for an extended period. Processes, are the way we do things 
and include risks such as inaccurate policy or procedures. 

The key risks identified in this category are:  
• Infrastructure Risk - The risk that Conexus does not have the information and technology infrastructure (e.g. hardware,   
 networks, software, people and processes) it needs to effectively protect/support the current and future information    
 requirements of the business in an efficient, cost-effective and well-controlled fashion 
• Performance Gap Risk - The risk to our performance suffers in terms of quality, cost and/or cycle time due to inferior operating   
 practices 
• Shortage of Skilled Labour - The risk that we are unable to find people with required skills

Operational Risk Management
Operational risk is managed through the use of preventative controls including, policies and procedures, control and monitoring. 
Control and monitoring involves segregation of duties, employee training, performance management and a structured internal audit 
program. Other mitigation includes business continuity planning, appropriate insurance coverage and secure technology solutions.

This risk category has been assessed as high, the same as 2010. This is due to anticipated changes to processes and systems and the 
potential impact on employees of these changes. In 2012, expectations are that this risk will decrease to an above average level. Risk 
management for operational risk is rated as needs improvement. 
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
Conexus Credit Union were prepared by management, which 
is responsible for the integrity and fairness of the information 
presented, including the many accounts that must of necessity 
be based on estimates and judgments. These consolidated 
financial statements were prepared in accordance with the 
financial reporting requirements prescribed by The Credit 
Union Act, 1998 of the Province of Saskatchewan, Credit Union 
Deposit Guarantee Corporation and by statute. The accounting 
policies followed in the preparation of these financial statements 
conform to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  
Financial and operating data elsewhere in the annual report are 
consistent with the information contained in the consolidated 
financial statements.

In discharging our responsibility for the integrity and fairness 
of the consolidated financial statements and for the accounting 
systems from which they are derived, we maintain the necessary 
system of internal controls designed to ensure that transactions 
are authorized, assets are safeguarded and proper records are 
maintained. These controls include quality standards in hiring 
and training of employees, policy and procedure manuals, a 
corporate code of conduct and accountability for performance 
within appropriate and well-defined areas of responsibility.

The system of internal controls is further supported by a 
compliance function, which is designed to ensure that we and 
our employees comply with the appropriate legislation and 
conflict of interest rules, and by an internal audit staff, which 
conducts periodic audits of all aspects of our operations.

Eric Dillon
Chief Executive Officer

Ken Shaw
Chief Financial Officer

The board of directors oversees management’s responsibilities 
for financial reporting through an Audit and Risk Committee, 
which is composed entirely of independent directors. This 
Committee reviews our consolidated financial statements 
and recommends them to the board for approval. Other key 
responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee include 
reviewing our existing internal control procedures and planned 
revisions to those procedures, and advising the directors on 
auditing matters and financial reporting issues. Our chief 
internal auditor has full and unrestricted access to the Audit 
Committee.

Further monitoring of financial performance and reporting is 
carried out by the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation. 
It is given its responsibilities and powers by provincial statute 
through The Credit Union Act, 1998. Its purpose is to guarantee 
members’ funds on deposit with Saskatchewan credit unions 
and provide preventative services.  Preventative services 
include ongoing financial monitoring, regular reporting and 
consultation.

Deloitte & Touche LLP Chartered Accountants appointed by the 
members of Conexus Credit Union upon the recommendation 
of the Audit and Risk Committee and board, have performed 
an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements 
and their report follows. The auditors have full and unrestricted 
access to the Audit and Risk Committee to discuss their related 
findings. 
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whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our 
audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Conexus 
Credit Union 2006 and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2011, 
December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 and their financial 
performance and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 
2011 and December 31, 2010 in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
 

Chartered Accountants
Regina, Saskatchewan
February 24, 2012

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Members of
Conexus Credit Union 2006

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements of Conexus Credit Union 2006 and its subsidiaries, 
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position 
as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 
and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, 
changes in equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 
31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, 
and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.  

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 
financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our 
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
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APPROVED BY THE BOARD:

       
 

 Randy Grimsrud, Director  Ed Gebert, Director
   
 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(In thousands of CDN $)
As at December 31, 2011

Note 2011 2010 (1) January 1, 2010 (1)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents          3          114,766 110,132 70,159
Prepayments and other receivables 4 10,674 13,554 13,181
Current tax assets – 2,861 2,505

Derivative financial instruments 5 3,449 4,484 4,815
Investment securities - fair value through profit or loss 6 105,258 120,642 325,860
Investment securities - available-for-sale 6 316,932 225,691 92,720
Investment securities - held-to-maturity 6 56,559 49,589 52,584
Investment securities - loans and receivables 6 733 712 777
Investment securities - equity method 6 803 469 367
Loans and advances 7, 8 3,159,491 2,981,887 2,732,666
Property, plant and equipment 10 39,974 40,431 37,006
Intangible assets 11 4,178 15,942 10,326
Deferred tax assets 22 4,093 411 1,342
Total assets 3,816,910 3,566,805 3,344,308

Liabilities

Loans payable 12 – 1,007 –
Derivative financial instruments 5 6,967 5,706 6,067
Secured debt 9 268,116 246,114 214,526
Deposits 13 3,227,745 3,011,327 2,852,749
Current tax liabilities 2,143 2,036 (39)
Deferred tax liabilities 22 32 226 178
Membership shares and member equity accounts 14 23,366 23,070 21,547
Other liabilities 15 24,899 38,058 33,871
Liabilities from discontinued operations 32 21 – –
Total liabilities 3,553,289 3,327,544 3,128,899

Members’ equity

Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,646 614 (30)

Retained earnings 261,975 238,647 215,439
Total members’ equity 263,621 239,261 215,409
Total liabilities and members’ equity 3,816,910 3,566,805 3,344,308
(1) Refer to Note 33 for impacts of adoption to IFRS

See Accompanying Notes
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Note 2011 2010 (1)

Interest income 18 163,767 154,325
Interest expense 18 50,556 56,358
Net interest income 18 113,211 97,967
Loan impairment charges 8 7,106 7,508
Net interest income after impairment charges 106,105 90,459

Non-interest income 19 35,687 36,173
141,792 126,632

Non-interest expense

General business 20 49,920 29,066
Occupancy 20 7,892 7,588
Organizational 20 1,931 1,957
Personnel 20 58,451 58,253
Member Security 20 2,972 2,818

121,166 99,682

Profit from continuing operations before income tax 20,626 26,950

Income tax expense 22 948 4,339
Profit for the year from continuing operations 19,678 22,611

Profit for the year from discontinued operations, net of tax 32 339 597
Profit for the year 20,017 23,208

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
 Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial assets 1,322 645
 Net reclassification adjustments for realized net (gains) losses (290) (1)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 1,032 644

Total comprehensive income for the year 21,049 23,852
(1) Refer to Note 33 for impacts of adoption to IFRS

See Accompanying Notes

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(In thousands of CDN $)
For the year ended December 31, 2011
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
(In thousands of CDN $)
As at December 31, 2011

Unrealized gains (losses) 
available-for-sale 
financial assets (1)

Retained 
earnings (1)

Total 
equity (1)

Balance at January 1, 2010 (30) 215,439 215,409

Profit for the year – 23,208 23,208

Other comprehensive income:
 Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial  
  assets, net of tax

644 – 644

Total other comprehensive income for the year 644 23,208 23,852

Balance at December 31, 2010 614 238,647 239,261
(1) Refer to Note 33 for impacts of adoption to IFRS

Unrealized gains (losses) 
available-for-sale 

financial assets
Retained 
earnings

Total 
equity

Balance at January 1, 2011 614 238,647 239,261

Profit for the year – 20,017 20,017

Other comprehensive income:
 Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial  
  assets, net of tax

1,032 – 1,032

Acquisition through business combination (Note 17) – 3,311 3,311
Total other comprehensive income for the year 1,032 23,328 24,360

Balance at December 31, 2011 1,646 261,975 263,621
See Accompanying Notes
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Note 2011 2010 (1)

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities  

Profit for the year 20,017 23,208
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Amortization of plant and equipment 10 4,415 3,874
Amortization of intangible assets 11 2,167 2,075
Impairment on property, plant and equipment 10 866 –
Impairment on intangible assets 11 15,865 –
(Gain) Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (356) 77
Loss on disposal of intangible assets 398 –
Loan impairment charges 8 7,106 7,508
Net interest income 18 (113,211) (97,967)
Dividends on investment securities 19 (2,461) (4,650)
Unrealized and realized losses (gains) on investment securities 19 (491) 593
(Income) loss from investment securities - equity method 19 (802) (468)
Income tax expense 22 981 4,494

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Loans and advances 7 (190,180) (252,986)
Secured debt 9 22,002 31,588
Deposits    13 217,805 162,955
Derivative financial assets 5 1,035 331
Derivative financial liabilities 5 1,261 (361)
Prepayment and other receivables 4 4,090 (745)
Other liabilities 15 (13,262) 4,187
Other non-cash operating items (926) (297)
Interest received 161,070 142,613
Interest paid (51,943) (60,735)
Income tax paid (1,861) (1,541)

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities 83,585 (36,247)

Cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities  

Interest received 7,592 8,740
Dividends received 19 2,461 4,650
Volume bonus and dividend received from equity method investment 6 468 365
Cash received from acquisition of ACE 17 800 –
Purchases of investment securities (498,977) (330,595)
Proceeds on sale of investment securities 420,523 405,736
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10 (5,505) (7,376)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,089 –
Purchase of intangible assets 11 (6,626) (7,691)

Cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities (78,175) 73,829

Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities  

Increase in borrowings, net of repayments 12 (1,138) 1,007
Membership shares allocated on basis of patronage 14 1,281 3,004
Membership shares redeemed 14 (985) (1,481)

Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities (842) 2,530
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year 4,568 40,112
Net foreign exchange difference on cash held 66 (139)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 3 110,132 70,159
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 3 114,766 110,132
(1) Refer to Note 33 for impacts of adoption to IFRS

See Accompanying Notes

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(In thousands of CDN $)
For the year ended December 31, 2011
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of CDN $)
For the year ended December 31, 2011

1. INCORPORATION AND GOVERNING LEGISLATION

 Conexus Credit Union 2006 (the Credit Union), was established and continued pursuant to The Credit Union Act, 1998 of 
the Province of Saskatchewan. The Credit Union serves members and non-members in the Province of Saskatchewan. 
The address of the Credit Union’s registered office is 1960 Albert Street, Regina, Saskatchewan, Canada.  

 
Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC) is the primary regulator for Saskatchewan credit unions. 
CUDGC is given its mandate through provincial legislation, The Credit Union Act, 1998, for the main purpose of 
guaranteeing the full repayment of deposits held in Saskatchewan credit unions. Since 1953, CUDGC has successfully 
met its obligations. CUDGC establishes standards of sound business practice that are aligned with federal and 
international regulatory approaches, and monitors credit unions to ensure they are operating according to those 
standards.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 Basis of preparation
 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable governing legislation for 

each entity, which conform in all material respects to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  

 
 The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 were authorized for issue by the board of 

directors on February 24, 2012.

 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for derivative financial 
instruments, investment securities at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale, which have been measured 
at fair value. The methods to measure fair value are presented in Note 26.

 The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars (CDN $) and have been rounded to the nearest 
thousand, unless stated otherwise.

 Use of estimates and key judgments
 The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, 
actual results may differ from those estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future 
periods affected.

 The most significant uses of judgments and estimates are as follows:

 Valuation of financial instruments
 The Credit Union determines the fair value of financial instruments for which there is no observable market price using 

a variety of valuation techniques in Note 26. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where 
possible, but where observable market data is not available, judgment is required to establish fair values. The judgments 
include consideration of liquidity, future cash flows, current market yields and other risks affecting the specific 
instrument.

 Determination of allowance for credit losses
 The individual allowance component of the total allowance for impairment applies to financial assets evaluated 

individually for impairment.  In particular, management judgment is required in the estimate of the amount and timing 
of the cash flows the Credit Union expects to receive. These estimates are based on a number of factors, including the net 
realizable value of the underlying collateral.

 The collective allowance component covers credit losses in portfolios of loans with similar credit risk characteristics 
when there is objective evidence to suggest that a loss has been incurred but the individual impaired items cannot yet be 
identified. In assessing the collective allowance, management considers historical averages for write-offs, greater than 90 
days delinquencies and portfolio balances. Current delinquencies greater than 90 days are used as the loss trigger event.  

 See the impairment of loans and advances under the significant accounting policies contained in this note for further 
discussion of allowance for credit losses.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of CDN $)
For the year ended December 31, 2011
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 Securitization derecognition
 The determination of whether the Credit Union’s securitization arrangements qualify for derecognition requires 

management judgment on the evaluation of the criteria for derecognition. For further discussion of derecognition of 
securitized assets refer to the securitization heading and related discussion contained in this note.

 Consolidation of special purpose entities
 The determination of control for purposes of consolidation requires management judgment on the definition of control.  

For further discussion of consolidation refer to the heading basis of consolidation contained in this note.

 Useful lives of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets
 Estimates must be utilized in evaluating the useful lives of all property, plant, equipment and intangible assets for 

calculation of the amortization for each class of assets. For further discussion of the estimation of useful lives, refer to the 
heading property, plant and equipment and intangible assets contained in this note.

 
 The significant accounting policies adopted by the Credit Union follow:  
 
 Basis of consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements contain the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of subsidiaries after eliminating 

inter-company transactions and balances, including certain special purpose entities.  
 
 Investment securities, in which the Credit Union does not control, but exercises significant influence, are accounted for 

using the equity method.  Under this method, the Credit Union records its initial investment at cost and then records 
its equity share of any net income or loss. Dividends received are recorded as a reduction of the investment, which is 
included in investment securities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.     

	 Special purpose entities (SPEs) are consolidated when the substance of the relationship between the Credit Union 
and the SPE indicates control. SPEs are entities that have been created primarily for the purpose of securitization of 
certain financial assets.  The following circumstances may indicate a relationship in which the Credit Union controls, in 
substance, and consequently consolidates a SPE: 

 • The activities of the SPE are being conducted on behalf of the Credit Union according to its specific business  
  needs so that the Credit Union obtains benefits from the SPE’s operations.

 • The Credit Union has decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the benefits of the activities of the SPE  
  or, by setting up an ‘autopilot’ mechanism, the Credit Union has delegated these decision-making powers.

 • The Credit Union has the right to obtain the majority of benefits of the SPE and therefore may be exposed to risks  
  incident to the activities of the SPE.

 • The Credit Union retains the majority of the residual risks related to the SPE or its assets in order to obtain  
  benefits from its activities. 

 Whenever there is a change in the substance of the relationship between the Credit Union and the SPE, the Credit Union 
performs a re-assessment of consolidation. The Credit Union’s involvement with SPEs is detailed in Note 9.

 Included in the consolidated financial statements are the following entities:
 
 Subsidiaries
 The Credit Union has 100% interest in CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd., CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd., 

Conexus Insurance Ltd. and Protexus Holdings Corp. In 2011, the Credit Union entered into four sale agreements to sell 
the assets of CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd.; details of the sale are provided in Note 32.  

 



Consolidated Financial Statements  •  Annual Report  •  2011      53

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of CDN $)
For the year ended December 31, 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 Significant influence investments
 The Credit Union has a 40% ownership in CU Dealer Finance Corp and a 33.33% ownership in Apex General Partnership.

 Special purpose entities
 The Credit Union has determined that Pivot Trust is a SPE that the Credit Union controls, in substance, and therefore consolidates. 
  

Significant accounting changes  
  
International Financial Reporting Standards

 For all periods up to and including the year ended December 31, 2010, the Credit Union prepared its financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (CGAAP). These financial statements, for the year ended 
December 31, 2011, are the first the Credit Union has prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied. An explanation of how the 
transition to IFRS has affected the reported financial position and financial performance of the Credit Union  is provided in   
Note 33.

 
 Classification and measurement of financial instruments
 The accounting standards for financial instruments require that all financial assets and liabilities be classified according to their 

characteristics, management intentions or the choice of category in certain circumstances.  Financial assets can be classified 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), held-for-trading (HFT), held-to-maturity (HTM), available-for-
sale (AFS) or as loans and receivables (LR).  Financial liabilities can be classified as financial liabilities at FVTPL or as financial 
liabilities measured at amortized cost. Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized on the trade date at fair value plus 
transaction costs. Financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method 
for determination of carrying amounts or at fair value based on the classification choice made. 

 
 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of 

allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on point paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or when 
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.

  
Although the standard allows any financial instrument to be irrevocably designated as FVTPL, Credit Union Deposit Guarantee 
Corporation (CUDGC), the Credit Union’s regulator, has issued guidelines limiting the circumstances under which this option may 
be used. The Credit Union may use this option providing that: management of these financial instruments is in accordance with a 
documented risk management strategy; and if the fair values are reliable.  

  
The Credit Union classifies fair value measurements recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position using a three-
tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows: 

  • Level 1: Valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
  • Level 2: Valuations based on inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset or    

  liability, either directly or indirectly; or
  • Level 3: Valuations based on unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the Credit   

  Union to develop its own assumptions.  

 Fair value measurements are classified in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to that fair 
value measurement. This assessment requires judgment, considering factors specific to an asset or a liability and may affect 
placement within the fair value hierarchy.

 
 Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, deposits at call and other short-term highly liquid investments with original 

maturities of three months or less. They are subject to insignificant risk of changes in fair value and are used by the Credit Union in 
the management of its short-term commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are classified as FVTPL. Due to their short-term nature, 
the recorded amounts of cash and cash equivalents are considered to be the fair value.  

 Prepayments and other receivables
 Prepayments and certain other receivables are classified as non financial instruments and initially recorded at consideration 

received or amounts due. Subsequently, they are measured at consideration remaining or amounts due, less any impairment 
losses. Other receivables that are financial instruments are classified as LR and initially recorded at fair value. Subsequently, they 
are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.    
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 Derivative financial instruments 
 Derivative financial instruments are financial contracts whose values are derived from an underlying interest rate, foreign 

exchange rate, equity, commodity instrument or index. In the ordinary course of business, the Credit Union enters into derivative 
transactions for asset/liability management purposes.  Such derivatives include contracts that reposition the Credit Union’s interest 
rate risk profile and hedge agreements with Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan to offset exposure to indices associated with 
index-linked deposit products.

 The Credit Union has chosen not to use hedge accounting; therefore, all derivatives are classified as HFT and are recorded at fair 
value in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Unrealized and realized gains and losses are recognized as non-interest 
income in the current period. Derivative financial instruments with a positive fair value are reported as assets and derivative 
financial instruments with a negative fair value are reported as liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

 
 When available, quoted market prices are used to determine the fair value of derivative financial instruments.  Otherwise, fair 

value is determined using pricing models that consider current market prices and the contractual prices of underlying instruments, 
the time value of money, yield curves, volatility and credit risk factors. 

  
An embedded derivative is a feature within a contract that causes a modification to the cash flows in response to a change in 
a specified interest rate, foreign currency rate, price or an index of rates or prices. The Credit Union bifurcates an embedded 
derivative from the host contract if the host contract is not classified as FVTPL or HFT or if the embedded derivative and the host 
contract are not closely related. This embedded derivative is then classified as HFT and accounted for the same as other derivatives 
above.  

 Further details on derivatives are provided in Note 5.  
 
 Investment securities
  

Fair value through profit or loss
 Investment securities classified as financial assets at FVTPL are designated as such upon initial recognition. These investment 

securities are designated as FVTPL if the Credit Union manages such investment securities and makes purchases and sales 
decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Credit Union’s documented risk management or investment strategy. 
Upon initial recognition attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. In subsequent periods, these 
investment securities are measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses recognized in non-interest income on the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 Available-for-sale
 Investment securities that are not classified as FVTPL or HTM, are classified as AFS. The Credit Union’s equity investments and 

certain debt securities classified as AFS are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and may be sold in response to 
needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the marketplace.  Subsequent to initial recognition, these investment securities 
are measured at fair value, with any unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI). When an 
investment security is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss in OCI is transferred to profit or loss. The Credit Union reviews 
AFS investment securities for impairment and when declines in fair value are deemed to be other than temporary the investment 
securities would then be measured at net realizable value. These permanent impairment losses are recorded in net interest income 
on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 Held-to-maturity
 Investment securities classified as HTM are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Credit 

Union has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition these investment securities are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method, unless there is a permanent decline in value, in which case the investment 
securities would then be measured at net realizable value.   

 Equity method 
 Equity accounted investment securities are entities which the Credit Union has significant influence, but not control, over the 

financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Credit Union holds between 20 and 50 percent 
of the voting power of another entity.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of CDN $)
For the year ended December 31, 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 

 Equity accounted investment securities are accounted for using the equity method and are recognized initially at cost. The 
Credit Union’s share of these entities’ profits or losses is recognized in non-interest income on the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

 For summarized financial information on the Credit Union’s equity accounted investment securities, see Note 6.
 
 Loans and receivables
 Investment securities classified as LR are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market. Subsequent to initial recognition these investment securities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, unless there is a permanent decline in value, in which case they would be measured at net realizable value.

 
 Loans and advances 
 Loans and advances (loans) are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans 

the Credit Union does not intend to sell immediately or in the near future are classified as LR.
 
 Loans are initially recognized at fair value which is the cash consideration to originate or purchase the loan including any 

transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for 
impairment plus accrued interest. Interest on loans is reported as interest income in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 
 
Foreclosed assets held for resale are initially recorded at the lower of the investment recorded in the impaired loan and its 
estimated net realizable value. Subsequently, they are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
Items in foreclosed assets typically include: commercial buildings and properties, agricultural land or equipment, residential 
mortgages and vehicles. Foreclosed assets are considered to be assets held in the course of realization of impaired loans. The 
Credit Union aims to sell foreclosed properties as soon as they can be made ready for sale. Properties are typically not used in the 
operations of the Credit Union.

 Impairment of loans and advances
 All loans are subject to a continuous management review process to assess whether there is objective evidence that a loan or group 

of loans is impaired. Impairment of a loan is recognized when objective evidence is available that a loss event has occurred after 
the initial recognition of the loan and has an impact on the estimated future cash flows.  

 
 The Credit Union first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for loans that are individually 

significant or meet default criteria outlined in board approved policy. If the Credit Union determines that no objective evidence 
of impairment exists for an individually assessed loan, it includes the loan in a portfolio of loans with similar risk profiles and 
collectively assesses them for impairment. Loans that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss 
is or continues to be recognized are not included in the collective assessment of impairment.  

 The amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of future cash 
flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate. When management cannot reasonably determine the loan’s future 
cash flows, it estimates the recoverable amount as the current market value of the loan’s collateral net of expected selling costs. The 
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in loan impairment 
charges in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying 
amount and is recorded in interest income on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

 The collective impairment is based on a portfolio of loans with similar credit risk characteristics and estimated on the basis of 
average historical loss experience. The loss trigger event in determining the collective allowance is loans delinquent in excess of 90 
days. Historical loss experiences are correlated to the loss trigger events by aggregated loan portfolios. A loan loss factor for each 
loan portfolio was determined based on a 10 year average of historical write-offs and loan delinquencies greater than 90 days when 
available. The loan loss factor in addition to the current loan portfolio balances and related delinquencies greater than 90 days 
are used to calculate the collective impairment. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating collective impairment are 
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

 When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. Such loans are written off when 
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized or has been transferred to the Credit Union.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance 
account to a maximum of the original carrying value. The amount of the reversal is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 Restructured Loans
 Restructured loans are loans greater than 90 days delinquent that have been restructured outside the Credit Union’s normal 

lending practices as it relates to extensions, amendments and consolidations. Management continually reviews restructured loans 
to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur.

 
 Securitization
 The Credit Union securitizes groups of assets by transferring them to a third party or special purpose entity (SPE) primarily to 

create liquidity for the Credit Union. All loans securitized by the Credit Union have been on a fully serviced basis.  The Credit 
Union considers both the degree of transfer of risk and rewards on assets transferred to another entity and the degree of control 
exercised by the Credit Union over the other entity: 

 • When the Credit Union, in substance, controls the SPE to which financial assets have been transferred, the SPE is   
  included in the consolidated financial statements and the transferred assets are recognized in the Credit Union’s   
  Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
 • When the Credit Union transfers financial assets to an unconsolidated entity and it retains substantially all of the risk   
  and rewards relating to the transferred financial assets, the transferred assets and associated liability for the  
  consideration received are recognized in the Credit Union’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The associated  
  liability, secured by the transferred assets, is carried at amortized cost.    
 • When the Credit Union transfers substantially all the risks and rewards relating to the transferred financial assets to an  
  unconsolidated entity, the assets are derecognized from the Credit Union’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  
  The Credit Union generally retains an interest in the transferred assets such as servicing rights and various forms of  
  recourse including rights to excess spread and credit enhancements. Retained interests are classified as AFS investment  
  securities and carried at fair value. Gains or losses on securitization depend in part on the carrying amount of the  
  transferred financial assets, allocated between the financial assets derecognized and the retained interests based on  
  their relative fair values at the date of transfer. Changes in fair value of gains and losses deemed to be temporary are  
  recorded in other comprehensive income and those deemed to be other than temporary are recorded in non-interest  
  income. A service liability is recorded at fair value and is amortized to non-interest income over the term of the  
  transferred assets.
 
 Transaction costs incurred in the establishment of a securitization issuance that does not qualify for derecognition are amortized 

using the effective interest method over the expected life of the transferred assets.  In addition, the Credit Union receives residual 
income from the securitization programs once all associated costs have been met. The residual income is recognized in net 
interest income on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Transaction costs incurred in the establishment of a 
securitization issuance that does qualify for derecognition are expensed as incurred.

 
 Details of the transfer of financial assets to third parties and/or SPE’s are disclosed in Note 9.
 
 Syndication 

The Credit Union syndicates groups of assets with various other financial institutions primarily to create liquidity and manage 
regulatory capital for the Credit Union. Syndicated loans transfer substantially all the risks and rewards related to the transferred 
financial assets and are derecognized from the Credit Union’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. All loans syndicated 
by the Credit Union have been on a fully serviced basis. The Credit Union receives fee income for services provided in the 
servicing of the transferred financial assets. Fee income is recognized in non-interest income on an accrual basis in relation to the 
reporting period in which the costs of providing the services are incurred.  

 
 *Wealth management services
 The Credit Union offers members access to a wide variety of investments through Credential Asset Management Inc., Credential 

Securities Inc., Credential Direct® and Credential Financial Strategies Inc. Assets under administration are recorded separately 
from the Credit Union’s assets and are not included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. As at December 31, 2011, 
funds managed totaled $550,769 (2010 - $548,907).   
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 Property, plant and equipment 
 Land is measured at cost. Other items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and 

impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  

 Land is not amortized. Amortization of other items of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method 
to write down the cost of the assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. When parts of an item of property, 
plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant 
and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
 

Buildings 10 to 40 years
Computer equipment 4 to 5 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements 5 to 10 years

 Amortization of property, plant and equipment is included under either general business expense or occupancy expense on the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. The assets’ residual values are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate. 
Assets are reviewed annually for impairment or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.

 Gains and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the net proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset. These are included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year of disposal. 
 
Intangible assets

 The Credit Union has intangible assets consisting of franchise fees, customer lists obtained from the purchase of subsidiaries and 
software. Franchise fees, customer lists and software are reported at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is calculated 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the related intangible asset as follows:

 
Franchise fees 10 to 20 years
Customer lists 10 to 20 years
Software 3 years

 Amortization of intangible assets is included under general business expense on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Intangible assets are tested at least annually for impairment or when conditions exist which indicate impairment.

 
 Income taxes
 The Credit Union accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, the provision for income 

taxes is calculated based on income tax laws and rates enacted and substantively enacted as at the balance sheet date. The income 
tax provision is comprised of current income taxes and  deferred income taxes. Current income taxes are amounts expected to be 
payable or recoverable as a result of current year operations. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities arise from changes during 
the year in temporary differences between the accounting and tax basis of assets and liabilities. A deferred income tax asset is 
recognized to the extent that the benefit of losses and deductions available to be carried forward to future years for tax purposes 
are probable. 
 
Impairment of assets

 The Credit Union assesses impairment of all assets with the exception of FVTPL assets at the end of each reporting period.  An 
impairment checklist which checks for impairment indicators is completed for each type of similar asset. If an impairment 
indicator is found to exist, further investigation is performed to determine the level of impairment.  Any impairments determined 
are recorded as a decrease to the related asset on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and a corresponding expense on 
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 The amount of the impairment loss may decrease in a subsequent period. If this decrease can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit and 
loss except in the case of AFS equity instruments. The impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost or carrying value would have been 
had the impairment not been recognized. Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired AFS equity instruments is 
recognized in OCI.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of CDN $)
For the year ended December 31, 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 Business combinations
 Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. For every business combination, an acquirer 

is identified, which is the combining entity that obtains control of the other combining entity or business. The effective date of the 
business combination is the date the acquirer gains control of the acquired entity.  

 
The identifiable assets (including previously unrecognized intangible assets) and identifiable liabilities (including contingent 
liabilities but excluding future restructuring costs) of the acquired entity are measured at fair value. The excess of the consideration 
transferred over the fair values of the identifiable net assets is recognized as goodwill. If the consideration transferred is less 
than the fair values of the net assets acquired, the discount on acquisition is recognized directly in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the year of acquisition.

 Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for 
impairment annually, or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.  

 The transaction costs incurred for a business combination, such as legal fees, due diligence fees and other professional consulting 
fees are expensed as incurred.

 Discontinued operations
 A discontinued operation is a component of the Credit Union’s business that represents a separate major line of business that has 

been disposed of or is held for sale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets 
the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is represented as if the 
operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative period.

 Other financial liabilities
 Loans payable, secured debt, deposits, membership shares and member equity accounts and certain other liabilities are initially 

recognized at fair value which is the consideration received net of any transaction costs.  Subsequently other liabilities are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  

 
 Short-term employee benefits
 Liabilities are recorded for employee benefits including salaries and wages, statutory payroll contributions, paid annual vacation 

leave and bonuses that are expected to be settled within 12 months of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date. These 
represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services provided to the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date 
and are included in other liabilities. The expected cost of bonus payments is recognized as a liability when the Credit Union has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to pay as a result of past events and the obligation can be reliably estimated.

 Provisions
Provisions are recognized when:  

• The Credit Union has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; 
• It is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
• A reliable estimate can be made of the amount.  
 

 Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market conditions 
and risks specific to the liability and are recorded as liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  and 
corresponding expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

 
 Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
 Any assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange at the 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date. All differences arising on the translation are recorded in non-interest income on 
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 Recognition of income 
  

Interest income
 Interest income arising from loans and investment securities is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 

Income using the effective interest method. Interest income continues to be recognized for financial instruments that have become 
impaired. Management subsequently assesses and determines if the interest is collectible through their impairment of loans and 
investment securities processes.

 
Loan origination income such as application fees, processing fees, search fees, disbursement fees, renewal fees, credit check fees, 
registration fees, personal property security registration fees and amendment fees is deferred and recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as an increase in interest income on a yield basis over the expected life of the related loans. 
Loan origination expenses such as mortgage acquisition costs and referral incentives paid are also deferred and recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as a decrease in interest income on a yield basis over the expected life of the 
related loans. The balance outstanding of the deferred origination income (expense) is recognized on the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position as a decrease (increase) in the value of loans.  

  
Non-interest income

  
Fee and commission income

 Fees, other than loan origination fees, are recognized as non-interest income in the year the related service is provided. These fees 
include annual review fees, payment deferral fees, mortgage prepayment bonus fees, letter of credit fees, small business loans fees 
and outgoing mortgage transfer fees.   
 
When the Credit Union acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a transaction, the income recognized is the 
amount of commission paid to the Credit Union.  

 
Derivative income

 Derivative interest income and expenses are calculated on an accrual basis at fair value and the net amount is recorded in non-
interest income as unrealized and realized gains and losses on derivative financial instruments.

  
Investment security income

 For investment securities classified as FVTPL, increases and decreases in fair values are recorded in non-interest income as 
unrealized gains and losses on investment securities. Realized investment securities gains and losses are recorded when the 
related investment securities are sold. These amounts are recorded in non-interest income on the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.   
 

 For investment securities classified as AFS, unrealized gains and losses resulting from temporary changes in fair values are 
recorded, net of taxes, in other comprehensive income. Fair value declines that are other than temporary are moved from other 
comprehensive income into non-interest income. Gains and losses on these investment securities are recognized in non-interest 
income when sold.   

 For investment securities classified as HTM, gains and losses on these investment securities are recognized at the time of maturity 
in non-interest income.         

 Dividend income
 Dividend income is recognized in non-interest income when the dividend is declared.
 

Income from investment securities - equity method 
 The Credit Union’s share of the profit and loss of CU Dealer Finance Corp. and Apex General Partnership is recognized in non-

interest income. CU Dealer Finance Corp.  income is distributed based on the volume of loans processed  as outlined in the 
shareholder agreement. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign exchange revenue 
 Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the 

transaction dates.  Realized gains and losses resulting from translation are recorded in non-interest income on the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

 
The Credit Union offers  currency exchange services and receives income based on the spread between the buy currency exchange 
rate and the sell currency exchange rate. The income is recorded as non-interest income on the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income when transactions are completed. 

  
*Wealth management income

 The Credit Union offers members access to a wide variety of investments and services through Credential Asset Management 
Inc., Credential Securities Inc., Credential Direct® and Credential Financial Strategies Inc. The Credit Union receives commission 
income based on the volume of business with each of these companies. These commissions are recognized as non-interest income 
when earned.  

 Other non-interest income
 Other non-interest income is recognized on the accrual basis in the fiscal period in which it is earned.   

 
Recognition of expenses

  
Interest expense

 Interest expense arising from deposits and interest bearing liabilities is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income using the effective interest method.

 
Patronage allocations are recognized as interest expense on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and are 
allocated based on interest paid and received by members in the associated year.

 
 Non-interest expenses
  

Occupancy expenses
 Payments made under operating leases (rent) are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and 

expensed over the term of the lease.  
 

Transaction costs
 Transaction costs relating to AFS assets and FVTPL assets or liabilities are recorded as expenses in the Consolidated Statement of 

Comprehensive Income as they are incurred.   
 
 Transaction costs relating to HTM assets and other liabilities are included in the determination of amortized cost using the effective 

interest method.  
 

Other non-interest expenses
 Other non-interest expenses are recognized on the accrual basis in the fiscal period in which they are incurred. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*Mutual funds are offered through Credential Asset Management Inc. and mutual funds and other securities are 
offered through Credential Securities Inc. and Credential Direct® , a division of Credential Securities Inc., which 
operates as a separate business unit.  Credential Securities Inc. is a Member of the Canadian Investor Protection Fund.  
Credential Financial Strategies Inc. is a member company under Credential Financial Inc., offering financial planning, 
life insurance and investments to members of credit unions and their communities.  ®Credential is a registered mark 
owned by Credential Financial Inc. and is used under licence.
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Cash on hand 30,124 28,801 26,265
Restricted cash 2,835 2,835 2,835
Deposits at call - SaskCentral 20,098 63,563 41,059
Chartered bank guaranteed short-term investment 61,709 14,933 –
Total cash and cash equivalents 114,766 110,132 70,159

 
 Restricted cash is comprised of a cash reserve for the auto loan securitization program.

4. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Prepayments 609 693 656
Other receivables 10,065 12,861 12,525
Total prepayments and other receivables 10,674 13,554 13,181

 
5. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or liabilities, together with their 
notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference rate or 
index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume 
of transactions outstanding at December 31 and are indicative of either the market risk or the credit risk. The Credit Union’s 
counterparty for interest rate swaps is Concentra Financial Services Association and Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan for 
index-linked options. 
 

2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Assets Liabilities
Notional
amount Assets Liabilities

Notional
amount Assets Liabilities

Notional
amount

Derivatives at held-for-trading
 Interest rate swaps 179 3,697 166,200 610 1,832 250,131 2,078 3,330 238,560
 Index-linked options 3,270 3,270 42,643 3,874 3,874 42,388 2,737 2,737 34,327
Total 3,449 6,967 208,843 4,484 5,706 292,519 4,815 6,067 272,887
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6. INVESTMENT SECURITIES 
 
The Credit Union’s investments are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position in accordance with financial 
instrument designation categories. The Credit Union’s recorded values are as follows: 

 
2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Fair value through profit or loss
Concentra Financial 822 1,144 34,377
SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits 91,279 103,387 225,901
Chartered bank guaranteed 1,007 2,023 12,804
Federal and provincial government 4,222 5,694 41,928
Other securities 7,881 8,128 9,312
Accrued interest 47 266 1,538

Total fair value through profit or loss 105,258 120,642 325,860
Available-for-sale

Concentra Financial – – 17,933
SaskCentral - shares 29,082 28,698 28,698
SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits 204,409 174,611 32,456
SaskCentral - other investments 4,555 4,933 4,780
Chartered bank guaranteed 44,090 11,619 5,576
Federal and provincial government 28,455 3,995 1,967
Other securities 5,062 1,031 1,017
Accrued interest 1,279 804 293

Total available-for-sale 316,932 225,691 92,720
Held-to-maturity

Concentra Financial 15,125 24,936 27,082
SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits 40,900 24,438 25,277
Accrued interest 534 215 225

Total held-to-maturity 56,559 49,589 52,584
Loans and receivables

Other securities 733 712 777
Total loans and receivables 733 712 777
Total investment securities 479,482 396,634 471,941
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6. INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued) 
 
The Credit Union’s investment securities portfolio is comprised of a large number of investment securities carrying a wide variety 
of terms, conditions, and issuers held for the purpose of liquidity management and effective utilization of excess funds.  

 Approximately 70% (2010 - 81%) of the portfolio bears interest at fixed rates and pays interest on a scheduled basis and/or  upon 
maturity (see also Note 25). The remainder of the portfolio earns interest at variable rates and pays interest on a scheduled basis, 
provides a return of dividends over varying periods of time or provides an index-linked return. There were impairment losses for 
investment securities for the year ended December 31, 2011 of $nil (2010 - $nil).

 Pursuant to Regulation 18(1)(a), of The Credit Union Regulations, 1999, Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan (SaskCentral) 
requires that the Credit Union maintain 10% of its total liabilities in specified liquidity deposits in SaskCentral. The regulator of 
Saskatchewan Credit Unions, Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC) requires that the Credit Union adhere to 
these prescribed limits and restrictions.  As of December 31, 2011, the Credit Union met the requirement.

 SaskCentral is controlled by Saskatchewan credit unions and acts as a trade association, service provider to credit unions and 
manager of the provincial statutory liquidity deposits. SaskCentral maintains investments in other credit union service providers 
including Concentra Financial Services Association in which it holds 84.3% (2010 - 84.3%) of the non-voting Class A shares and 
49% (2010 - 49%) of the voting membership shares.  

 Currently the Credit Union holds $29,082 in membership shares of SaskCentral, or 23.1% (2010 - $28,698; 22.8%) of the total issued 
and outstanding membership shares. As defined in The Credit Union Act, 1998, the Credit Union has a substantial investment 
in SaskCentral, and pursuant to The Credit Union Regulations, 1999, the Credit Union has been authorized by CUDGC to hold 
this investment. The voting rights, characteristics, and value of membership shares are set out in the Bylaws of SaskCentral. 
Membership shares of SaskCentral carry an issuance and redemption price of 10 dollars per share.  

 The Credit Union does not have significant influence over the strategic, operating and financial policies of SaskCentral, including 
decisions about dividends and other distributions. In addition, there are no material transactions between the Credit Union and 
SaskCentral, no exchange of managerial personnel and technical information is not shared.



64    Consolidated Financial Statements  •  Annual Report  •  2011

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of CDN $)
For the year ended December 31, 2011

6. INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued) 
 
Investment securities - equity method

 The following table summarizes the financial information of the Credit Union’s equity accounted investments:

 
2011

Entity Credit Union

Ownership Assets Liabilities
Total

revenue
Total 

profit (2)

Carrying 
value of 

investment
Share of 

profits

CU Dealer Finance (1) 40.0% 1,754 1,346 5,232 1,436 803 802
Apex General Partnership 33.3% – – – – – –
Total investment securities - equity method 1,754 1,346 5,232 1,436 803 802

2010

Entity Credit Union

Ownership Assets Liabilities
Total

revenue
Total 

profit (2)

Carrying 
value of 

investment
Share of 

profits

CU Dealer Finance (1) 40.0% 1,113 693 4,382 815 469 468
Apex General Partnership 33.3% – – – – – –
Total investment securities - equity method 1,113 693 4,382 815 469 468

January 1, 2010

Entity Credit Union

Ownership Assets Liabilities
Total

revenue
Total 

profit (2)

Carrying 
value of 

investment
Share of 

profits

CU Dealer Finance (1) 40.0% 931 520 – – 367 –
Apex General Partnership 33.3% – – – – – –
Total investment securities - equity method 931 520 – – 367 –
(1) The Credit Union’s share of profits from CU Dealer Finance is based on volume activity of 55.89% (2010 - 57.46%) and includes a volume bonus and dividend payment. 
(2) CU Dealer Finance’s profit excludes the volume bonus expense to owners.
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7. LOANS AND ADVANCES 
 
Loans and advances by portfolio at amortized cost 

2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Consumer loans
Mortgage guaranteed 606,324 561,813 479,083
Mortgage conventional 485,291 446,159 404,211
Non mortgage 595,813 575,014 545,885
Total consumer loans 1,687,428 1,582,986 1,429,179

Commercial loans
Mortgage 819,092 802,843 717,901
Non mortgage 309,865 285,428 296,966
Government guaranteed 17,967 16,831 14,792
Total commercial loans 1,146,924 1,105,102 1,029,659

Agricultural loans
Mortgage 134,120 138,583 137,032
Non mortgage 112,117 112,906 112,764
Government guaranteed 48,962 41,241 25,410
Total agricultural loans 295,199 292,730 275,206

Gross loans and advances 3,129,551 2,980,818 2,734,044
Amortized loan origination fees 1,764 1,475 936
Foreclosed property held for resale 22,405 763 1,237
Accrued interest receivable 11,914 17,384 13,641
Individual allowance for credit losses (5,277) (17,277) (16,102)
Collective allowance for credit losses (866) (1,276) (1,090)
Total loans and advances 3,159,491 2,981,887 2,732,666

 
 Loans and advances (loans) are at amortized cost unless stated otherwise.

 The Credit Union has entered into securitization transactions on residential mortgages and auto loans that do not qualify for 
derecognition. In 2011, the total amount of securitized loans outstanding included in the loan balances above was $279,037 (2010 - 
$258,085). Further detail on securitized assets is disclosed in Note 9.

 The Credit Union has also entered into syndication transactions with other financial institutions that do qualify for derecognition. 
In 2011, the total amount of syndicated loans outstanding not included in the loan balances above was $327,575 (2010 - $297,122).
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7. LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued) 
 
Maturity analysis based on remaining term to maturity 

 
2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Scheduled for repayment
Overdrafts and line of credit facilities 405,591 391,681 363,956
Under 1 year 1,511,215 1,373,645 1,311,107
1 year to under 5 years 1,185,758 1,205,535 1,045,840
5 years and over 26,987 9,957 13,141

3,129,551 2,980,818 2,734,044

 
Security held against loans and advances  
 

2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Fully or partially secured by tangible mortgage assets 2,310,400 2,192,859 1,958,561
Fully or partially secured by tangible non mortgage assets 624,898 580,602 559,566
Unsecured 194,253 207,357 215,917

3,129,551 2,980,818 2,734,044
 

 It is not practical to fair value all security as at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date due to the variety, number
and condition of assets. The security information is based on loan origination or more current information when available.

8. IMPAIRED AND PAST DUE LOANS AND ADVANCES
  
Reconciliation of the allowance for credit losses 

 
2011 2010

Individual allowance for credit losses
Balance - beginning of year 17,277 16,102
Credit losses for the year:

Charge for the year 4,104 4,063
Interest accrued on impaired loans and advances 3,412 3,259
Recoveries on loans previously written off 404 291

Amounts written off (19,920) (6,438)
Balance - end of year 5,277 17,277

Collective allowance for credit losses
Balance - beginning of year 1,276 1,090
Credit losses for the year:

Charge for the year (410) 186
Balance - end of year 866 1,276
Total allowance for credit losses 6,143 18,553
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8. IMPAIRED AND PAST DUE LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued) 
  

Performing, impaired and allowance for credit losses by portfolio
 

Performing Impaired
Individual 
allowance

Collective 
allowance

Net 
impaired

2011 
Net

Consumer loans
Mortgage guaranteed 606,324 – – – – 606,324
Mortgage conventional 485,291 – – (3) (3) 485,288
Non mortgage 595,067 746 (466) (145) 135 595,202
Total consumer loans 1,686,682 746 (466) (148) 132 1,686,814

Commercial loans
Mortgage 812,829 6,263 (2,225) (80) 3,958 816,787
Non mortgage 306,106 3,759 (2,214) (605) 940 307,046
Government guaranteed 17,783 184 (104) (9) 71 17,854
Total commercial loans 1,136,718 10,206 (4,543) (694) 4,969 1,141,687

Agricultural loans
Mortgage 134,028 92 (4) (6) 82 134,110
Non mortgage 111,618 499 (150) (17) 332 111,950
Government guaranteed 48,811 151 (74) (1) 76 48,887

Total agricultural loans 294,457 742 (228) (24) 490 294,947
Gross loans and advances 3,117,857 11,694 (5,237) (866) 5,591 3,123,448
Amortized loan origination fees 1,764 – – – – 1,764
Foreclosed property held for resale 22,405 – (40) – (40) 22,365
Accrued interest receivable 10,460 1,454 – – 1,454 11,914
Total loans and advances 3,152,486 13,148 (5,277) (866) 7,005 3,159,491
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8. IMPAIRED AND PAST DUE LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued)
 

Performing Impaired
Individual 
allowance

Collective 
allowance

Net 
impaired

2010 
Net

January 1, 2010 
Net 

Consumer loans
Mortgage guaranteed 561,519 294 (66) – 228 561,747 479,083
Mortgage conventional 446,152 7 (4) (6) (3) 446,149 404,175
Non mortgage 574,086 928 (598) (172) 158 574,244 544,893
Total consumer loans 1,581,757 1,229 (668) (178) 383 1,582,140 1,428,151

Commercial loans
Mortgage 775,298 27,545 (14,117) (466) 12,962 788,260 709,191
Non mortgage 280,862 4,566 (2,159) (613) 1,794 282,656 290,021
Government guaranteed 16,674 157 (52) (6) 99 16,773 14,702
Total commercial loans 1,072,834 32,268 (16,328) (1,085) 14,855 1,087,689 1,013,914

Agricultural loans
Mortgage 138,583 – – (1) (1) 138,582 137,030
Non mortgage 112,678 228 (224) (12) (8) 112,670 112,412
Government guaranteed 41,177 64 (3) – 61 41,238 25,385
Total agricultural loans 292,438 292 (227) (13) 52 292,490 274,827

Gross loans and advances 2,947,029 33,789 (17,223) (1,276) 15,290 2,962,319 2,716,892
Amortized loan origination fees 1,475 – – – – 1,475 936
Foreclosed property held for resale 763 – (54) – (54) 709 1,197
Accrued interest receivable 10,615 6,769 – – 6,769 17,384 13,641
Total loans and advances 2,959,882 40,558 (17,277) (1,276) 22,005 2,981,887 2,732,666

 
It is not practical to fair value all security as at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date due to the variety, number 
and condition of assets.  

 
Analysis of loans that are impaired with individual allowance based on age of repayments past due 

 

2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Impaired
Individual 
allowance Impaired

Individual 
allowance Impaired

Individual 
allowance

Scheduled for repayment
Under 1 year 2,574 (1,703) 7,066 (1,934) 15,762 (2,707)
1 year to under 5 years 10,572 (3,532) 33,492 (15,289) 23,464 (13,355)
5 years and over 2 (2) – – – –

13,148 (5,237) 40,558 (17,223) 39,226 (16,062)
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8. IMPAIRED AND PAST DUE LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued)
  

Loans with repayments past due but not regarded as impaired
 Net impaired loans exclude certain past due loans where payment of interest or principal is contractually in arrears but where 

payment in full is expected.  A loan is considered past due when the counterparty has not made payment by the contractual due 
date.  Details of such past due loans (delinquencies) not included in the impaired amount are as follows:

 
2011 2010 January 1, 2010

1-30 days
31-90 
days

More than 
90 days Total Total Total

Past due loans
Consumer 13,514 2,184 1,063 16,761 20,154 12,909
Commercial 985 91 6,592 7,668 15,111 8,286
Agriculture 801 1,988 1,122 3,911 3,734 5,324
Accrued interest 93 66 762 921 765 705

15,393 4,329 9,539 29,261 39,764 27,224
 
 
Other disclosures for impaired and past due loans 
  

2011 2010

- Assets acquired via enforcement of security 24,061 1,332
- Interest earned on impaired loans 3,412 3,259
- Interest revenue forgone on impaired loans 8,895 1,612

 
It is not practical to disclose all possession of collateral the Credit Union holds as security due to the variety and number of assets.   
The policy of the Credit Union is to sell the assets at the earliest reasonable opportunity after measures to assist the customer to 
repay the debts have been exhausted. 

9. SECURITIZATION  

 In the ordinary course of business, the Credit Union enters into transactions that result in the transfer of financial assets to third 
parties or special purpose entities (SPE). The following table summarizes the carrying amounts and the associated liabilities for 
each type of securitization: 

 
2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Carrying 
amount

Associated 
liabilities

Carrying 
amount

Associated 
liabilities

Carrying 
amount

Associated 
liabilities

Residential mortgages 137,337 138,116 116,385 116,114 84,768 84,526
Auto loans 141,700 130,000 141,700 130,000 141,700 130,000
Total securitization 279,037 268,116 258,085 246,114 226,468 214,526
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9. SECURITIZATION (continued)
 

Residential mortgages 
 The Credit Union has transferred an amortizing ownership interest in various qualifying residential mortgage receivables 

to Canadian Housing Trust, a multi-seller special purpose trust under the Canadian Mortgage Bond Program, as well as to 
various investors through the National Housing Act (NHA) Mortgage-Backed Securities Program. The Credit Union retains 
the responsibility for servicing the qualifying residential mortgage receivables. Under both programs, the Credit Union has 
an obligation to forward principal and interest amounts from the original loan to Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 
monthly whether or not it receives payments from mortgagers. Concentra Financial Services Association (Concentra) acts as an 
intermediary on behalf of the Credit Union. The Credit Union has retained substantially all of the risk and rewards associated

 with the transferred assets. These assets are recognized within loans and advances and the transfers are accounted for as secured 
financing transactions. The associated liability, secured by these assets, is carried at amortized cost and included in secured debt 
on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The associated liability at December 31, 2011 is recorded net of unamortized 
transactions costs of $162 (2010 - $271).  In addition, for certain transfers above the Credit Union has entered into interest rate 
swaps with Concentra.

 
Auto loans 

 The Credit Union has transferred a revolving ownership interest in the auto loan receivable portfolio to Pivot Trust, a SPE. The 
Credit Union retains the responsibility for servicing the auto loan receivables. Principal cash flows attributable to the Pivot 
Trust are reinvested into qualifying auto loans and subsequently transferred to Pivot Trust. As at December 31, 2011 $141,700 
(2010 - $141,700) had been transferred.   The Credit Union, in substance, controls Pivot Trust as it is exposed to the majority of 
the ownership risks and rewards of Pivot Trust. Accordingly, the Credit Union consolidates Pivot Trust. Auto loan receivables 
are recognized within loans and advances and the transfers are accounted for as secured financing transactions. The associated 
liability, secured by these assets, is carried at amortized cost and included in secured debt on the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position. The associated liability at December 31, 2011 is recorded net of a credit enhancement in the form of 
overcollateralization provided to Pivot Trust of $11,700 (2010 - $11,700).  

10.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

 

2011 2010

Land - at cost 3,067 3,511
Carrying amount 3,067 3,511

Buildings - at cost 38,552 36,544
Less accumulated amortization (12,250) (11,307)
Carrying amount 26,302 25,237

Computer equipment - at cost 9,460 8,939
Less accumulated amortization (5,346) (3,741)
Carrying amount 4,114 5,198

Furniture and equipment - at cost 5,046 4,539
Less accumulated amortization (3,011) (2,856)
Carrying amount 2,035 1,683

Leasehold improvements - at cost 9,945 9,437
Less accumulated amortization (5,489) (4,635)
Carrying amount 4,456 4,802

Total carrying amount - property, plant and equipment 39,974 40,431
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10.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)  
 
  Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

 

2011 2010

Land 
Carrying amount at beginning of year 3,511 3,511
Additions – –
Disposals (444) –
Carrying amount at end of year 3,067 3,511

Building 
Carrying amount at beginning of year 25,237 23,845
Additions 2,008 2,334
Disposals – (42)
Amortization (943) (900)
Carrying amount at end of year 26,302 25,237

Computer equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of year 5,198 3,457
Additions 1,686 3,195
Disposals (83) (35)
Amortization (1,821) (1,419)
Impairment losses (866) –
Carrying amount at end of year 4,114 5,198

Furniture and equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,683 1,857
Additions 1,307 652
Disposals (168) –
Amortization (787) (826)
Carrying amount at end of year 2,035 1,683

Leasehold improvements
Carrying amount at beginning of year 4,802 4,336
Additions 556 1,195
Disposals (38) –
Amortization (864) (729)
Carrying amount at end of year 4,456 4,802

Total carrying amount - property, plant and equipment 39,974 40,431
 
 
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment includes assets under construction at December 31, 2011 of $1,884 (2010 - 
$1,444). 

 
There were impairment losses for property, plant and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2011 of $866 (2010 - $nil). 
This amount relates to the discontinued use of computer equipment used in the construction of a banking system that has no 
realizable value to the Credit Union.
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
 

2011 2010

Franchise fees - at cost 10 113
Less accumulated amortization (6) (93)
Carrying amount 4 20

Customer lists - at cost 5,019 6,291
Less accumulated amortization (3,355) (3,736)
Carrying amount 1,664 2,555

Software - at cost 5,357 15,814
Less accumulated amortization (2,847) (2,447)
Carrying amount 2,510 13,367

Total carrying amount - intangible assets 4,178 15,942
 
 
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for intangible assets are as follows: 
 

2011 2010

Franchise fees
Carrying amount at beginning of year 20 27
Additions – –
Disposals (12) –
Amortization (4) (7)
Carrying amount at end of year 4 20

Customer lists
Carrying amount at beginning of year 2,555 3,204
Additions 42 –
Disposals (377) –
Amortization (556) (649)
Carrying amount at end of year 1,664 2,555

Software
Carrying amount at beginning of year 13,367 7,095
Additions 6,626 7,691
Disposals (11) –
Amortization (1,607) (1,419)
Impairment losses (15,865) –
Carrying amount at end of year 2,510 13,367

Total carrying amount - intangible assets 4,178 15,942
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)  

 The carrying amount of intangible assets includes assets under development at December 31, 2011 of $556 (2010 - $10,131).
 

There were impairment losses for intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2011 of $15,865 (2010 - $nil). This amount 
relates to the discontinued development of a banking system that has no realizable value to the Credit Union.

12. LOANS PAYABLE  

 The Credit Union has an authorized line of credit with SaskCentral in the amount of $75,000 (2010 - $75,000) in Canadian funds 
and an authorized line of credit with Concentra Financial Services Association (Concentra) in the amount of $7,000 in U.S. funds 
(2010 - $7,000). The interest rate on the Canadian account is the SaskCentral prime interest rate minus 0.50% (2010 – prime interest 
rate minus 0.50%) (2011 - 2.50%, 2010 - 2.50%) and the U.S. account is based on the Concentra U.S. prime interest rate plus 1.00% 
(2010 - prime interest rate plus 1.00%) (2011 - 4.25%, 2010 - 4.25%). At the end of the year, the amount outstanding was $nil for the 
Canadian account and $nil for the U.S. account (2010 - $1,007 for the Canadian account and $nil for the U.S. account). A General 
Security Agreement and an assignment of book debts are pledged as security on both lines of credit. 

 
The Credit Union has a short term revolving credit line with Concentra in the amount of $40,000 effective November 15th, 2011 for 
3 months, expiring Feb 15th, 2012. The interest rate on this credit line is one-month CDOR plus 0.75% (2011 – 1.95%). At the end 
of the year, the amount outstanding was $nil. A General Security Agreement is pledged as security on this short term revolving 
credit line.

13. DEPOSITS 
2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Demand 1,751,940 1,525,962 1,353,362
Term 1,000,824 1,036,509 1,081,288
Registered plans 459,070 431,558 396,424
Accrued interest 15,911 17,298 21,675
Total deposits 3,227,745 3,011,327 2,852,749

 

14. MEMBERSHIP SHARES AND MEMBER EQUITY ACCOUNTS  
 
The authorized share capital is unlimited in amount and consists of shares with a par value of $5 per share.  In accordance 
with legislation, amounts held to the credit of a member in a member equity account as allocated retained earnings become 
membership shares issued by the Credit Union on an equal basis. Member equity accounts are as provided for by The Credit Union 
Act, 1998 (Act) and administered according to the bylaws and policy of the Credit Union, which sets out the rights, privileges, 
restrictions and conditions. These accounts are classified as liabilities rather than equity due to the conditions prescribed by The 
Act. Members have the right to withdraw or terminate membership at any time and there is no provision for holders of member 
shares to receive the remaining property of the Credit Union on liquidation or dissolution. Upon withdrawal or termination of 
membership, the Credit Union must pay to the member all shares and other interests, subject to charge and set-off for debt of the 
member to the Credit Union. These accounts are not guaranteed by Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC).
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14.  MEMBERSHIP SHARES AND MEMBER EQUITY ACCOUNTS (continued)
 

At the approval of the board of directors, earnings are allocated to members on the basis of patronage, having the meaning 
patronage allocations. Patronage allocations are credited either to members’ equity accounts or deposit accounts (in the form of 
cash distributions).  Patronage allocations credited to members’ equity accounts are recorded in membership shares and member 
equity accounts on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  

 
 The board of directors of the Credit Union declared a patronage allocation equal to 2.0% of personal members’ qualifying interest 

earned and interest paid in 2011 (2010 - 4.0%) to be credited to members’ equity and deposit accounts. The board of directors of 
the Credit Union declared a patronage allocation equal to 1.0% of non personal members’ qualifying interest earned and interest 
paid in 2011 (2010 - 2.0%) to be credited to members’ equity or deposit accounts. The total patronage allocation in 2011 is $2,735 
(2010 - $5,450). 

 
 The following table summarizes share capital information: 

 

Membership shares 
based on patronage

Membership shares 
required for membership Total

Issued and outstanding as at January 1, 2010 20,978 569 21,547
Membership shares allocated on basis of patronage  
 as at December 31, 2010 3,004 – 3,004
Membership shares redeemed in 2010 (1,479) (2) (1,481)
Issued and outstanding as at December 31, 2010 22,503 567 23,070
Membership shares allocated on basis of patronage  
 as at December 31, 2011 1,281 – 1,281
Membership shares redeemed in 2011 (978) (7) (985)
Issued and outstanding as at December 31, 2011 22,806 560 23,366

 

15. OTHER LIABILITIES 

 

2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Accounts payable 7,102 11,461 11,296
Payroll related amounts 3,090 5,893 7,981
Insurance underwriters payable 1,436 1,555 1,431
Outstanding settlement items 10,959 16,092 10,068
Unclaimed balances 629 562 404
Deferred income 226 46 61
Patronage allocation payable 1,457 2,449 2,630
Total from continuing operations 24,899 38,058 33,871
Total from discontinued operations 21 – –
Total other liabilities 24,920 38,058 33,871
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16.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC), the regulator of Saskatchewan credit unions, has prescribed capital 
adequacy measures and minimum capital requirements. The capital adequacy rules issued by CUDGC have been based on the 
Basel II capital standards framework established by the Bank for International Settlements and adopted by financial institutions 
around the globe, including Canadian banks.   

 
 CUDGC currently prescribes three tests to assess the capital adequacy of credit unions: risk-weighted capital ratio (eligible capital 

to risk-weighted assets); tier 1 capital to total asset ratio; tier 2 to tier 1 capital ratio. The risk-weighted capital ratio is calculated 
as the sum of net tier 1 and 2 capital divided by risk-weighted assets.  Regulatory standards require credit unions to maintain a 
minimum risk-weighted capital ratio of 8%, a minimum tier 1 capital to total assets of 5% and tier 2 capital to tier 1 capital of less 
than 100%. Further, CUDGC has provided guidance that a credit union must maintain a tier 1 capital to total assets ratio of 7% 
and a risk-weighted capital ratio of at least 10% to be considered adequately capitalized.

 Eligible capital is the total of tier 1 capital and tier 2 capital less deductions related to goodwill, intangible assets, unconsolidated 
substantial investments, and fair value gain/loss on own use/investment property, and is calculated in accordance with the 
rules prescribed by CUDGC. Tier 1 capital is defined as a credit unions’ primary capital and comprises the highest quality of 
capital elements while tier 2 is secondary capital and falls short of meeting tier 1 requirements for permanence or freedom 
from mandatory charge. Tier 1 capital at the Credit Union includes retained earnings, membership shares, and member equity 
accounts, less a deduction of 50% for unconsolidated substantial investments. Tier 2 capital at the Credit Union includes collective 
allowance for credit losses to a maximum of 1.25% of risk-weighted assets, less a deduction of 50% for unconsolidated substantial 
investments. Risk-weighted assets are calculated in accordance with the rules established by CUDGC for balance sheet and off-
balance sheet risks. Credit risk, derivatives and off-balance sheet commitments, and operational risk are considered in calculating 
risk-weighted assets. Based on the prescribed risk of each type of asset a weighting is assigned.  

 The Credit Union manages capital in accordance with its capital management plan and board approved capital policies. The 
capital plan is developed in accordance with the regulatory capital framework and is regularly reviewed and approved by the 
board of directors. Capital is managed with a goal to achieve and exceed regulatory minimums, meet operational requirements, 
absorb unexpected losses while meeting regulatory minimums and signal financial strength.  

 If the Credit Union is not in compliance with CUDGC capital requirements, CUDGC may take any necessary action.  Necessary 
action may include, but is not limited to:

  • reducing or restricting a credit union’s authorities and limits; 
  • subjecting a credit union to preventive intervention; 
  • issuing a compliance order; or 
  • placing a credit union under supervision or administration. 
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16.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 During the year, the Credit Union complied with all internal and external capital requirements. The following table summarizes 
key capital information:  

2011 2010

Eligible capital
Total tier 1 capital 284,940 261,483
Total tier 2 capital 464 1,042

Total 285,404 262,525

Risk-weighted assets
Investment securities 73,551 66,137
Consumer loans 677,749 651,060
Commercial and agricultural loans 1,308,704 1,258,107
Other assets and derivatives 95,355 92,576
Commitments 176,175 139,256
Capital charge for operating risk 229,922 218,454

Total risk-weighted assets 2,561,456 2,425,590

Deductions from tier 1 capital
50% of unconsolidated substantial investments 401 234

Deductions from tier 2 capital
50% of unconsolidated substantial investments 401 234

Total deductions from capital 802 468

Total eligible capital to risk-weighted assets 11.14% 10.82%
Tier 1 capital to total assets 7.60% 7.51%
Tier 2 capital to tier 1 capital 0.16% 0.40%
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17. BUSINESS COMBINATION 

 On January 1, 2011, ACE Credit Union Limited (ACE) amalgamated with the Credit Union through a voluntary transfer of 
membership shares. The amalgamation was approved by both the members of ACE and the Credit Union’s board of directors in 
2010. Regulatory approval was obtained from Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC) on July 15, 2010 for the 
amalgamation on January 1, 2011. ACE offered financial products and services to several partners in the co-operative system, 
including administering an employee loan benefit program. The ACE Board of Directors identified an opportunity to amalgamate 
with the Credit Union so they could continue to offer their members quality service, provide a broader range of products and 
services, and to achieve economies of scale through enhanced cost efficiencies. The total equity interests acquired from ACE was 
approximately 1.4% of the Credit Union’s total equity on December 31, 2010. 

Loans and advances, deposits and membership shares were voluntarily transferred to the Credit Union by December 31, 2010. The 
membership shares of ACE were exchanged on a one for one basis for the membership shares of the Credit Union which have the 
same rights and restrictions attached to them. The remaining net identifiable assets of ACE were transferred to the Credit Union 
on January 1, 2011.  An intangible asset for acquiring customer relations was identified on the acquisition date and measured at 
fair value. No contingent liabilities were identified on the acquisition date.  The fair value of the consideration was determined to 
be the fair value of ACE’s equity interests.  The fair value was calculated using a discounted cash flow analysis, using estimates 
of future cash flows. There was no goodwill as the fair value of consideration transferred approximated the fair value of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date. The Credit Union recognized ACE’s net identifiable 
assets as a direct addition to equity in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

The Credit Union incurred acquisition costs of $14 relating to external consulting and legal fees. These expenses are included 
under general business expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

It is not practical to disclose the amount of ACE’s profit or loss from the acquisition date since this is not identifiable in the Credit 
Union’s accounts.  

The following table details the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of ACE on the acquisition date of January 1, 
2011: 
 

Fair value at 
acquisition date Carrying value

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 800 800
Prepayments and other receivables 1,210 1,210
Current tax assets 85 85
Investment securities - fair value through profit or loss 878 878
Investment securities - available-for-sale 384 384
Property, plant and equipment 52 –
Intangible assets 42 –
Deferred tax assets 2 2

Total assets 3,453 3,359
Liabilities

Loans payable 131 131
Other liabilities 11 11

Total liabilities 142 142
Total net identifiable assets 3,311 3,217
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18. INTEREST INCOME AND INTEREST EXPENSE 

2011 2010

Interest income
Cash and cash equivalents 378 163
Investment securities - fair value through profit or loss 1,811 3,389
Investment securities - available-for-sale 5,076 3,573
Investment securities - held-to-maturity 867 836
Investment securities - loans and receivables 35 8

Loans and advances 152,188 143,097
Interest income accrued on impaired loans and advances 3,412 3,259
Total interest income 163,767 154,325

Interest expense
Loans payable 181 94
Secured debt 6,080 5,646
Deposits 41,560 45,168
Patronage allocation 2,735 5,450
Total interest expense 50,556 56,358

Net interest income 113,211 97,967
 

19. NON-INTEREST INCOME  
 

2011 2010

Account service fees 9,729 10,005
Loan fees 3,009 3,104
Loan insurance fees 2,570 2,906
Automated banking machine (ABM) fees 2,533 2,561
Insurance commission income 3,388 3,180
Unrealized and realized gains (losses) on derivative financial instruments (2,295) (379)
Unrealized and realized gains (losses) on fair value through profit or loss   

investment securities 153 (595)
Realized gains (losses) on available-for-sale investment securities 338 2
Dividend income 2,461 4,650
Income from investment securities - equity method 802 468
Foreign exchange revenue 1,638 1,339
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 374 –
Wealth management income 4,962 4,273
Other 6,025 4,659

Total from continuing operations 35,687 36,173
Total from discontinued operations 14,445 26,281
Total non-interest income 50,132 62,454
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20. NON-INTEREST EXPENSE  
  

2011 2010

General business
Cost of commission sales subsidiaries 463 515
Amortization of intangibles 2,177 2,078
Community investment 2,017 1,293
Amortization of computer, furniture and equipment 2,557 2,157
Stationary, telephone and postage 2,872 3,357
Automated banking machine (ABM) costs 1,594 1,654
Computer and related costs 6,478 5,454
Wealth management expenses 2,505 2,217
Courier 573 550
Marketing, research and communications 1,450 907
Loan processing 2,397 2,340
Rewards programs 1,230 508
Impairment losses on assets 16,731 –
Other general business 6,876 6,036

Total from continuing operations 49,920 29,066
Total from discontinued operations 12,254 22,541

Total general business 62,174 51,607
 
 

2011 2010

Occupancy
Rent 2,741 2,736
Amortization of buildings and leasehold improvements 1,807 1,630
Property taxes 796 773
Other occupancy 2,548 2,449

Total from continuing operations 7,892 7,588
Total from discontinued operations 302 558
Total occupancy 8,194 8,146

 
2011 2010

Organizational
SaskCentral dues 1,343 1,497
Officials remuneration and training 508 384
Other organizational 78 68
Annual meeting 2 8

Total from continuing operations 1,931 1,957
Total from discontinued operations 210 442

Total organizational 2,141 2,399
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20. NON-INTEREST EXPENSE (continued) 
 

2011 2010

Personnel
Wages, salaries and short term incentive 48,098 48,368
Statutory payroll contributions 2,483 2,341
Pension costs 3,059 2,924
Other personnel expenses 4,811 4,620

Total from continuing operations 58,451 58,253
Total from discontinued operations 1,307 1,988

Total personnel 59,758 60,241

 
2011 2010

Member security
Deposit guarantee assessment 2,695 2,548
Fidelity and other insurance 277 270

Total member security 2,972 2,818

21. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN 

 The Credit Union contributes annually to a defined contribution pension plan for employees. The contributions are held in trust 
by the Co-operative Superannuation Society and are not recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The annual 
pension expense from continuing operations of $3,037 (2010 - $2,875) is included in personnel expense. As a defined contribution 
pension plan, the Credit Union has no future liability or obligation for future contributions to fund benefits to plan members.

  
Executive management is also eligible for the Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (SERP). The SERP plan compensates for 
Income Tax Act maximums that apply for higher income employees.  The annual SERP expense of $22 (2010 - $49) is in personnel 
expense. This future obligation of $86 (2010 - $145) is recorded in other liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position and is paid when employment has ended.  



Consolidated Financial Statements  •  Annual Report  •  2011      81

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of CDN $)
For the year ended December 31, 2011 

22. INCOME TAX  
  
Income taxes are included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as follows: 
 

2011 2010

Components of income tax expense
Current income tax expense  
 Current tax on profit for current year 4,615 3,407
Deferred income tax expense  
 Origination and reversal of temporary differences (3,667) 932

948 4,339
 

2011 2010

Profit from discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 32)
Current income tax expense (recovery)  
 Current tax on profit for current year 33 155
Deferred income tax expense  
 Origination and reversal of temporary differences – –

33 155
981 4,494

 
Income taxes are included in other comprehensive income as follows: 

2011 2010

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale investment securities 
Current income tax expense 220 135

Reclassification of (gains) losses on available-for-sale investment securities to income
Current income tax expense (recovery) (48) –

172 135
 

Total income tax reported in the consolidated financial statements:

2011 2010

1,153 4,629

 
Reconciliation of income tax expense:

2011 2010

Profit before income tax 20,626 26,950
Combined federal and provincial income tax rate 28.5% 30.0%
Income taxes as statutory rate 
Income tax expense adjusted for the effect of:

5,878 8,085

Non-deductible expenses 57 115
Non-taxable dividend income (65) (72)
Credit Union rate reduction (5,448) (4,174)
Deferred income tax expense resulting from tax rate changes 193 (44)
Other 333 429

948 4,339
Effective rate of tax 5% 16%
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22. INCOME TAX (continued) 
  
The deferred tax asset is comprised of the following: 

2011 2010

Deferred tax assets
Property, plant and equipment 2,809 37
Derivative financial instruments 205 –
Deferred revenue 4 7
Transition adjustment – 71
Loss carryforwards 1,337 626
Other 138 507

Total deferred tax assets 4,493 1,248

 The deferred tax liability is comprised of the following:

2011 2010

Deferred tax liabilities
Investment securities 67 112
Property, plant and equipment – 384
Loans and advances 302 445
Other 63 122

Total deferred tax liabilities 432 1,063

 
In 2011 the previously enacted change to the federal income tax rate to decrease from 18% to 16.5% became effective.

 
In 2011 the Saskatchewan government enacted a change in the provincial income tax small business rate from 4.5% to 2% effective 
July 1, 2011.
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23. RELATED PARTIES 
 

 Remuneration of key management persons 
Key management persons (KMP) are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the Credit Union, directly or indirectly, including any director and executive  of the Credit Union. Control is the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of the Credit Union so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

 
KMP have been defined to comprise the 11 members of the board (2010 - 12) and 9 members of executive management (2010 - 
8) responsible for the day-to-day financial and operational management of the Credit Union.  The KMP who have held offices 
during the financial year are:

 
 

Members of the board Executive management
Don Blocka Chad Boyko
Loretta Elford Sheryl Britton
Norbert Fries Neil Cooper
Ed Gebert Jacques DeCorby
Laverne Goodsman Eric Dillon
Randy Grimsrud Delia Ermel
Glenn Hepp Ian Rea
Wayne Kabatoff Ken Shaw
Ted Knight Darren Stoppler
Maurice Nekurak

Gerald Unger
 
 
The aggregate compensation of KMP during the year includes amounts paid or payable and was as follows: 
 

2011 2010

Short term employee benefits 2,017 2,567
Post employment benefits – –
Other long term benefits 22 49
Termination benefits 259 497
Director remuneration 398 294
Total 2,696 3,407

 
In the above table, remunerations shown as short term employee benefits includes wages, salaries, statutory government 
contributions, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, profit-sharing and bonuses and the value of fringe benefits received, but 
excludes out-of-pocket expense reimbursements.

 
Travel and other reimbursements paid to members of the board in 2011 were $88 (2010 - $94).
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23. RELATED PARTIES (continued) 
 

 Loans to KMP  
The Credit Union’s policy for lending to KMP is that all loans are provided based on the same lending criteria applicable to 
customers. The nine members of executive management identified as KMP may receive concessional rates of interest on their 
loans equal to or greater than the prescribed lending rate issued by the Canada Revenue Agency. These lending criteria and 
concessional rates of interest are available to all credit union employees. 

 There are no benefits or concessional terms and conditions applicable to related parties of KMP unless the related parties have 
joint borrowings with a KMP in which case concessional rates of interest may apply.  The Credit Union defines related parties  as 
follows:

  • Spouses, common-law partners or any relative living in the same residence as a KMP
  • All children of a KMP and their spouse or common-law partners whether dependent or independent
  • Corporations or business entities controlled by a KMP or any of the above related parties
 

No loan impairment losses have been recorded against KMP balances outstanding during the year (2010 – $nil) or their related 
parties (2010 – $nil).  
 

 The aggregate balances and lending to KMP and related parties during the year was as follows: 
 

2011 2010

Loans outstanding at January 1 11,641 11,147
Loans issued during the year 2,447 2,371
Loan repayments during the year 2,476 1,921
Loans outstanding at December 31 11,612 11,597

Total interest income earned 462 456

 
Deposits from KMP  
The Credit Union’s policy for receiving deposits from KMP is that all deposits are accepted on the same terms and conditions 
which apply to customers. Interest has been paid on terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to customers.

 
The aggregate deposit balances to KMP and related parties during the year was as follows: 

 

2011 2010

Total term, savings and demand deposits 7,234 5,800

Total interest expense on deposits 33 39
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23. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

 Other transactions with KMP 
 As of December 31, 2011, no other known or potential conflict of interest transactions or circumstances were conducted between 

KMP and the Credit Union that would be outside of normal market practices or pricing.  

 Subsidiaries
 The following table presents the name, location of head office, percentage and recorded value of voting shares owned by the 

Credit Union of each subsidiary:  
 

Name Head office

Percentage of 
voting shares 
owned by the 
Credit Union

Recorded value 
of voting shares 

owned by the 
Credit Union (1)

CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd. Regina, Saskatchewan 100% 154
CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd. Regina, Saskatchewan 100% 100
Conexus Insurance Ltd. Regina, Saskatchewan 100% 100
Protexus Holdings Corp. Regina, Saskatchewan 100% 15,000,004
(1) In dollars

  
Significant influence investments  
The Credit Union provides banking services and various support services to CU Dealer Finance Corp. including management, 
technology, accounting, human resources, property management, marketing and communication services.  
 

2011 2010

CU Dealer Finance Corp.
On deposit with the Credit Union 1,735 1,108
Due to the Credit Union 9 –
Interest and service charges paid to the Credit Union 1 1
Dividends paid to the Credit Union 241 237
Volume bonus paid to the Credit Union 228 130
Fee for service paid to the Credit Union 86 70
Interest received from the Credit Union 8 –

 
There were no transactions between the Credit Union and Apex General Partnership during the year.
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24. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

 The auditors of the Credit Union are Deloitte & Touche LLP. During the year fees (before taxes) that were paid or payable 
included $218 (2010 - $156) for external audit services and $185 (2010 - $136) for non-audit services. 

 
The Audit and Risk Committee (ARCO) must approve all services provided to the Credit Union outside the scope of external 
audit services. The ARCO is satisfied that non-audit services have not compromised auditor independence.

25. CONTRACTUAL RE-PRICING AND MATURITY SCHEDULE 
 

The following table details the Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risk as measured by the mismatch or gap, between 
the maturities or re-pricing dates of interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities, both on and off the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position.  Interest rate risk refers to the potential impact of changes in interest rates on the Credit Union’s earnings when 
maturities of its financial liabilities and financial assets are not matched.  

 
Re-pricing dates are based on the earlier of maturity or the contractual re-pricing date and effective interest rates, where 
applicable, represent the weighted average effective yield.  
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25. CONTRACTUAL RE-PRICING AND MATURITY SCHEDULE (continued) 
  

2011

Yield Floating

1 to 
under 3 
months

3 months 
to under 1 

year

1 year to 
under 5 

years
5 years 

and over 

Non-
interest

sensitive Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 0.68% 75,342 – – – – 39,424 114,766

Prepayments and other receivables – – – – – – 10,674 10,674

Derivative financial instruments – – 1,078 343 2,028 – – 3,449

Investment securities - fair value through 
 profit or loss 1.41% 81,658 1,398 12,435 3,259 – 6,508 105,258

Investment securities - available-for-sale 3.28% 29,082 14,019 57,483 204,749 10,320 1,279 316,932

Investment securities - held-to-maturity 1.53% – 17,125 33,900 5,000 – 534 56,559

Investment securities - loans and receivables – – – – 733 – – 733

Investment securities - equity method – – – – – – 803 803

Loans and advances 4.93% 1,150,703 130,884 450,415 1,344,298 55,015 28,176 3,159,491

Property, plant and equipment – – – – – – 39,974 39,974

Intangible assets – – – – – – 4,178 4,178

Deferred tax assets – – – – – – 4,093 4,093

1,336,785 164,504 554,576 1,560,067 65,335 135,643 3,816,910

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments – – 1,078 343 3,947 1,599 – 6,967

Secured debt 2.25% – 155 3,379 235,880 28,864 (162) 268,116

Deposits 1.30% 1,276,062 185,593 464,929 776,357 – 524,804 3,227,745

Current tax liabilities – – – – – – 2,143 2,143

Deferred tax liabilities – – – – – – 32 32

Membership shares and member equity 
 accounts – – – – – – 23,366 23,366

Other liabilities – – – – – – 24,899 24,899

Liabilities from discontinued operations – – – – – – 21 21

1,276,062 186,826 468,651 1,016,184 30,463 575,103 3,553,289

Members’ equity

Retained earnings – – – – – – 261,975 261,975

Accumulated other comprehensive income – – – – – – 1,646 1,646

– – – – – 263,621 263,621

Asset/liability gap 60,723 (22,322) 85,925 543,883 34,872 (703,081) –

Notional amount of derivatives

Pay side instruments 2.26% – (11,054) (41,077) (95,809) (18,260) – (166,200)

Receive side instruments 1.30% – 161,175 4,100 925 – – 166,200

Off balance sheet gap – 150,121 (36,977) (94,884) (18,260) – –

Interest rate gap position 60,723 127,799 48,948 448,999 16,612 (703,081) –
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25. CONTRACTUAL RE-PRICING AND MATURITY SCHEDULE (continued) 
  

2010

Yield Floating

1 to 
under 3 
months

3 months 
to under 1 

year

1 year to 
under 5 

years
5 years 

and over 
Non-interest

sensitive Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 0.54% 81,330 – – – – 28,802 110,132

Prepayments and other receivables – – – – – – 13,554 13,554

Current tax assets – – – – – – 2,861 2,861

Derivative financial instruments – – 341 502 3,641 – – 4,484

Investment securities - fair value through  
 profit or loss 1.08% 44,249 24,556 27,284 18,131 862 5,560 120,642

Investment securities - available-for-sale 5.48% 28,698 – 13,883 171,218 11,087 805 225,691

Investment securities - held-to-maturity 1.22% – 15,962 21,413 12,000 – 214 49,589

Investment securities - loans and receivables – – – – 712 – – 712

Investment securities - equity method – – – – – 469 – 469

Loans and advances 5.13% 1,055,800 138,125 344,944 1,393,699 36,103 13,216 2,981,887

Property, plant and equipment – – – – – – 40,431 40,431

Intangible assets – – – – – – 15,942 15,942

Deferred tax assets – – – – – – 411 411

4.71% 1,210,077 178,984 408,026 1,599,401 48,521 121,796 3,566,805

Liabilities

Loans payable 2.50% 1,007 – – – – – 1,007

Derivative financial instruments – – 65 295 5,321 25 – 5,706

Secured debt 2.92% – 122 2,105 216,357 27,801 (271) 246,114

Deposits 1.41% 1,139,929 144,754 329,759 959,210 4,146 433,529 3,011,327

Current tax liabilities – – – – – – 2,036 2,036

Deferred tax liabilities – – – – – – 226 226

Membership shares and member equity  
 accounts – – – – – – 23,070 23,070

Other liabilities – – – – – – 38,058 38,058

1.50% 1,140,936 144,941 332,159 1,180,888 31,972 496,648 3,327,544

Members’ equity

Retained earnings – – – – – – 238,647 238,647

Accumulated other comprehensive income – – – – – – 614 614

– – – – – 239,261 239,261

Asset/liability gap 69,141 34,043 75,867 418,513 16,549 (614,113) –

Notional amount of derivatives

Pay side instruments 2.09% – (59,442) (88,632) (99,934) (2,123) – (250,131)

Receive side instruments 1.76% – 199,185 50,795 151 – – 250,131

Off balance sheet gap – 139,743 (37,837) (99,783) (2,123) – –

Interest rate gap position 69,141 173,786 38,030 318,730 14,426 (614,113) –
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26. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 

 The following table represents the fair values of the Credit Union’s financial instruments, including derivatives. The following 
methods and assumptions were used to estimate fair values of financial instruments: 

 The fair values of short term financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, other receivables, other assets, and 
other liabilities are approximately equal to the carrying values.  

 Fair values of investment securities are based on quoted market prices when available, discounted cash flow calculations 
based on interest rates being offered for similar investment securities, or quoted market prices of similar investments.  

  
For variable interest rate loans and advances that reprice frequently, fair values are approximated by carrying values. Fair 
values of other loans and advances are estimated using discounted cash flow calculations at market interest rates for groups 
of loans and advances with similar terms and credit risk.  

 Carrying values approximate fair values for deposits, loans payable, and membership shares and member equity accounts 
without specified maturity terms. Fair values for other deposits and loans payable with specific maturity terms are estimated 
using discounted cash flow calculations at market interest rates for deposits with similar terms.  

 The fair value of derivative financial instruments is estimated by reference to the appropriate current market yields with 
matching terms to maturity. The fair values reflect the estimated amounts that the Credit Union would receive or pay to 
terminate the contracts at the reporting date.

 The undernoted fair values, presented for information only, reflect conditions that existed only at the respective reporting dates 
and do not necessarily reflect future value or the amounts the Credit Union might receive or pay if it were to dispose of any of its 
financial instruments prior to their maturity.

  

2011 2010

Carrying 
value

Fair 
value Difference

Carrying 
value

Fair 
value Difference

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 114,766 114,766 – 110,132 110,132 –
Prepayments and other receivables 9,964 9,964 – 12,732 12,732 –
Derivative financial instruments 3,449 3,449 – 4,484 4,484 –
Investment securities - fair value through   
 profit or loss 105,258 105,258 – 120,642 120,642 –
Investment securities - available-for-sale 316,932 316,932 – 225,691 225,691 –
Investment securities - held-to-maturity 56,559 56,612 53 49,589 49,593 4
Investment securities - loans and receivables 733 733 – 712 712 –
Loans and advances 3,142,702 3,196,546 53,844 2,996,666 3,062,741 66,075

3,750,363 3,804,260 53,897 3,520,648 3,586,727 66,079

Liabilities
Loans payable – – – 1,007 1,007 –
Derivative financial instruments 6,967 6,967 – 5,706 5,706 –
Secured debt 268,116 267,199 (917) 246,114 240,421 (5,693)
Deposits 3,227,745 3,245,851 18,106 3,011,327 3,023,578 12,251
Membership shares and member equity   
 accounts 23,366 23,366 – 23,070 23,070 –
Other liabilities 24,470 24,470 – 37,116 37,116 –
Liabilities from discontinued operations 21 21 – – – –

3,550,685 3,567,874 17,189 3,324,340 3,330,898 6,558
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27. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS HIERARCHY 
 
The following table represents the hierarchy of financial instruments that the Credit Union measures at fair value in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position: 
  

2011

Total

Quoted prices in 
active markets

(Level 1)

Other observable 
inputs

(Level 2)

Unobservable 
inputs

(Level 3)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 114,766 53,057 61,709 –
Derivative financial instruments 3,449 – 3,449 –

Investment securities - fair value through profit or loss
Concentra Financial 822 – 822 –
SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits 91,279 – 91,279 –
Chartered bank guaranteed 1,007 – 1,007 –
Federal and provincial government 4,222 – 4,222 –
Other securities 7,881 – 7,881 –
Accrued interest 47 – 47 –

Total investment securities - fair value through profit or loss 105,258 – 105,258 –
Investment securities - available-for-sale

SaskCentral - shares 29,082 – 29,082 –
SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits 204,409 – 204,409 –
SaskCentral - other investments 4,555 – – 4,555
Chartered bank guaranteed 44,090 – 44,090 –
Federal and provincial government 28,455 – 28,455 –
Other securities 5,062 – 5,062 –
Accrued interest 1,279 – 1,279 –

Total investment securities - available-for-sale 316,932 – 312,377 4,555
540,405 53,057 482,793 4,555

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments (1) 6,967 – 6,967 –

6,967 – 6,967 –
(1) Derivatives are the only liabilities measured at fair value on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

 
 
The following table reconciles the Credit Union’s Level 3 fair value measurements from December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2011: 
 
Fair value measurements using Level 3 inputs
Balance at December 31, 2010 4,933
Gain (loss) included in OCI (378)
Balance at December 31, 2011 4,555
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27. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS HIERARCHY (continued) 
  

2010

Total

Quoted prices in 
active markets

(Level 1)

Other observable 
inputs

(Level 2)

Unobservable 
inputs

(Level 3)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 110,132 95,199 14,933 –
Derivative financial instruments 4,484 – 4,484 –

Investment securities - fair value through profit or loss
Concentra Financial 1,144 – 1,144 –
SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits 103,387 – 103,387 –
Chartered bank guaranteed 2,023 – 2,023 –
Federal and provincial government 5,694 – 5,694 –
Other securities 8,128 – 8,128 –
Accrued interest 266 – 266 –

Total investment securities - fair value through profit or loss 120,642 – 120,642 –
Investment securities - available-for-sale

SaskCentral - shares 28,698 – 28,698 –
SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits 174,611 – 174,611 –
SaskCentral - other investments 4,933 – – 4,933
Chartered bank guaranteed 11,619 – 11,619 –
Federal and provincial government 3,995 – 3,995 –
Other securities 1,031 – 1,031 –
Accrued interest 804 – 804 –

Total investment securities - available-for-sale 225,691 – 220,758 4,933
460,949 95,199 360,817 4,933

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments (1) 5,706 – 5,706 –

5,706 – 5,706 –
(1) Derivatives are the only liabilities measured at fair value on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

 
 
The following table reconciles the Credit Union’s Level 3 fair value measurements from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010: 
 
Fair value measurements using Level 3 inputs
Balance at January 1, 2010 –
Transfer in (out) of level 3 4,933
Balance at December 31, 2010 4,933
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28. CLASSIFICATION AND SIGNIFICANCE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The following table illustrates the classification and significance of financial instruments, in accordance with the methods and   
policies previously described in Note 2. 
 

2011

Held-
for-

trading

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss
Available-

for-sale
Held-to-
maturity

Loans and 
receivables

Other  
liabilities

Non 
financial 

instrument(1) Total

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents – 114,766 – – – – – 114,766

Prepayments and other receivables – – – – 9,964 – 710 10,674

Derivative financial instruments 3,449 – – – – – – 3,449

Investment securities

Concentra Financial – 822 – 15,125 – – – 15,947

SaskCentral - shares – – 29,082 – – – – 29,082

SaskCentral - statutory liquidity   
 deposits – 91,279 204,409 40,900 – – – 336,588

SaskCentral - other investments – – 4,555 – – – – 4,555

Chartered bank guaranteed – 1,007 44,090 – – – – 45,097

Federal and provincial government – 4,222 28,455 – – – – 32,677

Other securities – 7,881 5,062 – 733 – 803 14,479

Accrued interest – 47 1,279 534 – – – 1,860

Loans and advances – – – – 3,142,702 – 16,789 3,159,491

Property, plant and equipment – – – – – – 39,974 39,974

Intangible assets – – – – – – 4,178 4,178

Deferred tax assets – – – – – – 4,093 4,093

3,449 220,024 316,932 56,559 3,153,399 – 66,547 3,816,910

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 6,967 – – – – – – 6,967

Secured debt – – – – – 268,116 – 268,116

Deposits – – – – – 3,227,745 – 3,227,745

Current tax liabilities – – – – – – 2,143 2,143

Deferred tax liabilities – – – – – – 32 32

Membership shares and member equity  
 accounts – – – – – 23,366 – 23,366

Other liabilities – – – – – 24,470 429 24,899

Liabilities from discontinued operations – – – – – 21 – 21

6,967 – – – – 3,543,718 2,604 3,553,289
(1) Assets, liabilities, and equity that are excluded from the definition of financial instruments as defined in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
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28. CLASSIFICATION AND SIGNIFICANCE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS    
(continued) 
 

2010

Held-
for-

trading

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss
Available-

for-sale
Held-to-
maturity

Loans and 
receivables

Other  
liabilities

Non 
financial 

instrument(1) Total

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents – 110,132 – – – – – 110,132

Prepayments and other receivables – – – – 12,732 – 822 13,554

Current tax assets – – – – – – 2,861 2,861

Derivative financial instruments 4,484 – – – – – – 4,484

Investment securities

Concentra Financial – 1,144 – 24,936 – – – 26,080

SaskCentral - shares – – 28,698 – – – – 28,698

SaskCentral - statutory liquidity   
 deposits – 103,387 174,611 24,438 – – – 302,436

SaskCentral - other investments – – 4,933 – – – – 4,933

Chartered bank guaranteed – 2,023 11,619 – – – – 13,642

Federal and provincial government – 5,694 3,995 – – – – 9,689

Other securities – 8,128 1,031 – 712 – 469 10,340

Accrued interest – 266 804 215 – – – 1,285

Loans and advances – – – – 2,996,666 – (14,779) 2,981,887

Property, plant and equipment – – – – – – 40,431 40,431

Intangible assets – – – – – – 15,942 15,942

Deferred tax assets – – – – – – 411 411

4,484 230,774 225,691 49,589 3,010,110 – 46,157 3,566,805

Financial liabilities

Loans payable – – – – – 1,007 – 1,007

Derivative financial instruments 5,706 – – – – – – 5,706

Secured debt – – – – – 246,114 – 246,114

Deposits – – – – – 3,011,327 – 3,011,327

Current tax liabilities – – – – – – 2,036 2,036

Deferred tax liabilities – – – – – – 226 226

Membership shares and member equity  
 accounts – – – – – 23,070 – 23,070

Other liabilities – – – – – 37,116 942 38,058

5,706 – – – – 3,318,634 3,204 3,327,544
(1) Assets, liabilities, and equity that are excluded from the definition of financial instruments as defined in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
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29. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   

 The Credit Union is primarily exposed to the following risks as a result of holding financial instruments: credit risk; market risk; 
and liquidity risk. The following is a description of those risks and how they are managed.    

 
 Credit risk 

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from a borrower or counterparty failing to meet its obligations.  Credit risk 
primarily arises from the Credit Union’s direct lending activities and the possibility that members will be unable or unwilling 
to repay some or all of the principal amount they have borrowed, and/or the interest accrued. The Credit Union’s estimate of its 
exposure to credit risk with respect to loans and advances (loans) is reported in Note 7 and Note 8.   For investment securities and 
derivative instruments, the credit risk the Credit Union is exposed to is the risk of default by the counterparty, as reported in Note 
5 and Note 6.

 
 Credit risk management processes and controls for loans
  The credit granting process is controlled by board approved policies, as well as detailed loan policy manuals for each credit 

portfolio type: commercial, agricultural and consumer. These detailed loan policy manuals are developed, maintained and 
approved by the credit management centre. Each credit application is assessed in accordance with these policies. The assessment 
of commercial and agricultural credit includes the assignment of a credit score in accordance with internal credit rating criteria. 
The Credit Union’s credit risk processes and controls relating to lending activities are managed through a centralized department 
– credit management centre. The function of the credit management centre includes development of lending policies, monitoring 
of organizational credit risk, and oversight approval of lending where the amount exceeds the authorization levels for retail 
management, or where the underwriting is outside of the operational lending policies. Lending decision-making authority is 
determined in compliance with the delegation of authority set out in the credit risk management policies. The credit management 
centre also provides approval and underwriting support to lenders for loans that are considered to be complex, unusual, higher 
risk, or problematic. 

 The detailed lending policies set out criteria to determine annual review requirements for all loan types to ensure adequate 
monitoring of the Credit Union’s credit exposure. Accounts that are deemed to be higher than average risk are subject to more 
frequent monitoring. These accounts are brought to the attention of the credit management centre to provide direction on specific 
monitoring requirements. 

 Credit risk limits for loans
 The Credit Union has implemented certain credit limits through board policy. These limits are in place to manage the overall 

credit risk of the loan portfolio and establish parameters for credit diversification. The Credit Union has established limits for 
each loan portfolio type (agriculture, consumer mortgage, consumer non-mortgage, and commercial loans), limits by industry, as 
well as maximum borrowing limits for individual borrowers. The Credit Union has a maximum exposure limit to an individual 
borrower, or connected borrowers, of $35 million.

 The Credit Union also controls credit risk using various risk mitigation techniques. The most common method used to mitigate 
credit risk is to obtain quality security from counterparties in guarantee of the Credit Union’s commitments. A second common 
risk mitigation method is to syndicate loans as a means of transferring to a third party a portion of the credit risk.  
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29.  NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   
 (continued) 

 
The following table illustrates the Credit Union’s loan portfolio mix as a percentage of assets at year-end:  

 
Loan portfolio mix  

  

2011 2010

Total Percentage Total Percentage

Consumer loans
Mortgage guaranteed 606,324 15.89% 561,813 15.75%
Mortgage conventional 485,291 12.71% 446,159 12.51%
Non mortgage 595,813 15.61% 575,014 16.12%

Total consumer loans 1,687,428 44.21% 1,582,986 44.38%
Commercial loans

Mortgage 819,092 21.46% 802,843 22.51%
Non mortgage 309,865 8.12% 285,428 8.00%
Government guaranteed 17,967 0.47% 16,831 0.47%

Total commercial loans 1,146,924 30.05% 1,105,102 30.98%
Agricultural loans

Mortgage 134,120 3.51% 138,583 3.89%
Non mortgage 112,117 2.94% 112,906 3.17%
Government guaranteed 48,962 1.28% 41,241 1.16%

Total agricultural loans 295,199 7.73% 292,730 8.22%
Gross loans and advances 3,129,551 81.99% 2,980,818 83.58%
Amortized loan origination fees 1,764 0.05% 1,475 0.04%
Foreclosed property held for resale 22,405 0.59% 763 0.02%
Accrued interest receivable 11,914 0.31% 17,384 0.49%
Individual allowance for credit losses (5,277) -0.14% (17,277) -0.48%
Collective allowance for credit losses (866) -0.02% (1,276) -0.04%
Total loans and advances 3,159,491 82.78% 2,981,887 83.61%

 Guarantees for loans 
In some cases, the Credit Union obtains third party guarantees and insurance to reduce the risk of loan default. In total, 20% 
(2010 - 17%) of the Credit Union’s loan portfolio is guaranteed by a federal government program or agency. The largest of these 
guarantees is in the residential mortgage portfolio, which is guaranteed by either Genworth Financial Canada at 11% (2010 - 9%) 
or CMHC (Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation), a government owned corporation, at 7% (2010 - 6%). Other noteworthy 
guarantors include the Government of Canada’s CSBFP (Canada Small Business Financing Program) for small business loans at 
1% (2010 - 1%) and the Government of Canada’s CALA (Canadian Agricultural Loans Act) program for farm improvement loans 
at 1% (2010 - 1%) of total loans.  

 Security for loans
 The Credit Union has a credit risk management process that involves policies for the valuation of security on loans. Security 

limits are set based on the type of loan and industry with a related policy that dictates how  security is valued.  Updates for these 
valuations are performed periodically to ensure they remain reasonable. 
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29.  NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   
 (continued) 

 Credit risk management for investment securities and derivative instruments
Investment securities and derivative management is performed in accordance with board approved policies.  Investment 
policies set out eligible investment securities, and limits with respect to issuer groups, single entity exposures, and maximum 
terms. Eligible derivatives, including limits and counterparties are defined in policy. Authority limits to purchase and dispose 
of investment securities and derivatives are established in policy. Credit risk within the investment securities and derivative 
portfolios is monitored and measured by reviewing exposure to individual counterparties to ensure total investment securities 
and derivatives are within policy limits by issuer weightings and by dollar amount. This also mitigates concentration risk in the 
portfolio. The quality of the counterparties is assessed through published credit ratings. 

  Market risk  

 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market risk is comprised of  two types of risk: interest rate risk and currency risk. The primary market risk exposure of 
the Credit Union is interest rate risk, specifically, from timing differences in the re-pricing of assets and liabilities, both on and 
off-balance sheet. Interest rate movements can cause changes in interest income and interest expense and, although these changes 
move in the same direction, their relative magnitude will have a favourable or unfavourable impact on annual net interest income 
and the economic value (present value of estimated cash flows) of members’ equity. The extent of that impact depends on several 
factors, including asset and liability matching and interest rate curves. Regular simulation modelling is performed to assess the 
impact of various risk scenarios on net interest income and the economic value of members’ equity and to guide the management 
of interest rate risk. 
 
Processes and controls 
Interest rate risk is managed in accordance with specific operating and board policies. The policies set risk limits based on the 
impact of a change in interest rates on the following: annual net interest income and economic value of members’ equity.

  
The impact of movements in interest rates on the financial position and earnings of the Credit Union is measured through a 
number of sophisticated tests, namely: income simulation, static gap analysis, stochastic analysis (earnings at risk), value at risk 
(economic value of equity), and duration analysis. Using rate sensitivity analysis with probable rate scenarios, interest rate risk 
is managed to comply with the Credit Union’s policy requirement. For 2011, the Credit Union’s interest rate risk was within 
acceptable levels, as measured by board approved parameters.  

 
Interest rate risk is reported to the asset liability management committee (ALCO). One of the committee’s primary responsibilities 
is to provide oversight and direction for the management of interest rate risk. ALCO establishes and approves targets and 
strategies related to interest rate risk management and liquidity management. The ALCO is comprised of all executive 
management and other selected senior management from the areas of finance, risk management, lending and retail operations. 
The ALCO frequently reviews historical and forward looking performance and risk measurements as part of a standardized 
reporting package. These reports include simulation results on interest margin with stress testing and scenario analysis.

  
 Stress testing and scenario analysis
 Stress testing and scenario analysis is performed and measured in relation to policy limits as part of the monthly interest rate risk 

simulation process. These tests include the effects of most likely and stressed movements in interest rates on the financial position 
of the Credit Union and its current and projected net earnings. Interest rate risk stress testing includes illustrating the impact 
of the most likely scenario (based on the Credit Union’s rate forecast), a flat rate scenario, declining rate scenario (3% decline in 
prime rate over one year), rising rate scenario (3% increase in prime rate over one year), a shock down of 100 basis points, and a 
shock up of 100 basis points (100 basis points is equal to 1 percent).  
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29.  NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   
(continued)  
 
The following table illustrates the potential impact of an immediate and sustained 100 basis point change in interest rates on net 
income and other comprehensive income, and economic value of equity. These measures are based upon assumptions made by 
management.    

 

2011 2010

100-basis-point increase in interest rate:
Impact on net income 9,868 7,134
Impact on other comprehensive income (4,076) (1,698)

100-basis-point decrease in interest rate:
Impact on net income (9,929) (7,047)
Impact on other comprehensive income 4,203 1,745

 
 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. The Credit Union is exposed to currency risk because of members’ U.S. dollar deposits.  The Credit Union 
mitigates currency risk by investing in offsetting foreign denominated financial instruments of similar terms.  Currency risk is 
managed in accordance with prescribed regulatory requirements and internal board policy, including limits with respect to the 
maximum holdings of unhedged foreign currency.  

 
The Credit Union measures currency risk based on the percentage of foreign denominated financial assets against similar foreign 
denominated financial liabilities on a daily basis. As at December 31, 2011, the percentage of foreign denominated financial assets 
is 104% (2010 - 103%) of foreign denominated financial liabilities.    
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk arises from having insufficient funds to meet financial obligations without having to raise funds at unfavourable 
rates or selling assets on a forced basis. Liquidity risk stems from mismatched cash flows between assets and liabilities as well as 
certain product characteristics, including commitments to extend credit and redemption features on deposits. One of the Credit 
Union’s primary objectives as a financial institution is to prudently manage liquidity to ensure that the Credit Union is able to 
generate or obtain sufficient cash or cash equivalents in a timely manner, at a reasonable price, to meet commitments as they 
become due, even under stressed conditions. Liquidity management ensures variations in cash flows are managed on a daily and 
seasonal basis.   

 Liquidity risk is managed through a three tiered structure: local credit union level; the Saskatchewan provincial credit union 
system tier; and the national Canadian credit union system tier.   At the local level, the Credit Union’s liquidity risk is managed 
according to an established framework which includes: established strategies and policies for managing liquidity risk; 
maintaining a portfolio of liquid assets; measuring and monitoring funding requirements; managing market access to funds; 
contingency plans; and internal controls over management practices and processes. At the provincial level, SaskCentral manages 
a provincial statutory liquidity pool on behalf of Saskatchewan credit unions. At the national level, Central 1 Credit Union 
maintains required levels of marketable investment securities to support national system liquidity needs. As a participant in 
the national liquidity program, SaskCentral maintains bi-lateral credit union lines with the other participating centrals for the 
purpose of accessing funding in a liquidity event. 
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29.  NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   
 (continued) 

 Liquidity management framework
The Credit Union’s liquidity management framework and liquidity targets and strategies are reviewed and documented in a 
liquidity management plan. The plan also identifies the long-term liquidity requirements of the Credit Union and describes the 
strategies to meet any funding needs. The plan is periodically reviewed by management and approved by the board of directors.  
Liquidity risk is managed in accordance to specific operating and board policies. Board policies set out the level of acceptable 
liquidity risk and the Credit Union’s processes and controls for managing liquidity. As required by policy, the Credit Union has 
established limits and requirements with respect to: level of liquid assets; quality of liquid assets; concentration limits, cash flow 
mismatch limits and procedural control requirements with respect to measuring and monitoring liquidity risk.  

  
Fundamental to the Credit Union’s liquidity management framework is the assessment of the adequacy of liquidity under both 
normal operating conditions and under stress conditions. Stress conditions may include a liquidity event or crisis. The Credit 
Union maintains appropriate contingency plans to handle such an event.  

 
Deposit liabilities are the Credit Union’s primary funding source. Accordingly, diversification of deposits by product type, 
counterparty and term structure is an important element of the liquidity management framework. The Credit Union maintains 
access to borrowings facilities as detailed in Note 12 to augment and diversify liquidity requirements. The Credit Union also uses 
securitization, loan sales and syndications to manage funding requirements.  

 
The primary measure for the adequacy of liquidity at the Credit Union is the operating liquidity ratio.  This ratio is calculated as 
available liquidity and cash inflows divided by cash outflows. Available liquidity is defined as investment securities which are 
immediately available as cash, investment securities marketable in an active secondary market, redeemable investment securities 
held with Concentra Financial and committed credit facilities. The Credit Union seeks to maintain this ratio at greater than or 
equal to 150%. 

 The following table summarizes the Credit Union’s liquid assets at December 31:   
 

2011 2010

Cash and overnight deposits 114,766 110,132
Other marketable investment securities 83,294 27,194
Other liquid investment securities held with Concentra – 304
Statutory liquidity investment securities at SaskCentral 336,588 302,436
Total liquid assets 534,648 440,066
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29. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   
(continued) 
The following table summarizes the Credit Union’s cash flows payable under financial liabilities by remaining contractual 
maturities at December 31:

 
2011

Less than 
1 year

1 year to 
under 2 

years

2 year to 
under 3 

years

3 year to 
under 4 

years

4 year to 
under 5 

years
5 years 

and over Total

Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 1,421 329 1,230 2,061 327 1,599 6,967
Secured debt 3,372 33,709 101,360 51,924 48,887 28,864 268,116
Deposits 2,451,388 312,258 258,560 120,542 84,997 – 3,227,745
Current tax liabilities 2,143 – – – – – 2,143
Deferred tax liabilities 32 – – – – – 32
Membership shares and member  
 equity accounts 23,366 – – – – – 23,366
Other liabilities 24,899 – – – – – 24,899
Liabilities from discontinued   
 operations 21 – – – – – 21

2,506,642 346,296 361,150 174,527 134,211 30,463 3,553,289
  

2010

Less than 
1 year

1 year to 
under 2 

years

2 year to 
under 3 

years

3 year to 
under 4 

years

4 year to 
under 5 

years
5 years 

and over Total

Liabilities
Loans payable 1,007 – – – – – 1,007
Derivative financial instruments 360 1,496 570 2,503 752 25 5,706
Secured debt 1,956 10,957 27,965 110,801 66,634 27,801 246,114
Deposits 2,047,971 480,243 302,110 65,729 111,128 4,146 3,011,327
Current tax liabilities 2,036 – – – – – 2,036
Deferred tax liabilities 226 – – – – – 226
Membership shares and member  
 equity accounts 23,070 – – – – – 23,070
Other liabilities 38,058 – – – – – 38,058

2,114,684 492,696 330,645 179,033 178,514 31,972 3,327,544
 
Processes and controls 
Various internal controls have been implemented into the liquidity management process.  Specifically, the liquidity position of the 
Credit Union is regularly reported to executive management, ALCO and the board.  Included in the ALCO mandate is to review, 
monitor, and set management risk limits with respect to liquidity.  A review is conducted by the enterprise risk management 
department on the compliance to established liquidity policies and procedures and the interdependence of liquidity risk to other 
organizational risks such as strategic risk and credit risk. A periodic review is also conducted by internal audit on the liquidity 
management processes and systems of the Credit Union.

 Stress testing and scenario analysis   
Stress testing and scenario analysis is performed to assess the adequacy of liquidity. Contingency plans address liquidity 
management under scenario events or stressed conditions. Stress and scenario conditions include larger than predicted deposit 
withdrawals and borrowing levels, as well as market disruptions resulting in limited to no access to capital markets.  
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30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND LEASING ARRANGEMENTS   

 Credit instruments
 To meet the financial needs of members, the Credit Union enters into various contingent liabilities consisting of undrawn lines of 

credit, commitments to extend credit and letters of credit.
 

Even though these obligations are not recognized on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, they do contain credit and 
liquidity risk and are therefore part of the overall risk of the Credit Union.

 
The following amounts represent the maximum amount of additional credit that the Credit Union could be obligated to extend:  

 

2011 2010

Undrawn lines of credit 261,436 243,700
Commitments to extend credit 501,693 402,406
Letters of credit 22,967 22,866

786,096 668,972
 
 
Contingent liabilities

 In the ordinary course of business, the Credit Union has legal proceedings brought against it and provisions are recorded when 
appropriate. It is the opinion of management that final determination of these claims will not have a material adverse impact on 
the Credit Union.    

 The Credit Union is in ongoing correspondence with Canada Revenue Agency regarding the treatment of the preferred rate 
amount for credit unions on the formation of the Credit Union in 2006. The likelihood of changes, if any, in the income tax 
expense as a result of this ongoing correspondence currently cannot be determined.

 
Investment commitments 

 Pursuant to the Bylaws of SaskCentral, the Credit Union is required to maintain membership shares in SaskCentral in an amount 
equal to no less than 1% of the Credit Union’s assets unless SaskCentral’s capital requirements are met.  Currently the Credit 
Union has 0.76% (2010 - 0.80%) of assets in membership shares in SaskCentral.

 
Other commitments 

 The Credit Union is committed to an investment of $8,148 at December 31, 2011 (2010 - $8,148) in the Apex Investment Fund. The 
commitment will be funded in part through redemption of units in Prairie Ventures Limited Partnership. Cash calls at December 
31, 2011 total $4,334 (2010 - $2,901) and have been included in investment securities – fair value through profit or loss on the  
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

 The Credit Union has a commitment to Saskworks Venture Fund Inc. in the form of a promissory note at December 31, 2011 of 
$9,722 (2010 - $7,642).  
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30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND LEASING ARRANGEMENTS    
(continued)

 The Credit Union has various other commitments which include community investments, information technology maintenance 
contracts and construction contracts.  Total other commitments are as follows: 
 

2012 4,193
2013 1,703
2014 893
2015 418
2016 278
Thereafter 383
Total other commitments 7,868

 
 
Included in the table above, property, plant and equipment commitments total $1,102 and intangible asset commitments total 
$1,265.  

 Operating leases
 The Credit Union has entered into commercial leases on premises expiring on various dates to the year 2027. The lease 

agreements are treated as operating leases with rents charged to operations in the year to which they are related. The aggregate 
lease commitments are as follows:  
 

2012 3,212
2013 2,914
2014 2,548
2015 2,524
2016 2,150
Thereafter 12,181
Total operating leases 25,529

31. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY 
 
The Credit Union has an economic dependency on the following suppliers of services:

 
Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan (SaskCentral)

 This entity supplies central banking services to the Credit Union. The Credit Union’s required regulatory liquidity deposits are 
held with this entity. 

 
CUPS Payment Services 

 This entity provides clearing and settlement services to the Credit Union.
 

Everlink Payment Services Inc. 
 This entity operates the electronic switching network used to link automated banking machine (ABM) and point of sale (POS) 

transactions for the Credit Union. 
 

CGI/CDSL Canada Ltd. 
 The Credit Union has engaged this entity to manage, operate and maintain the core banking system application. 
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32. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  
 
The Credit Union entered into four sale agreements to sell the assets of CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd. (CENTURY 21) which 
provided a full range of real estate brokerage services to buyers and sellers. The sale of CENTURY 21 is consistent with the Credit 
Union’s focus on core business in order to better meet our members’ expanding financial needs. These sales were completed on 
June 30, 2011 and July 29, 2011 on which dates control passed to the acquirers.

 
The following table details the results of the discontinued operations included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. The comparative figures from discontinued operations have been 
restated to include the real estate operations classified as discontinued in the current period. 
 

Statement of Financial Position 2011 2010 January 1, 2010

Assets
Prepayments and other receivables – 2,123 2,525
Property, plant and equipment – 184 167
Intangible assets – 162 179

Assets from discontinued operations – 2,469 2,871

Liabilities
Other liabilities 21 4,336 4,336

Liabilities from discontinued operations 21 4,336 4,336
 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2011 2010

Non-interest income 13,970 26,281

Non-interest expense
General business 12,254 22,541
Occupancy 302 558
Organizational 210 442
Personnel 1,307 1,988

14,073 25,529
Profit from discontinued operations before income tax and gain (103) 752
Income tax expense (recovery) (103) 155
Profit from discontinued operations before gain – 597

Gain on sale of real estate business 475 –
Income tax expense 136 –

339 –

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 339 597
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33.  EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING   
 STANDARDS 

 
For all periods up to and including the year ended December 31, 2010, the Credit Union prepared its financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (CGAAP). These financial statements, for the year ended 
December 31, 2011, are the first the Credit Union has prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). 

 
Accordingly, the Credit Union has prepared financial statements that comply with IFRS applicable for periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2011 as described in the accounting policies. The Credit Union’s opening Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position was prepared as at January 1, 2010, the date of transition to IFRS.  This note explains the principal adjustments made by 
the Credit Union in restating its CGAAP financial statements to IFRS for the year ended December 31, 2010. 
 
Exemptions applied

  
IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the 
general requirement to apply IFRS as effective for December 31, 2011, year-ends retrospectively.  

 
The Credit Union has applied the following exemptions: 

  • IFRS 3 Business Combinations has not been applied to acquisitions of subsidiaries, mergers with other credit unions, or   
  acquisitions of interests in associates and joint ventures that occurred before the date of transition, January 1, 2010.

  • The Credit Union has applied the transitional provision in IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a lease and   
  has assessed all arrangements as at the date of transition, January 1, 2010.

  • IAS 23 Borrowing Costs has not been applied for retrospective application for costs incurred before the date of transition,   
  January 1, 2010.

  • The Credit Union has elected to maintain the current property, plant and equipment cost values reflected in the    
  Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

  • The mandatory exception regarding derecognition of financial assets and liabilities was applied.  This exception requires   
  any derecognition as a result of transition to IFRS to occur for transactions after January 1, 2004. Therefore the Credit   
  Union brought all securitization transactions back on-balance sheet. 
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33.  EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING   
 STANDARDS (continued)

  
 Reconciliation of Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at January 1,  
 2010 (date of transition to IFRS)

 
Notes CGAAP Reclassifications Remeasurements IFRS

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents A 67,324 – 2,835 70,159

Prepayments and other receivables B 12,791 390 – 13,181

Current tax assets 2,505 – – 2,505

Derivative financial instruments 4,815 – – 4,815

Investment securities - fair value through profit or loss 325,860 – – 325,860

Investment securities - available-for-sale B,C 118,430 (390) (25,320) 92,720

Investment securities - held-to-maturity 52,584 – – 52,584

Investment securities - loans and receivables 777 – – 777

Investment securities - equity method 367 – – 367

Loans and advances D 2,500,761 – 231,905 2,732,666

Property, plant and equipment 37,006 – – 37,006

Intangible assets 10,326 – – 10,326

Deferred tax assets E 662 – 680 1,342

Total assets 3,134,208 – 210,100 3,344,308

Liabilities

Loans payable – – – –

Derivative financial instruments F 4,129 – 1,938 6,067

Secured debt G – – 214,526 214,526

Deposits 2,852,749 – – 2,852,749

Current tax liabilities H 134 (173) – (39)

Deferred tax liabilities 178 – – 178

Membership shares and member equity accounts 21,547 – – 21,547

Other liabilities I 35,405 173 (1,707) 33,871

Total liabilities 2,914,142 – 214,757 3,128,899

Members’ equity

Retained earnings J 219,155 – (3,716) 215,439

Accumulated other comprehensive income K 911 – (941) (30)

Total members’ equity 220,066 – (4,657) 215,409

Total liabilities and members’ equity 3,134,208 – 210,100 3,344,308
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33.  EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING   
 STANDARDS (continued) 

  Reconciliation of Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at  
December 31, 2010  
 

Notes CGAAP Reclassifications Remeasurements IFRS

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents A 92,365 14,932 2,835 110,132

Prepayments and other receivables 13,554 – – 13,554

Current tax assets 2,861 – – 2,861

Derivative financial instruments 4,484 – – 4,484

Investment securities - fair value through profit or loss 120,642 – – 120,642

Investment securities - available-for-sale A,C 266,259 (14,932) (25,636) 225,691

Investment securities - held-to-maturity 49,589 – – 49,589

Investment securities - loans and receivables 712 – – 712

Investment securities - equity method 469 – – 469

Loans and advances D 2,718,358 – 263,529 2,981,887

Property, plant and equipment 40,431 – – 40,431

Intangible assets 15,942 – – 15,942

Deferred tax assets E – (135) 546 411

Total assets 3,325,666 (135) 241,274 3,566,805

Liabilities

Loans payable 1,007 – – 1,007

Derivative financial instruments F 4,649 – 1,057 5,706

Secured debt G – – 246,114 246,114

Deposits 3,011,327 – – 3,011,327

Current tax liabilities H 2,225 – (189) 2,036

Deferred tax liabilities E 361 (135) – 226

Membership shares and member equity accounts 23,070 – – 23,070

Other liabilities I 39,760 – (1,702) 38,058

Total liabilities 3,082,399 (135) 245,280 3,327,544

Members’ equity

Retained earnings J 241,622 – (2,975) 238,647

Accumulated other comprehensive income K 1,645 – (1,031) 614

Total members’ equity 243,267 – (4,006) 239,261

Total liabilities and members’ equity 3,325,666 (135) 241,274 3,566,805
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33.  EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING   
 STANDARDS (continued) 

  Reconciliation of Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the   
 year ended December 31, 2010

 
Notes CGAAP Reclassifications Remeasurements IFRS

Interest income L 140,739 (4,234) 17,820 154,325

Interest expense M 50,712 – 5,646 56,358

Net interest income 90,027 (4,234) 12,174 97,967

Loan impairment charges N,L 4,339 – 3,169 7,508

Net interest income after impairment charges 85,688 (4,234) 9,005 90,459

Non-interest income L,O 40,215 4,917 (8,959) 36,173

125,903 683 46 126,632

Non-interest expense

General business P 29,213 – (147) 29,066

Occupancy 7,588 – – 7,588

Organizational 1,957 – – 1,957

Personnel 58,253 – – 58,253

Member security 2,818 – – 2,818

99,829 – (147) 99,682

Profit from continuing operations before income tax 26,074 683 193 26,950

Income tax expense Q 4,204 – 135 4,339

Profit for the year from continuing operations 21,870 683 58 22,611

Profit for the year from discontinued operations, net of tax 597 – – 597

Profit for the year 22,467 683 58 23,208

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit  
 or loss:

Net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale  
 financial assets R 735 172 (262) 645

Net reclassification adjustments for realized net  
 gains (losses) (1) – – (1)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 734 172 (262) 644

Total comprehensive income for the year 23,201 855 (204) 23,852
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33. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING   
STANDARDS (continued) 
 
Notes to the reconciliations

 
A.  Cash and cash equivalents

 The auto loan securitization program  counterparty is Pivot Trust.  Within Pivot Trust, the Credit Union’s assets represent the 
majority of the assets on their statement of financial position. This results in the Credit Union consolidating Pivot Trust because it 
was determined that in substance, the Credit Union controls Pivot Trust. Cash reserves in the amount of $2,835 on the Pivot Trust 
statement of financial position have been consolidated with the Credit Union.

 
Under IFRS the definition of cash and cash equivalents now includes any investments with a maturity date that is less than 
three months from the acquisition date.  There is one investment in the amount of $14,932 that falls under this definition. The 
investment is classified as available-for-sale (AFS), this amount was reclassified from AFS investment securities to cash and cash 
equivalents under IFRS.

 
B.  Prepayments and other receivables 
On transition to IFRS, credit enhancements related to securitization balances were reclassified from available-for-sale (AFS) to 
loans and receivables (LR). Specifically, $390 of cash reserves from the Smart Trust residential mortgage securitization program 
has been reclassified.

 C.  Investment securities – available-for-sale
 Under IFRS the Credit Union’s securitization transactions do not meet derecognition criteria as they did under CGAAP, resulting 

in a reversal of securitization retained interests and credit enhancements. On January 1, 2010 transition, retained interests 
(including related fair value adjustments) in the amount of $11,040 were reversed. Cash reserves in the amount of $2,545 were 
reversed which includes $2,835 from the auto loan securitization program consolidation. Overcollateral balances in the amount of 
$11,735 were reversed which includes $11,700 from the auto loan securitization program on consolidation of Pivot Trust.

 
Cumulatively as at December 31, 2010 retained interests in the amount of $11,228 were reversed. Cash reserves in the amount 
of $2,595 (which included $2,835 from the auto loan securitization program consolidation) and overcollateral balances in the 
amount of $11,813 (which included $11,700 from the auto loan securitization program consolidation) were also reversed.

 
D.  Loans and advances

 Under IFRS the Credit Union’s securitization transactions do not meet derecognition criteria as they did under CGAAP. As a 
result, on transition to IFRS all securitized loans were brought back on-balance sheet.  On January 1, 2010, $226,470 of loans were 
brought back on-balance sheet as well as $134 of accrued interest on these loans.  Cumulatively as at December 31, 2010 $258,085 
of loans were brought back on-balance sheet as well as $160 of accrued interest.

 
Under CGAAP there are certain securitization balances related to cash back fees, broker fees, and dealer finance reserves. These 
balances required reversal on transition of $2,030 and cumulatively on December 31, 2010 of $1,922, causing an increase to loans 
and advances of these amounts. 
 
Specific and general loan allowances for bad debt were previously recognized under CGAAP. Under IFRS there was a change in 
the terminology to individual and collective loan allowances. Under IFRS impairment losses can only be recognized when there 
is objective evidence of an incurred loss evidenced by a loss trigger event. CGAAP was also an incurred loss model but IFRS 
prohibits unallocated general allowances and contains more prescriptive guidance on the calculation of any allowances. 

 
Interest on doubtful loans must continue to be accrued under IFRS. This interest was tracked and a corresponding increase to the 
individual loan allowance was recorded. The remainder of the current specific allowance process under CGAAP will remain the 
same under IFRS.

 
For the collective allowance, IFRS differs from CGAAP as unallocated general allowances are no longer permitted. The Credit 
Union has grouped loans into six similar categories to allocate a collective allowance to each group. The loss trigger event used 
is delinquency greater than 90 days. In accordance with the impairment calculation methodology as set out in IAS 39, the Credit 
Union’s new collective provisioning level has caused an increase to loans and advances of $3,271 as at January 1, 2010 and of 
$3,362 cumulatively as at December 31, 2010.
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33. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING   
STANDARDS (continued) 
 
E.  Deferred tax assets

 The transition to IFRS created an additional deferred corporate income tax benefit due to timing differences of $680. This amount 
is based on the current estimated corporate tax rate of 15.5%. 

 
Cumulatively as at December 31, 2010 the additional deferred tax benefits under IFRS amounted to $546.  The opening balance of 
$135 has been reclassified from a liability to an asset.  

 
F.  Derivative financial instruments

 Pivot Trust (the counterparty for the auto loan securitization program) has engaged in an interest rate swap that is in a liability 
position. The auto loan securitization program consolidation has resulted in a derivative liability being recorded of $1,938. This 
liability is designated as held-for-trading (HFT) in accordance with IFRS 7. Therefore, changes in fair value are recorded in non-
interest income when they occur.  

 
At December 31, 2010 the fair value was $1,057 which was the recorded value of this derivative on the auto loan securitization 
program consolidation. 

 
G.  Secured debt

 Because the Credit Union’s securitization transactions do not meet derecognition criteria under IFRS, bringing the securitized 
loans back on-balance sheet resulted in a corresponding secured debt payable.  The Credit Union participates in the Canada 
Mortgage Bond (CMB) program through Concentra Financial Services Association which facilitates the securitization of 
residential mortgages. Secured debt related to the CMB residential mortgage securitization program amounted to $80,339 on 
transition to IFRS. Also related to the CMB residential mortgage securitization program are upfront costs. These costs paid at the 
sale of a pool of loans into the program were expensed under CGAAP but are amortized using the effective interest rate method 
as transaction costs under IFRS. The total upfront costs reversed on transition amounted to $242. The secured debt amount which 
related to the Smart Trust residential mortgage securitization program is $4,429. On December 31, 2010 the secured debt related 
to the CMB residential mortgage securitization program was $116,114.  
 
For the auto loan securitization program, $130,000 was recorded as part of the consolidation with Pivot Trust on transition. This 
balance remained the same at December 31, 2010. 

 
H.  Current tax liabilities

 Under CGAAP, the securitization retained interests were classified as AFS and fair value adjustments recorded under other 
comprehensive income (OCI).  Under IFRS, the Credit Union’s securitizations do not qualify for derecognition and as such, there 
are no retained interests or related OCI amounts. OCI amounts were recorded net of tax under CGAAP therefore the tax effect of 
this change also required reclassification. The tax–related amount reclassified under IFRS on transition decreased the balance by 
$179.

 
Foreign exchange entries on AFS investments in OCI are recorded differently under IFRS than CGAAP.  Under CGAAP, foreign 
exchange gains and losses attributed to changes in the foreign exchange rate from the initial investment are also recognized in 
OCI, whereas under IFRS, these foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in income. The related income tax implications 
must also be taken into account.  This resulted in an IFRS reclassification that increased the tax liability by $6.   

 
Cumulatively on December 31, 2010 the retained interests decrease totaled $226 while the foreign exchange OCI increase totaled 
$37.

 
I.  Other liabilities

 Under IFRS securitization does not meet off-balance sheet criteria therefore all securitization related service liabilities must be 
reversed on transition to IFRS. The amount reversed related to the CMB residential mortgage securitization program is $600, 
auto loan  securitization program is $882 and Smart Trust residential mortgage securitization program is $6. Cumulatively on 
December 31, 2010 the amounts reversed were $788 for the CMB residential mortgage securitization program and $835 for auto 
loan securitization program.

 
For the CMB residential mortgage securitization program there was a difference of $46 on January 1, 2010 between the principle 
amounts collected on the securitized loans and the principle amounts required by the program to be remitted that resulted in a 
decrease to other liabilities. Cumulatively on December 31, 2010 the decrease amounted to $79. 



Consolidated Financial Statements  •  Annual Report  •  2011      109

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of CDN $)
For the year ended December 31, 2011

33. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING   
STANDARDS (continued) 
 
J.  Retained earnings

 The transition from CGAAP to IFRS had the following impact on retained earnings:  
January 1, 2010 December 31, 2010

Impact of reclassification of securitization related items from AFS to LR 482 482
Impact of changeover to new collective loan allowance methodology 3,271 3,271
Impact of securitization amortized cost adjustment reversals 2,030 2,030
Impact of accrued interest on securitized loans 134 134
Impact of reversal of securitization retained interest balances (10,631) (10,631)
Impact of reversal of auto securitization over collateral balances 420 420
Impact of reversal of auto securitization cash reserve balances 95 95
Impact of future corporate income tax timing differences 682 682
Impact of loss on derivative interest rate swap on consolidation of Pivot Trust (1,938) (1,938)
Impact of amortization of CMB upfront costs on secured debt 242 242
Impact of securitization service liability balances 1,534 1,534
Impact of foreign exchange adjustments to OCI on AFS US investments (37) (37)
Impact of difference in net income between IFRS and GAAP on operating surplus – 741
Total impact on retained earnings (3,716) (2,975)

 
Earnings for the year 2010 were also impacted by IFRS.  The total of all differences in income and expenses between IFRS and 
CGAAP increased retained earnings by the same amount of $741.  Details of all income and expense differences can be found in  
L to Q below. 
K.  Accumulated other comprehensive other income (AOCI)

 The transition from CGAAP to IFRS had the following impact on AOCI: 
January 1, 2010 December 31, 2010

Impact of reclassification of securitization credit enhancements from AFS to LR (228) (228)
Impact of retained interest fair value adjustments to OCI (923) (923)
Tax affect of above retained interest adjustment 179 179
Impact of foreign exchange adjustments to OCI on AFS US investments 37 37
Tax affect of above foreign exchange adjustment (6) (6)
Impact of difference in OCI between IFRS and GAAP – (90)
Total impact on accumulated other comprehensive income (941) (1,031)

 
The total of all differences in OCI between IFRS and CGAAP decreased AOCI by the same amount of $90.  Details of all OCI 
differences can be found in R below.
 
L.  Interest income

 Under IFRS all dividend income and any share of equity-accounted investment income is required to be classified as non-interest 
income instead of interest income under CGAAP. For the year ended December 31, 2010, there was $4,650 of dividend income 
reclassified and $468 of income from the Credit Union’s share of its equity-accounted investments which caused a decrease to 
interest income and a corresponding increase to non-interest income.

 
Under IFRS securitized loans remain on-balance sheet. Interest on securitized loans of $14,667 was therefore recorded as an 
increase to interest income. This change in the treatment of securitization transactions resulted in a reversal and corresponding 
decrease in securitization balances related to cash back, broker fees, and dealer finance fees of $106. The change also resulted in  a 
reclassification of interest on securitization credit enhancements which resulted in an increase to interest income of $884.       
Interest on doubtful loans continues to be accrued under IFRS.  The adjustment to record this interest for 2010 was $3,259 as an 
increase to interest income. This amount also resulted in a corresponding increase in loan impairment charges as this accrued 
interest remained impaired with the principle balances of the impaired loans.
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33. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING   
STANDARDS (continued) 
 
M.  Interest expense

 When securitized loans were transferred back on-balance sheet this resulted in a secured debt balance detailed in G above. The 
interest expense relating to secured debt amounted to $5,646.

 
N.  Loan impairment charges

 Under IFRS unallocated general loss provisions are not allowed. The Credit Union developed a new collective allowance 
calculation as detailed in D above.  This change from the general allowance under CGAAP to the collective allowance under IFRS 
resulted in a decrease of $90 to loan impairment charges.

 
O.  Non-interest income

 Under IFRS a portion of the foreign exchange gain or loss on investment securities were reclassified from OCI to non-interest 
income resulting in a decrease of $203.

 
Because securitization transactions do not achieve off-balance sheet treatment under IFRS, mortgage prepayment bonuses of $2 
on securitized loans require reclassification from securitized loan revenue to loan fees which increased non-interest income. 

 
Gains relating to securitized loans of $7,443 must be reversed under IFRS as a decrease to non-interest income. The service 
liability of $133 was also reversed increasing non-interest income.  

 
Credit enhancements are classified as loans and receivables under IFRS but were AFS under CGAAP. This resulted in a decrease 
to non-interest income related to fair value adjustments of $444.  

 
The Smart Trust residential mortgage securitization program was collapsed in 2010 and a gain on this transaction was recorded 
under CGAAP. This gain of $3 must be reversed under IFRS as an increase to non-interest income. 
 
The auto loan securitization program consolidation resulted in a derivative liability being recorded as noted in F above. This 
liability was recorded at fair value increasing non-interest income by $881. 

 
Swap costs relating to the auto securitized loans of $2,089 decreased non-interest income as a result of these  loans being 
transferred back on-balance sheet.

 
P.   General business

 The CMB residential mortgage securitization program has upfront costs that are paid whenever a new pool of loans is sold into 
the program. Under CGAAP these costs were expensed. Under IFRS these costs are considered transaction costs of the secured 
debt which resulted in a reversal or decrease of these expenses of $147.

 
Q.  Income tax expense

 The transition to IFRS created an additional deferred corporate income tax benefit due to timing differences detailed in E above. 
The expense related to this change in deferred tax benefits resulted in an increase of $135. This amount is based on the current 
estimated corporate tax rate of 15.5%. 

  
R.  Net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale financial assets

 Under IFRS a portion of the foreign exchange gain or loss on investment securities were reclassified from OCI to total 
comprehensive income in the amount of $203 as in O above which resulted in an increase to the unrealized gain. Under OCI all 
adjustments are required to be net of tax therefore a tax adjustment of $31 was also required which decreased the gain.

 
Because securitization does not meet off-balance sheet treatment under IFRS, any fair value adjustments to OCI on the related 
retained interests made under CGAAP were not required under IFRS. The total of these reversals net of tax was $262.

34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

In February 2012, the Credit Union has decided to discontinue the construction and development of a banking system. The 
associated impairment loss was recorded in 2011 and is detailed in Note 10 and 11. 
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35. FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES 
 
For the current reporting period, the Credit Union has not applied the following standards and interpretations that have been 
issued or amended by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), but are not yet effective. The Credit Union requires 
approval from the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation for early adoption of these standards. The Credit Union intends 
to adopt these standards when they become effective.

 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments amended on October 28, 2010 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 reflects the first phase of the IASB’s comprehensive project to replace its financial 
instruments standard, IAS 39. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address impairment and hedge accounting.

 
IFRS 9 requires all recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value. Specifically, the available-for-sale and held-to-maturity 
classifications are eliminated under IFRS 9. A debt instrument must be measured at amortized cost if both the ‘business model 
test’ and the ‘contractual cash flow characteristics test’ are satisfied. Also, equity investments held must be measured at fair 
value. Gains and losses on equity investments are recognized in profit or loss unless the entity permanently designates at initial 
recognition that they should be recognized in other comprehensive income.

 
IFRS 9 requires the amount of change in the fair value of a financial liability, designated as at fair value through profit or loss that 
is attributable to changes in the liability’s credit risk to be recognized in other comprehensive income. 

 
The effective date of IFRS 9 is currently unknown with early adoption permitted. The Credit Union anticipates that the 
application of IFRS 9 will have an impact on amounts reported in the financial assets.  

 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements issued on May 12, 2011 is a replacement of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 uses control as the single basis for consolidation, regardless 
of the nature of the investee, eliminating the risks and rewards approach included in SIC-12. The three elements of control are 
power over the investee, exposure or rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee and the ability to use power 
over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

 
The effective date of IFRS 10 is for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The 
Credit Union will need to reassess all consolidations in the application of IFRS 10.

 
IFRS 11 Joint Ventures

 IFRS 11 Joint Ventures issued on May 12, 2011 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – 
Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 establishes two types of joint arrangements: joint operations and joint ventures. 
The two types of joint arrangements are distinguished by the rights and obligations of those parties to the joint arrangement.   
 
The effective date of IFRS 11 is for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. IFRS 11 
will have no impact on the Credit Union as there presently are no joint arrangements. 
 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

 IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities issued on May 12, 2011 requires extensive disclosures relating to an entity’s 
interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. An entity is required to disclose 
information that helps users of financial statements evaluate the nature of and risk associated with its interests in other entities 
and the effects of those interests on its financial statements.   
 
The effective date of IFRS 12 is for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The 
Credit Union anticipates that the application of IFRS 12 may require addition disclosures of its interests in subsidiaries.  
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35. FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES (continued) 
 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement issued on May 12, 2011 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value measurement under 
IFRS.  IFRS 13 defines fair value, provides guidance on its determination and introduces consistent requirements for disclosures 
on fair value measurements.  
 
The effective date of IFRS 13 is for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted, and 
applies prospectively from the beginning of the annual period in which the standard is adopted. The Credit Union anticipates 
that the application of IFRS 13 may require addition disclosures about fair value measurements.  

 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

 IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures amended on May 12, 2011 prescribes the accounting for investments in 
associates and sets out the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates 
and joint ventures.  
 
The effective date of IAS 28 is for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Credit 
Union anticipates that the application of IAS 28 will not have an impact on the Credit Union as the Credit Union is not currently 
involved in any joint ventures. 

 
Currently it is not practical to provide a reasonable estimate of the effects of the above changes until a detailed review has been 
completed. 

 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements amended on June 16, 2011 requires entities to group items presented in Other 
Comprehensive Income (OCI) based on whether they will be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.  
 
The effective date of IAS 1 is for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012, with early adoption permitted. The 
amendments to IAS 1 will have no impact to the Credit Union as there are currently no items in OCI that would not be 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.



Branch Locations

Conexus Credit Union

Conexus Insurance 

CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd.
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